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Audit Committee 
 
Minute of Meeting of the Audit Committee held on Thursday 6 September at 
9.30am in the Barbour Suite. 
 
Present:  Graham Hope (Chair) 
   Sue Cook  
   Simon Ashpool 
   Colin Miller 
   Norman Ross 
    
In attendance: Jackie Galbraith (Principal & Chief Executive) 

Jennifer McLaren (Vice Principal, Finance & Curriculum 
Services) 
George Hotchkiss (Vice Principal, Curriculum & Planning) 
David Eardley (Scott-Moncrieff, Internal Auditors) 
Ruth Holland (Mazars, External Auditors) 

   Emily Purdie (Health & Safety Officer) 18.35 only 
Karine McNair (Board Secretary) 

 
 
18.31 Welcome/Apologies 
 

The Chair welcomed Jackie Galbraith to her first committee meeting in the 
capacity of Principal and Ruth Holland representing Mazars. 
 
 

18.32 Declarations of Interest 
 

There were no declarations of interest. 
 

 
18.33 Minute of Meeting of 7 June 2018 

 
The Minute of the meeting of the Audit Committee of 7 June 2018 was 
approved as a correct record. 
 

 
18.34 Matters Arising from Minute of Meeting of 7 June 2018 
 

Regarding Action 4, the Committee suggested that it would be interesting to 
circulate the schools information which had been presented to the Learner 
Attainment Sub Group to the members of the Audit Committee. 
 
Action 1: Board Secretary 
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All other actions were duly completed and noted. 
 

 
18.35 Health & Safety Quarterly Report 
 

The Health & Safety Officer presented paper 3 highlighting that there had 
been a decrease in reported accidents at the College since 2017. The next 
review of all Health & Safety procedures will take place in 3 years’ time unless 
there are any major changes which need to be updated in the meantime. 
 
The Health & Safety Officer confirmed that further to the action raised at the 
last Committee meeting, she had obtained a report regarding the completion 
of training courses to ensure that all mandatory training had been completed 
by staff that needed it. The reports had been checked by Vice Principal, 
Finance & Curriculum Services, Facilities Manager and the Health & Safety 
Officer who concluded that the majority of staff were looking to enhance or 
refresh their skill set. All Centre Heads had been given a deadline for them to 
ensure that everyone who had requested training completed the courses. 
 
The College plans to use the Learning & Development Package of West 
Lothian Council’s new HR system.  However until such time as it is in place , 
and the Health & Safety Officer will work with the Learning & Development 
Officer to record the information. The Learning & Development Officer will also 
capture Health & Safety training needs for 2018-19 as part of undertaking a 
general Training Needs Analysis with Centres and Departments. 
 
The Committee commented that while the report statistics were for April – 
June 2018, the contextual information in the report could reflect a more up to 
date position for the Committee. Vice Principal, Finance & Curriculum 
Services agreed that this would be done for the next meeting. 
 
Action 2: Vice Principal, Finance & Curriculum Services / Health & Safety 
Officer 
 
Regarding individual incidents, the Health & Safety Officer confirmed that 
remedial action had been taken regarding a low hanging sign to make it more 
visible. There was a reporting delay which made it appear that a door had 
been repaired 4 days after the accident when actually action had been taken 
on the day of the accident. The incidents arising at a student sport event had 
mainly been due to individual responsibility and the Health & Safety Officer 
confirmed that a full Health & Safety assessment had been carried out before 
the event and all correct procedures had been followed on the day. 
 
It was pointed out that there were some outstanding actions on Appendix 2 
and the Health & Safety Officer confirmed that these were being monitored 
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but had been delayed due to the return of students. Progress was being made 
towards completion. 
 
The Committee were pleased to hear that in general the College is adopting a 
more Health & Safety aware culture and thanked the Health & Safety Officer 
for an excellent report. 
 
The Committee noted the report. 

 
 
18.36 Internal Audit – Student Enrolment and Induction 
 

The Internal Auditors presented paper 4 noting it was the final part in their 
review of the student recruitment process at the College. In general, there 
were examples of good practice and the College demonstrated a desire to 
improve the experience for students. 
 
The key findings were that there was encouraging engagement across the 
whole College in the recruitment process and that the ‘keep warm’ 
communications campaign was a very positive initiative. Vice Principal, 
Curriculum & Planning confirmed that most timetables and induction plans 
had been published on the website over the summer in response to student 
feedback as part of their preparation for starting College. When final figures 
are available, if the acceptances to actual enrolments statistics showed 
improvement it is likely that some of this improvement would be down to the 
‘keep warm’ campaign. 
 
The Internal Auditors noted that there needed to be more evidence in future of 
recommendations being actioned. They commented that the actions were 
inherent in most of the improvements implemented by the College but factual 
evidence would be helpful to be able to judge the success of the 
recommendations. 
 
The Committee commended all staff for the positive outcome and noted the 
report. 

  
 

18.37 Strategic Internal Audit Plan 2018-19 to 2020-21 
 
The Internal Auditors presented paper 5 mentioning that the plan was 
reviewed annually to ensure that it was up to date and relevant for the 
College. The Internal Auditors aimed for consistency with staff as far as 
possible and highlighted Appendix 1 in particular for discussion. 
 
The Committee queried why 16 days were allocated to ‘Credits and Students 
Funds’, which amounted to a third of the total days allocated to Internal Audit. 
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The Internal Auditors confirmed that within that heading there were a number 
of student funds (bursary, childcare, discretionary) which required to be 
audited as well as the FES return.  Satisfying the audit requirements laid down 
by SFC was a time consuming process. 
 
It was noted that the Commercial Strategy was not being audited in 2018-19 
because it had been scrutinised within the last 12 months. The Committee 
also queried why Cyber Security was not included in the 2018-19 audit plan. 
Vice Principal, Finance & Curriculum Services confirmed that cyber security 
had been subject to a Cyber Essentials Gap Analysis and there was a need to 
implement the actions arising from the analysis before checking the 
effectiveness of the changes. 
 
The Committee noted the plan. 
 

 
18.38 External Audit Progress Report – Management Letter 2017-18 

 
The External Auditors presented paper 6 which stated that the majority of 
audit planning had been completed without any additional risks being 
identified. Therefore the audit plan presented at the last Committee meeting 
remained relevant with no changes. The Audit will start early October and a 
report will be delivered at the next meeting along with the Statutory Accounts. 
 
Subsequent to writing paper 6, the Technical Guidance Note has been issued 
and there are no major changes. 
 
Vice Principal, Finance & Curriculum Services confirmed that the works 
identified as ‘urgent’ in the College Estate Condition Survey have now been 
undertaken. The future works have been identified as replacement windows 
and a new boiler system, both of which are being looked into by the College. 
 
The Committee were concerned about the overall financial impact of National 
Bargaining and Job Evaluation on the College sector. 
 
The Committee noted the report. 

 
 

18.39 College Audit Rolling Action Plan 
 
Vice Principal, Finance & Curriculum Services, presented paper 7 noting that 
one item regarding the Commercial Strategy had not yet been completed 
against target. It was accepted that Vice Principal, Curriculum & Enterprise 
had been focussing on concluding an important contract for the College and 
that the new Principal required some time to input into the new strategy but it 
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was expected that the Commercial Strategy would be finalised for the next 
meeting.  
 
The Committee noted that point number 7 had the same text copied into 
‘background’ and ‘recommendations’. Vice Principal, Curriculum & Planning 
confirmed that the recommendation was for the Admissions Committee to 
review the whole interview process and Vice Principal, Curriculum & 
Enterprise was overseeing the Committee’s progress. 
 
The move to electronic enrolment was discussed by the Committee and it was 
noted that it has been implemented inconsistently across the sector. There 
has been a national discussion of centralising online admissions but no 
definitive initiative has yet been communicated to the sector. 
 
The Committee agreed to note the report. 
 
 

18.40 Financial Regulations and Scheme of Delegation 
 

Vice Principal, Finance & Curriculum Services presented paper 8 stating that 
there had been no significant changes to the Financial Regulations. Input had 
been obtained from the College’s GDPR Officer in relation to updating the 
GDPR responsibilities in relation to security. 
 
The Committee agreed to recommend the paper to the Board. 
 
Action 3: Board Secretary 
 

 
18.41 2018-19 Strategic Risk Register 
 

Vice Principal, Finance & Curriculum Services presented paper 9 on a revised 
risk register for 2018-19 as discussed by the Senior Team. The Principal 
sought the views of the Committee regarding the format of the Strategic Risk 
Register. 
 
The Committee remarked that the ‘Lead Committee’ and ‘Risk Owner’ 
provided transparency of responsibility for the risk and were generally 
supportive of the new format of the report. However, the Committee were 
unsure how the Audit Committee would obtain reassurance from the ‘Lead 
Committee’ to satisfy their need for reassurance that the risk was being 
monitored effectively.  The Principal stated that the Audit Committee would 
still have strategic oversight of the risk register. 
 
The Principal stated that the intention of the new design is to make the Risk 
Register more visible to the managers and staff of the College so they feel 
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more accountable to the delivery against their risks. The Internal Auditors 
suggested adding a column to note planned or future information. . 
 
It was decided that the Strategic Risk Register would be brought to the next 
Committee meeting after taking into account the Committee’s views at this 
meeting and further discussion with the Audit Committee Chair, Internal 
Auditors, Principal and Vice Principal, Finance & Curriculum Services. 
 
Action 4: Principal  

 
The Committee noted the paper. 

 
 

18.42 Key Financial and Non-Financial Performance Indicators 2017-18 

Vice Principal, Finance & Curriculum Services, presented paper 9 noting that 
the College had invested £180k rather than the budgeted £78k mainly due to 
the success of the Commercial Team.  

Vice Principal, Curriculum & Planning confirmed that the Non-Financial KPIs 
for 2017-18 were still being finalised but updated figures showed a small 
improvement to most of the figures. Once some internal data cleansing had 
taken place and the SFC and SQA had confirmed final certification, final 
figures would be available. 

Vice Principal, Finance & Curriculum confirmed that the College’s submission 
of final data to the SFC had a deadline of 5 October 2018 and it was agreed to 
circulate the final KPIs to all Board Members on that date.  

Action 5: Vice Principal, Curriculum & Planning 

 
18.43  Any Other Business  

There were no items of other business.  

18.44 Review of Meeting, Supporting Papers and Training Needs  

The Audit Committee was content with the meeting and supporting papers 
presented.  
 
The Committee were still keen to visit a Partnership Centre however since the 
November Committee meeting had an extensive agenda, a visit should be 
considered for 2019. 
 
Action 6: Vice Principal, Curriculum & Planning 
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18.30 Date of Next Meeting 

The next meeting would take place on Thursday 29 November at 9.30am. 

 
Note: There were no matters discussed during the meeting, during which Members 
declared any conflict of interest, or the Secretary to the Board was aware from the 
Register of Interests that discussion could give rise to such a conflict. 
 
 
Signed …………………………………………………. 
  Chair, Audit Committee 
 
Date  ………………………………………………… 
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Audit Committee  
 
Action update from the Audit Committee of 6 September 2018 
 
 
Action 1: Board Secretary 
Matters Arising from Minute of Meeting of 7 June 2018 
The Committee suggested that it would be interesting to circulate the schools 
information which had been presented to the Learner Attainment Sub Group 
to the members of the Audit Committee. 
 
Duly completed- email sent to Audit Committee members 6 September 2018 
 
 
Action 2: Vice Principal, Finance & Curriculum Services / Health & 
Safety Officer 
Health & Safety Quarterly Report 
The Committee commented that while the report statistics were for April – 
June 2018, the contextual information in the report could reflect a more up to 
date position for the Committee. Vice Principal, Finance & Curriculum 
Services agreed that this would be done for the next meeting. 
 
Duly Completed 
 
 
Action 3: Board Secretary 
Financial Regulations and Scheme of Delegation 
The Committee agreed to recommend the paper to the Board. 
 
Duly completed – Board meeting 18 September 2018 
 
 
Action 4: Principal  
2018-19 Strategic Risk Register 
It was decided that the Strategic Risk Register would be brought to the next 
Committee meeting after taking into account the Committee’s views at this 
meeting and further discussion with the Audit Committee Chair, Internal 
Auditors, Principal and Vice Principal, Finance & Curriculum Services. 
 
Agenda item – Meeting with internal auditor still to take place 
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Action 5: Vice Principal, Curriculum & Planning 
Key Financial and Non-Financial Performance Indicators 2017-18 
Vice Principal, Finance & Curriculum confirmed that the College’s submission 
of final data to the SFC had a deadline of 5 October 2018 and it was agreed 
to circulate the final KPIs to all Board Members on that date.  
 
Being provided to board members at committee meetings 
 
 
Action 6: Vice Principal, Curriculum & Planning 
Review of Meeting, Supporting Papers and Training Needs 
The Committee were still keen to visit a Partnership Centre however since the 
November Committee meeting had an extensive agenda, a visit should be 
considered for 2019. 
 
A request has been made for a venue yet to be confirmed. 
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Audit Committee 
 
Annual Report & Financial Statements 2017-18 
 
Introduction 
 
The annual financial statements for financial year 2017-18 are attached to this 
paper.  These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
the Statement of Recommended Practice (SORP) and with Financial 
Reporting Standards FRS102.  They also comply with the 2017-18 
Government Financial Reporting Manual (FReM) issued by the Scottish 
Government.   
 
Financial Results for the year ended 31 July 2018 
 
The College generated a deficit before other gains and losses in the year of 
£939,000 (2017 - deficit of £277,000), with total comprehensive income 
surplus of £1,712,000 (2017 – surplus of £2,868,000).  The total 
comprehensive income in 2017 included an unrealised surplus on revaluation 
of assets of £2,221,000.  The total comprehensive income in 2018 recorded 
an actuarial gain in respect of pension funds of £2,651,000 (2017 – gain of 
£924,000).  After transfer of £299,000 from the revaluation reserve, the 
cumulative deficit on the Income and Expenditure account decreased by 
£2,011,000 from £11,273,000 deficit to £9,262,000 deficit. 
  
The cumulative deficit at the year-end comprised £153,000 for holiday pay 
accrual, £2,527,000 for voluntary agreed PFI termination loan, £3,688,000 for 
early retirement provisions, £2,783,000 for defined benefit pension obligations 
and £111,000 for trading activities (see Note 16). 
 
The College is reporting net total liabilities of £3,121,000 in its balance sheet 
which is due to the reclassification of deferred Government Grant as deferred 
income within creditors and allocated between creditors due within one year 
and due after more than one year as appropriate. 
 
Key Changes 2017-18 
 
On 13 July 2018, the Scottish Funding Council issued its accounts direction 
for Scotland’s colleges for the 2017-18 year, along with supporting guidance. 
There have been no significant changes in the accounting requirements for 
2017-18, however there are a number of additional disclosure changes. 
 
The key changes are: 
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•  additional guidance for the disclosure of the adjusted operating position 
(taking the SORP position and removing non-cash adjustments) to ensure 
consistency across the sector; 

 
• inclusion of details of the adjusted operating position in the Performance 

Report, so as to provide a better indication of the college’s operational cash 
generative capacity; 

 
•  inclusion of non-financial information including social matters, respect for 

human rights, anti-corruption and anti-bribery matters; 
 
•  additional disclosures in the Remuneration and Staff Report, including 

diversity issues and equal opportunity in employment; 
 
•  inclusion of time and cost information in respect of relevant Trade Union 

officials in accordance with the Trade Union (Facility Time Publication 
Requirements) Regulations 2017; and  

 
•  the Governance Statement must now include a statement of compliance 

with the 2016 Code of Good Governance for Scottish Colleges, or provide 
an explanation for any non-compliance. The Governance Statement must 
also include details of any significant lapses of data security (or confirm that 
there were none). 

 
Action 
 
The Committee is asked to recommend approval of the annual financial 
statements for the year ended 31 July 2018 to the Board of Governors for the 
meeting scheduled for 11 December 2018. 
 
 
 
 
Jennifer McLaren 
Vice Principal, Finance & Curriculum Support 
29 November 2018 
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The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue on 11 December 2018 
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PERFORMANCE REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2018 
 
Purpose and Activities 
 
1 Purpose 
 
The Performance analysis provides a detailed performance summary and analysis of how West 
Lothian College measures its performance. 
 
2 Performance and Overview 

 
West Lothian College is a regional college based in Livingston serving individuals, communities 
and the regional economy. West Lothian has the youngest and fastest growing population in 
Scotland, and its population of approximately 180,000 is projected to increase by 11,000 by 
2035.  
 
The college provides a wide range of further and higher education courses to meet government 
priorities on Developing the Young Workforce (DYW), address the skills needs of employers to 
support inclusive economic growth, and widen access to education for all people in West 
Lothian’s communities.  
 
The college’s performance in achieving the activity targets agreed with the Scottish Funding 
Council (SFC) has been strong, exceeding credit targets for eight consecutive years. This has 
been matched with equally positive financial outcomes, supported by a strong commercial and 
work based qualifications portfolio. 
 
3 Legal Status  

 
West Lothian College is a free standing corporate body under the provisions of the Further and 
Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992 as amended by the Further & Higher Education (Scotland) 
Act 2005 and subsequently the Post-16 Education (Scotland) Act 2013. The college is governed 
by a Board of Governors and receives the majority of its funding directly from the Scottish 
Funding Council (SFC). The college is listed on the Scottish Charity Register and is entitled, in 
accordance with section 13(1) of the Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005, to 
refer to itself as a charity registered in Scotland. 
 
4 Vision   

 
The college’s vision is to develop a highly skilled and enterprising workforce of the future. This 
vision is underpinned by values of being welcoming to all, learner centred, and committed to 
excellence. 
 
5 Learner profile  
 
A total of 8,099 students attended college in 2017-18, 28% on full time courses and 72% on part 
time courses. 
 
Just over half (51%) of full time students were aged 16-19 and 17% were 20-24. This was 
markedly different for part time students, 68% of whom were over the age of 25 reflecting the 
large volume of Scottish Vocational Qualifications (SVQs) delivered to employees in their place 
of work. Seventy per cent of full time Further Education (FE) and Higher Education (HE) 
students were under the age of 25, while 57% of FE part time and 85% of HE part time students 
were over the age of 25.    
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Overall, 62% of students were female, largely reflecting the high volume of SVQs in health, 
social and childcare. There was a better balance of female/male students studying full time 
qualifications, with 53% of full time HE students being female and 47% male. However, FE full 
time courses were more imbalanced, with 58% female students and 42% male. 
 
6 Curriculum planning  
 
Curriculum planning for the region is informed by local and national priorities, by local partners 
and by the labour market information provided in publications such as the Regional Skills 
Assessment for West Lothian. 
 
The college’s partnership approach ensures that the ambitions set out in our Outcome 
Agreement align with the West Lothian Community Planning Partnership’s Local Outcome 
Improvement Plan. The college is also a partner in the Edinburgh and South East Scotland City 
Region Deal, and seeks to maximise skills and employment opportunities for our students and 
the people of West Lothian. 
 
Collaborative working with schools, employers and other partners enables the college to develop 
a curriculum portfolio that is relevant to industry and provides our students with the best possible 
opportunities in a competitive jobs market. In addition, the college’s well-established international 
partnerships offer students and staff exciting opportunities to enhance their learning through 
educational exchanges. 
 
The college offers a wide range of courses at FE and HE level, delivered in a variety of ways, in 
areas relevant to economic and social inclusion. Subjects and industry sectors covered include 
early years and childcare, engineering, construction, health and social care, business and 
financial services, computing, creative industries, hospitality and tourism, hair and beauty, and 
sport and fitness. 
 
7 College/School Partnership  
 
The college works in close collaboration with West Lothian Council and in partnership with all 
secondary schools in the region. In 2017-18, the college’s schools portfolio consisted of 30 
courses which attracted over 470 senior phase school pupils to vocational courses, Highers, and 
Foundation Apprenticeships. 
 
The college is a member of West Lothian’s Developing Young Workforce Steering Board which 
has a remit is to plan, co-ordinate and monitor partners working together to ensure a joined-up 
approach to providing vocational training opportunities for young people in West Lothian.    
 
8 Economic context  

 
According to the 2018 Regional Skills Assessment for West Lothian, there will be 33,500 job 
openings from 2018-28. Of these, most will meet replacement demand to fill jobs by people 
retiring from or leaving the workforce, however 3,600 job openings will be as a result of 
expansion demand.  
 
Employment growth is predicted each year over the next ten years in West Lothian. The 
employment structure over the next ten years is predicted to be for 44% higher level 
occupations, 22% for mid-level occupations and 34% for lower level occupations. The level of 
skills required of employees match this employment structure, with a growing number of job 
openings requiring people with qualifications at Scottish Credit and Qualifications Framework 
(SCQF) level 7 and above. This is a challenge for the region which, compared to the Scotland 
average, has considerably fewer people of working age with qualifications at this level. 
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Although West Lothian has a lower proportion of youth and all-age unemployment than Scotland, 
approximately 9,000 people (5% of the population) live in some of the most deprived areas in 
Scotland and experience multiple deprivation. 
 
9 Stakeholder Relationships  
 
The college invests significantly in working with stakeholders to maximise opportunities for our 
students, and is involved at both a strategic and operational level in the Developing Young 
Workforce Regional Employer Group, the West Lothian Chamber of Commerce and West 
Lothian’s Community Planning Partnership.  
 
10 Principal Risks and Uncertainties  

 
During 2017-2018, the college was successful in the management of all high level, financial, 
reputational and operational risks. The college has continued to utilise shared services provided 
by West Lothian Council and managed the associated risks and uncertainties. 
 
Although the terms and conditions of lecturing staff and the pay award for support staff were 
agreed in 2017-18, the financial risk of the impact of National Bargaining remained high with the 
potential for industrial action in 2018-19. Looking ahead, there is a significant financial risk to the 
college from 2020 if the total costs of national pay bargaining harmonisation and job evaluation 
are not funded fully by the SFC.  
 
During 2017-18, the college experienced a malware attack which resulted in limited access to IT 
and systems for staff and students over a six-week period.  
 
The strategic risk register is led by the Senior Team with regular monitoring and reporting to the 
Board of Governors through the Audit Committee. 
 
11 Going Concern  
 
The Board of Governors has considered the college’s forecasts and financial projections and 
considers that the college has adequate resources to meet its ongoing liabilities and continue in 
operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason, it continues to adopt the going 
concern basis in preparing the financial statements.  
 
Although the college has net liabilities, this is due to the change of treatment of deferred 
Government Grant (capital) which is now recognised as deferred income within creditors and 
allocated between creditors due within one year and due after more than one year as 
appropriate.   
 
12 Performance Summary  
 
Improving retention and attainment, particularly on FE full time courses, was a priority for the 
college in 2017-18. The college-wide focus on improving FE full time attainment over the year 
led to an increase of 3.2%. 
 
West Lothian College 2015-16 

(SFC 
 figures) 

2016-17 
(SFC  

figures) 

2017-18 
(College 
figures) 

Change 
on year 

Change 
over 3 
years 

FE full time  64.1% 61.9% 65.1% +3.2% +1.0% 
HE full time  66.3% 72.5% 70.1% -2.4% +3.8% 
FE part time  70.6% 77.7% 77.5% -0.2% +6.9% 
HE part time  65.5% 74.6% 80.6% +6.0% +15.1% 
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There was improvement over three years in all four indicators – FE full time, HE full time, FE part 
time and HE part time.  While there has been good improvement in HE full time over three years 
(up by 3.8%) there was a decline over the year of -2.4%. Success for part time FE and HE 
students increased over the year, despite significant increases in the volume of students - from 
2,657 to 2,900 FE part time enrolments, and from 781 to 1,212 HE part time enrolments. FE part 
time success improved by 6.9% over three years and HE part time success increased by 15.1% 
over three years.  
 
13 Performance Analysis  

 
Of all students, 41% were aged 16-24 and had an overall success rate of 70%, an increase of 
3% on the previous year. Successful outcomes for full time FE students aged 16-19 rose from 
54% to 72% over the year. In 2017-18, the college had a focus on improving the success of 
young male students and successful outcomes for FE full time 16-19 year old male students 
increased by 9% over the year.  
 
There were 62 declared care experienced students enrolled in 2017-18. Successful outcomes 
for this group of students were 80% for FE full time and 66% for HE full time (just 3 students 
were enrolled on HE full time courses). Given that the SFC National Ambition targets for care 
experienced students by 2018-19 are 66% success for FE full time and 71% success for HE full 
time, the college is making good progress on successful outcomes for this group of students.  
 
The college delivered 8.1% of credits to students living in SIMD10 areas, exceeding our target of 
6%. Successful outcomes for these students were considerably higher than the college average 
for FE full time, FE part time and HE part time. Most SIMD10 students were enrolled on FT full 
time courses and 80% achieved success, significantly higher than the college average of 65.1%. 
Success on HE full time courses, which had the smallest number of enrolments from SIMD10 
students, was 66%.  
 
Flexible modes of study supported the vibrant West Lothian English for Speakers of Other 
Languages (ESOL) community and 330 students enrolled on ESOL courses in 2017-18 with a 
success rate of 74%.  
 
14 Resources 

 
While the College is in receipt of recurrent grant funding from the SFC, it also generates income 
through Skills Development Scotland (SDS) educational contracts, by delivering a wide range of 
commercial courses in professional qualifications in management and specialist subjects, as well 
as providing a large portfolio of SVQs which are delivered in the workplace and the out of core 
time letting of College facilities and accommodation. The college was successful in 2018 in being 
awarded for a second three-year period a contract to provide training for all Panel members 
working within the Children’s Hearings system. This is delivered by a dedicated team of staff 
located throughout Scotland. 
 
During this year the college worked very effectively with SDS and in partnership with West 
Lothian Council to extend the range of foundation apprentices available to young people, 
recruiting to five Foundation Apprenticeship frameworks and achieving high levels of both 
retention and successful completion.  
 
Facilitated by the college’s commercial activities, we were able to invest in new learning facilities, 
including a Health Care Teaching Suite, a Digital Production Studio and a Collaborative learning 
space. 
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15 Key Performance Indicators  

 
The college’s management and control ensure financial stability is sound. There are clear 
management structures and reporting arrangements in place, with operating plans, performance 
indicators and risk management processes in place to support delivery of Regional Outcomes.   
 
To monitor progress against the Outcome Agreement the College works with a range of key 
performance indicators, which are reviewed by the Senior Team and the Board of Governors on 
a regular basis.  
 
The tables below detail performance in Academic Years 2015-16, 2016-17 and 2017-18 

 
Credits 

 
 SFC Target Actual % Target 
2015-16 43,499 44,669 103% 
2016-17 43,499 44,085 101% 
2017-18 43,988 45,326 103% 

 
Full-time FE  

 
 Withdrawal Partial 

Success 
Completed 
successfully 

2015-16 26.4% 9.4% 64.1% 
2016-17 26.4% 11.7% 61.9% 
2017-18 25.0% 9.9% 65.1% 

 
Full-time HE 

 
 Withdrawal Partial 

Success 
Completed 
successfully 

2015-16 16.6% 17.1% 66.3% 
2016-17 16.2% 11.3% 72.5% 
2017-18 17.3% 12.6% 70.1% 

 
Part time FE 

 

 Withdrawal Partial Success Completed 
successfully 

2015-16 5.8% 23.6% 70.6% 
2016-17 8.9% 13.4% 77.7% 
2017-18 7.4% 15.1% 77.5% 

 
Part time HE 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

  Withdrawal Partial Success Completed 
successfully 

2015-16 6.6% 27.8% 65.5% 
2016-17 9.3% 16.1% 74.6% 
2017-18 11.2% 8.2% 80.6% 



 West Lothian College  
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 

_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Accounts 2018 Page 10  DRAFT 7 

The table below details financial performance in Financial Periods 2015-16, 2016-17 and 2017-
18 
 

 

Actual 
2015-16 

 

Actual 
2016-17 

 

Actual 
2017-18 

 
Deficit for the year as a % of total 
income  
 

(3.8%) (1.7%)* (5.3%)** 

Deficit for the year  as a % of total 
expenditure 
 

(3.6%) (1.6%)* (5.3%) 

Staff costs as % of total income 
(excludes exceptional costs) 
 

67% 65%* 67% 

Ratio of Current Assets to Current 
Liabilities 
 

(0.5) (0.7) (0.7) 

Days Cash to Total Expenditure 14 35* 15 
Debtor Days 33 30 30 

 
*Excludes £1.9m deferred capital grant release as a result of an impairment loss 
following interim revaluation of assets 
 
**See Statement of Comprehensive Income (page 34) 
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16 Financial Strategy  

 
As a result of the college sector’s reclassification as a Central Government Department, the 
college’s Financial Strategy is to: 
 
• Generate sufficient cash surplus to meet the SFC loan repayment obligations. 
 
• Gift aid any cash surpluses over and above that required to repay the SFC loan to The 

Scottish Colleges Foundation.    
 
• Utilise the contribution from commercial and project activities for re-investment in the 

College infrastructure. 
 
• Secure efficiencies across support and curriculum areas through continued delivery of 

shared services and joint provision with West Lothian Council. 
 
• Ensure sufficient working capital to meet liabilities. 

 
During 2017-18 the College: 
 
• Generated sufficient cash surplus to meet the SFC loan repayment obligations. 
 
• Utilised the contribution from commercial activities for re-investment in the College 

infrastructure. 
 
• Secured efficiencies through continued delivery of shared services with West Lothian 

Council. 
 
• Ensured sufficient working capital to meet liabilities. 
 
17 Nature, Objectives and Strategies  

 
The Board present its report and the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 July 
2018.  The Board of Governors has approved these accounts on the basis the College is a going 
concern.  The audited financial statements have been prepared under the historic cost 
convention in line with the principles and guidance set out in the Statement of Recommended 
Practice, Accounting for Further and Higher Education (FE/HE, SORP) and with the Government 
Financial Reporting Manual (FReM). 
 
18 Scope of the Financial Statements 
 
The Financial Statements cover all activities of the College. 
 
19 Financial Position  

 
Financial Results for the year ended 31 July 2018 
 
The College generated a deficit before other gains and losses in the year of £939,000 (2017 - 
deficit of £277,000), with total comprehensive income surplus of £1,712,000 (2017 – surplus of 
£2,868,000).  The total comprehensive income in 2017 included an unrealised surplus on 
revaluation of assets of £2,221,000.  The total comprehensive income in 2018 recorded an 
actuarial gain in respect of pension funds of £2,651,000 (2017 – gain of £924,000).  After 
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transfer of £299,000 from the revaluation reserve, the cumulative deficit on the Income and 
Expenditure account decreased by £2,011,000 from £11,273,000 deficit to £9,262,000 deficit. 
  
The cumulative deficit at the year-end comprised £153,000 for holiday pay accrual, £2,527,000 
for voluntary agreed Private Finance Initiative (PFI) termination loan, £3,688,000 for early 
retirement provisions, £2,783,000 for defined benefit pension obligations and £111,000 for 
trading activities (see Note 16). 
 
The College is reporting net total liabilities of £3,121,000 in its balance sheet which is due to the 
reclassification of deferred Government Grant as deferred income within creditors and allocated 
between creditors due within one year and due after more than one year as appropriate. 
 
Cash Budget for Priorities 
 
Following their reclassification as central government bodies from 1 April 2014, colleges are now 
also required to comply with Central Government budgeting rules.  In addressing the impact of 
these budgeting rules, Scottish Government and SFC committed to providing the cash budget 
previously earmarked for depreciation for use on specified priorities. 
 
Colleges have now each been given a fixed cash budget for priorities which must be spent on 
agreed government priorities as outlined in the table below.  Spend of the College’s cash budget 
for priorities, and impact on the operating position for the academic year, is detailed below. 
 
 

Table of cash budget for priorities (CBP) spend 
 

 Year Ended  
31 July 2018 

Year Ended  
31 July 2017 

Revenue 
 

£’000 £’000 

2016-17 Pay Award 
 

- 33 

Total impact on operating position 
 

- 33 

Capital 
 

  

Loan repayments 
 

158 158 

Early retirement provision payments 
 

32 - 

Total Capital 
 

190 158 

 
Total cash budget for priorities spend 

 
190 

 
191 

 
The SFC has confirmed that a deficit resulting from the College following its guidance should be 
treated as a ‘technical’ deficit and should not be interpreted, on its own, as a challenge to the 
College’s ongoing financial sustainability.  Audit Scotland accepts that a deficit arising from the 
use of cash funding originally provided for non-cash depreciation does not indicate an underlying 
financial sustainability concern. 
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Adjusted Operating Position 
 
The Statement of Comprehensive Income (SOCI) presents the financial performance during the 
accounting period in accordance with the FE/HE SORP.  The adjusted operating position is 
intended to reflect the financial performance of the college after allowing for non-cash 
adjustments and other material one-off or distorting items required by the FE/HE SORP.  The 
adjusted operating position is therefore designed to smooth any volatility in reported results 
arising from Financial Reporting Standard (FRS) 102 and also to recognise that some of the 
reported costs do not have an immediate cash impact on the college.  This should give a better 
indication of the College’s cash generative capacity. 
 
  

 
Note 

2017-18 
 

£’000 
 

2016-17 
(Restated) 

£’000 

Deficit before other gains and losses 
(FE/HE SORP basis) 
 

 (939) (277) 

Add back: 
- Depreciation (net of deferred capital grant) 
- Non-cash pension adjustments for the Lothian 

Pension Fund  
 

 
1 
2 
 
 

 
343 
848 

 
 

 
199 
645 

 
 

Deduct: 
- CBP allocated to loan repayments 
- CBP allocated to Early Retirement payments 
- Balance of payments to Early Retirement 

Provision (ERP)  

 
3 
4 
4 
 

 
158 
32 
63 

 
158 

- 
107 

 
Adjusted operating (deficit) / surplus  (1) 302 
 
Note 1:  Depreciation is a non-cash item and is therefore excluded when calculating the 
adjusted cash operating position. 
 
Note 2: The adjustments to the pensions charge represent the non-cash element of service cost 
(ie including the present value of projected benefits resulting from the employee service in the 
current year) less cash contributions paid. 
 
Note 3: CBP is included in income but the loan repayment is not reflected in the costs therefore 
this amount is adjusted. 
 
Note 4: Cash payments in respect of the ERP are higher than the related interest charge 
included in costs.  The balance of the amount paid is therefore adjusted with part of this being 
allocated against CBP. 
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Taxation Status 
 
The College is registered with the Office of the Scottish Charities Regulator as a Scottish Charity 
and is exempt from corporation tax and capital gains tax.  The College receives no similar 
exemption in respect of Value Added Tax. 
 
Cash Flows 
 
Cash flow projections are prepared annually, broken down on a monthly basis to ensure that 
these are sufficient to meet the needs of the College.  These are reviewed monthly and reports 
are provided to the Senior Team and the Finance and General Purposes Committee.  Bank 
balances are checked on a daily basis and day-to day surplus funds are deposited overnight in a 
high interest bank account.   
 
Liquidity  
 
The College uses a number of ratios to assess the College’s liquidity.  The two key ratios are 
current assets: current liabilities and days cash to total expenditure.  However as a result of 
Office for National Statistics (ONS) reclassification the College is only able to hold minimum 
cash reserves.   At the end of 2017-18 current assets: current liabilities were 0.6 and days cash 
to total expenditure was 15 days reflecting the ONS requirement.  Targets for 2018-19 are 14 
days cash to total expenditure and current assets: current liabilities 0.7. 
 
Creditor Payment Policy  
 
The College complies with the Confederation of British Industry (CBI) Prompt Payment Code 
and has a policy of paying its suppliers within 30 days of invoice unless the invoice is contested.  
All disputes and complaints are handled as quickly as possible.  The proportion of year-end 
creditors to the aggregate invoiced amounts during the year was 8%.  The College did not pay 
any late interest payments during the year. 
 
The Scottish Public Finance Manual sets a Government target for the payment of invoices within 
10 working days of their receipt.  While this is a difficult target for the College to achieve, it 
nevertheless strives to pay all invoices as promptly as possible. 
 
20 Post-Balance Sheet Events  
 
There are no post-balance sheet events. 
 
21 Review of Resource outturn for year ended 31 March 2018  

 
Following the reclassification of colleges as public bodies on 1 April 2014, the College has been 
required to comply with government accounting and budgeting rules on a fiscal year basis (ie to 
the end of March).  The college is given a revenue resource budget (RDEL) and a capital 
resource budget (CDEL) and must account for this budget on a fiscal year basis.  The resource 
budgets and final outturn for 2017-18 (1 April 2017-31 March 2018) are outlined below: 
 
 RDEL 

£’000 
 

CDEL 
£’000 

Resource budget for year ended 31 March 2018 13,707 653 
Expenditure against resource budget  13,786 653 
Net (overspend) / underspend/ against budget (79) - 
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In addition, the college received a non-cash budget from the government to cover depreciation 
costs. It should be noted that the figures in the table above have not been audited.   

 
22 Climate Change (Scotland) Act 2009  
 
The College complied with the Scottish Government sustainability reporting in line with the 
requirements of the Climate Change (Scotland) Act 2009. During 2017-18 the College 
participated in the College Energy Efficiency Pathfinder (CEEP) project and undertook a 
programme of works which is expected to save 17 tonnes of carbon carbon per annum 
 
23 Human Rights, Anti-Corruption and Anti-Bribery 

 
West Lothian College is committed to upholding human rights, anti-corruption and anti-bribery 
within West Lothian College and through the supply chain.  
 
24 Future Performance  

  
The College’s Curriculum Strategy identifies key target groups by committing to: 
 
 
• implementing the Developing the Young Workforce agenda through increasing the number 

of Science, Technology, Engineering and Mathematics (STEM)-focused Foundation and 
Modern Apprenticeships. 
 

• maintaining and extending employer partnerships that inform portfolio planning and course 
design to better equip learners with essential knowledge and employability skills through 
contextualised learning, real training and work experience opportunities. 

 
• improving life chances by increasing the volume of learners in the most deprived 10% 

postcode areas in West Lothian.  
 
• increasing the number of Associate Student places and developing further articulation 

routes that enable credit transfer for Higher National Certificates (HNCs) and Higher 
National Diplomas (HNDs) for advanced standing into years 2 or 3 of university degrees. 

 
• increasing the volume and successful completion of courses for care experienced learners 

by promoting opportunities and raising aspirations and successful outcomes to potential 
students. 

 
• working with West Lothian Community Planning Partnership, support increasing numbers of 

unemployed people at stages 2, 3 and 4 of the strategic skills pipeline to develop 
employability skills to enable them to get a job and/or train for a career. 

 
• engaging with Equalities groups, including the Equality Challenge Unit and EQUATE to 

improve gender balance and ensure appropriate support for the participation of groups 
currently experiencing inequalities in vocational education including specifically disabled 
people, young people who are care experienced, people from black and ethnic minorities 
and others with additional support needs. 

 
• supporting upskilling of the working population of West Lothian through provision of work 

based learning and through an accessible, vocationally relevant part-time portfolio. 
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• providing high quality English language provision for ESOL learners to enable participation 
and integration in Scottish life. 

 
 
The Performance Report is approved by the Principal on 11 December 2018. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Jackie Galbraith 
Principal 
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ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT 
 
1. Board of Governors Report 
 
The members who served on the Board during the period were as follows:- 
 

Name Status Job Title 
Alex Linkston Regional Chair Chair, Forth Valley Health Board 

 
Simon Ashpool Board member 

 
Learning Manager, Crisis UK 

Thomas Bates 
(appointed 23.08.17) 
 

Board member Director, Lareine Engineering Ltd. 

Sue Cook  
 

Chair, Learning and 
Teaching Committee; 
Vice Chair 

Self-employed consultant 

Frank Gribben 
 

Board member Strategic Project Director, University of Glasgow 
 

Graham Hope 
 

Chair, Audit Committee Chief Executive, West Lothian Council 

Mhairi Harrington* 
 

Board member Principal and Chief Executive, West Lothian 
College 

Iain McIntosh 
 

Board member Leadership Consultant, Edinburgh Napier 
University 

Morag McKelvie 
 

Chair, Finance and 
General Purposes 
Committee 

Vice President Human Resources, iQor 

Colin Miller 
 

Board member Partner, DWF solicitors 
 

Richard Lockhart 
 

Board member Associate Director, Scottish Futures Trust 

Moira Niven 
 

Board member Retired 
 

Claire Probert 
(appointed 23.08.17) 
 

Board member Associate Director, Grant Thornton LLP 

Norman Ross 
 

Board member Retired; director Kilmorack Consulting Ltd 
 

Angela Bell 
 

Board member Support Staff member 

Alan Morton 
 

Board member Teaching Staff member 

Sarah Kerr* 
(resigned 31.03.18) 
 

Board member Student Association President.  

Lorna Reid* 
 

Board member Student Association Vice President 

*Post holders have changed post year-end. 
 
 
 



 West Lothian College  
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 

_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Accounts 2018 Page 18  DRAFT 7 

Board of Governors 
 
Name Possible Attendance Actual Attendance 
Alex Linkston 4 

 
4 

Simon Ashpool 
 

4 3 

Thomas Bates 
 

4 2 

Sue Cook 
 

4 3 

Frank Gribben 
 

4 1 

Mhairi Harrington  4 4 
 

Graham Hope 
 

4 4 

Richard Lockhart 
 

4 3 

Iain McIntosh 
 

4 3 

Morag McKelvie 
 

4 4 

Colin Miller 
 

4 3 

Moira Niven 
 

4 4 

Claire Probert 
 

3 2 

Norman Ross 
 

4 3 

Angela Bell 
 

4 2 

Alan Morton 
 

4 4 

Sarah Kerr 
 

3 2 

Lorna Reid 4 2 
 

 
 
Audit Committee 
 
Name Possible Attendance Actual Attendance 

Graham Hope (Chair) 4 4 

Simon Ashpool 4 4 

Sue Cook 4 4 

Colin Millar 3 3 

Norman Ross 4 3 
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Finance and General Purposes Committee 
 
Name Possible Attendance Actual Attendance 

Morag McKelvie (Chair) 4 4 

Frank Gribben 4 3 

Alex Linkston 4 4 

Richard Lockhart 4 4 

Claire Probert 3 2 

Moira Niven 4 4 

Mhairi Harrington 4 4 

Angela Bell 4 2 

 
Learning and Teaching Committee 
 
Name Possible Attendance Actual Attendance 

Sue Cook (Chair) 4 4 

Thomas Bates 3 3 

Mhairi Harrington 4 3 

Iain McIntosh 4 2 

Colin Miller 1 1 

Alan Morton 3 3 

Sarah Kerr 3 2 

Lorna Reid 4 4 

 
Remuneration Committee 
 
Name Possible Attendance Actual Attendance 

Alex Linkston 3 3 

Sue Cook 3 2 

Graham Hope 3 3 

Morag McKelvie 3 3 

 
Related Party Transactions 
 
Due to the nature of the College’s operations and the composition of its Board of Governors 
(being drawn from local public and private sector organisations), it is inevitable that transactions 
will take place with organisations in which a member of the College’s Board of Governors may 
have an interest, and will be recorded as such in the Minutes of the Meetings and/or the Register 
of Interest. All transactions involving organisations in which a member of the Board of Governors 
may have a material interest are conducted at arm’s length and in accordance with normal 
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project and procurement procedures. The related party transactions due to/by the College for the 
year ended 31 July 2018 and the amounts outstanding at this date are disclosed in note 24. 
 
 
Statement to Auditors 
 
In accordance with legislation, the Board of Governors certify that: 
 
 so far as we are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the College’s auditors 

are unaware; and 
 as members of the Board of Governors we have taken all the steps that we ought to have 

taken in order to make ourselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that 
the College’s auditors are aware of that information. 
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1. Statement of the Responsibilities of the Board of Governors 
 
The Board of Governors are required to present audited financial statements for each financial 
year.            
   
In accordance with the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992 as amended by the 
Further & Higher Education (Scotland) Act 2005 and subsequently by the Post-16 Education 
(Scotland) Act 2013, the Board of Governors is responsible for the administration and 
management of the College’s affairs, including ensuring an effective system of internal control, 
and is required to present audited financial statements for each financial year.   
           
The Board of Governors is responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose, 
with reasonable accuracy at any time, the financial position of the College and enable it to 
ensure that the financial statements are prepared in accordance with the Further and Higher 
Education (Scotland) Act 1992 as amended by the Further & Higher Education (Scotland) Act 
2005 and subsequently amended by the Post-16 Education (Scotland) Act 2013, the 2015 
Statement of Recommended Practice - Accounting for Further and Higher Education, the 
Government Financial Reporting Manual 2017-18 (FReM) where applicable and other relevant 
accounting standards.  In addition, within the terms and conditions of a Financial Memorandum 
agreed between the Scottish Funding Council and the College’s Board of Governors, the Board 
of Governors, through its designated office holder, is required to prepare financial statements for 
each financial year which give a true and fair view of the College’s state of affairs and of the 
surplus or deficit and cash flows for that year.  
 
The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the Accounts Direction issued by the 
Scottish Funding Council which brings together the provisions of the Financial Memorandum 
with other formal disclosures that the Scottish Funding council require the Board of Governors to 
make in the financial statements and related notes. 
            
In preparing the financial statements, the Board of Governors is required to:   
             
• Select suitable accounting policies and apply them consistently;  
 
• Make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;    

         
• State whether applicable Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any 

material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;  
 
• Prepare financial statements on the going concern basis, unless it is inappropriate to 

presume that the College will continue in operation. The Board of Governors is satisfied 
that it has adequate resources to continue in operation for the foreseeable future and for 
this reason the going concern basis continues to be adopted in the preparation of the 
financial statements.          
  

The Board of Governors has taken reasonable steps to:      
       
• Ensure that funds from the Scottish Funding Council are used only for the purposes for 

which they have been given and in accordance with the Financial Memorandum with the 
Funding Council and any other conditions which the Funding Council may from time to 
time prescribe;           
     

• Ensure that there are appropriate financial and management controls in place to safeguard 
public funds and funds from other sources;  
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• Safeguard the assets of the College and prevent and detect fraud;   
 

• Secure the economical, efficient and effective management of the College’s resources and 
expenditure.           
     

The key elements of the College’s system of internal financial control, which is designed to 
discharge the responsibilities set out above, include the following:     

         
• Clear definitions of the responsibilities of, and the authority delegated to, heads of 

academic and support departments;  
       
• A comprehensive medium and short-term planning process, supplemented by detailed 

annual income, expenditure, capital and cash flow budgets;  
    
• Regular reviews of key performance indicators and business risks and quarterly reviews of 

financial results involving variance reporting and updates of forecast outturns;  
  
• Clearly defined and formalised requirements for approval and control of expenditure, with 

investment decisions involving capital or revenue expenditure being subject to formal 
detailed appraisal and review according to approval  levels set by the Board of Governors; 

         
• Comprehensive Financial Regulations, detailing financial controls and procedures, 

approved by the Audit Committee and the Finance and General Purposes Committee;  
      
• Professional internal audit team whose annual programme is approved by the Audit 

Committee and endorsed by the Board of Governors and whose head provides the Board 
of Governors with a report on internal audit activity within the College and an opinion on 
the adequacy and effectiveness of the College’s system of internal control, including 
internal financial control. 

 
        

Any system of internal financial control can, however, only provide reasonable, but not absolute, 
assurance against material misstatement or loss.   
 
Estates Strategy  
 
The College Estates Strategy is evidence based and allows the College to continue with its 
programme of aligning its estate to the emerging needs of learners and curriculum delivery 
requirements going forward. The strategy allows for replacement of windows and window frames 
and boilers as well as implementing the agreed programme of lifecycle maintenance so that the 
fabric of the college buildings remain of a high standard.  
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2. Corporate Governance Statement 
 
The College is committed to exhibiting best practice in all aspects of corporate governance.  This 
summary describes the manner in which the College has applied the principles of good 
governance set out in 2016 Code of Good Governance for Scotland’s Colleges and the 
Government’s Scottish Public Finance Manual. Throughout the period ended 31 July 2018, the 
College has been in compliance with all the Code provisions set out in the 2016 Code of Good 
Governance for Scotland’s Colleges and the Government’s Scottish Public Finance Manual.  
 
The College’s Board of Governors is responsible for the College’s system of internal control and 
for reviewing its effectiveness.  Such a system is designed to manage rather than eliminate the 
risk of failure to achieve business objectives and can only provide reasonable and not absolute 
assurance against material misstatement or loss.  
 
The Board of Governors is of the view that there is a process for identifying, evaluating and 
managing the College’s significant risks, that it has been in place for the year ended 31 July 
2018 and up to the date of approval of the annual report and financial statements, that it is 
regularly reviewed by the Board of Governors and that it accords with the 2016 Code of Good 
Governance for Scotland’s Colleges and the Government’s Scottish Public Finance Manual. 
 
During 2017-18 the College suffered a malware attack.  Immediate action was taken to minimize 
the impact of the attack and specific measures such as strengthening the College’s anti-virus 
software and tightening controls around guest Wi-Fi access were taken to mitigate against future 
attacks.   
 
The College’s Board of Governors comprises lay members, students and employees appointed 
under the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992, as amended by the Further & 
Higher Education (Scotland) Act 2005 and subsequently by the Post-16 Education (Scotland) 
Act 2013, the majority of whom are non-executive.  The roles of Chairman and Vice-Chairman of 
the Board of Governors are separated from the role of the College’s Principal.   
 
The matters specifically reserved to the Board for decision are set out in the College’s Standing 
Orders, by custom and under the Financial Memorandum with the Scottish Funding Council. The 
Board acknowledges the responsibility for the ongoing strategic direction of the College, 
approval of major developments and the receipt of regular reports from the Principal on the day 
to day operations of its business. 
 
The Full Board meets four times a year.  In addition it holds an annual strategic meeting which is 
dedicated to discussing the College’s strategic development.  There are several sub-committees, 
including a Finance and General Purposes Committee, a Learning and Teaching Committee, a 
Remuneration Committee, an Audit Committee and a Nominations Committee.  All of these 
Committees are formally constituted with terms of reference.  The Finance and General 
Purposes Committee inter alia recommends to the Board the College’s annual revenue and 
capital budgets and normally meets four times a year. The Learning and Teaching Committee 
meets four times a year, and focuses on the quality of the student experience.   The 
Remuneration Committee determines the remuneration of the most senior staff, including the 
Principal and meets as required, normally once a year. In addition the Full Board 
 
The Audit Committee meets four times a year, with the College’s external and internal auditors in 
attendance where required.  The Committee considers detailed reports together with 
recommendations for the improvement of the College’s systems of internal control and 
management’s responses and implementation plans.  It also receives and considers reports from 
the Scottish Funding Council as they affect the College’s business and monitors adherence to 
the regulatory requirements.  Whilst the Principal attends meetings of the Audit Committee as 
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necessary, she is not a member of the Committee. The Nominations Committee considers 
candidates to fill vacancies on the Board and meets as required, normally at least once per year.    
The Nominations Committee is responsible for selecting candidates for appointment by the 
Board of Governors to vacancies in its membership.  The Committee may use a number of 
selection methods, including external advertising, personal contact, the encouragement of 
nominations and the use of a search committee.  The Committee considers the balance of 
membership, including members’ experience and skills and identify any gaps.  The Committee 
also tries to ensure that the membership of the Board reflects its community.  The Committee 
makes its recommendations to the Board for consideration and approval for appointment. 
 
The Board, and its sub-committees, participate in annual self-evaluation reviews of its 
performance.  This is facilitated by the Secretary to the Board using a self-evaluation 
questionnaire with all questions being discussed by the Board or Committee as a group and their 
consensus view recorded.  Any actions for improvement are noted and followed up at 
subsequent meetings of the Board or Committees.  The evaluation of the effectiveness of 
individual members is considered informally by the Chair of the Board or relevant Committee, 
and if concerns are noted they follow these up with the member directly.   
 
The Performance Report is approved by the new Principal.  The previous Principal, Mhairi 
Harrington, left the College on 3 August 2018 and the new Principal, Jackie Galbraith, took up 
post on 6 August 2018.  The new Principal has received full assurances over the Governance 
arrangements in place at the College from the Senior Team for the year ended 31 July 2018. 
 
The Board of Governors considers that the College has adequate resources to continue in 
operational existence for the foreseeable future. 
 
Statement on System of Internal Control 
 
We, the Board of Governors are aware of the need for effective internal control, and 
acknowledge our responsibility for the system for such control operated by West Lothian 
College.  The system can provide only reasonable and not absolute assurance that assets are 
safeguarded, transactions authorised and properly recorded, and that material errors or 
irregularities are either prevented or would be detected within a timely period.   
 
Our review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is conducted through the work of 
the Board of Governors, the Finance and General Purposes Committee and the Audit 
Committee.  West Lothian College also has an internal audit service, the work of which 
concentrates on areas of key activities determined in accordance with the annual internal audit 
plan approved by the Board of Governors. The internal auditors report to the Audit Committee, 
and have direct access to the chairman of the Audit Committee if required.  The internal auditors 
issue an annual report that gives an opinion of the adequacy, reliability and effectiveness of the 
College’s internal control system. 
 
 
The Board has reviewed the effectiveness of the College’s system of internal control as follows: 
 
• The College’s risk management framework has been reviewed, including considering 

management’s review of operational risks and the Audit Committee’s review of strategic 
risks.  This review has included considering whether risks are appropriately ranked based 
on likelihood and impact and considering whether mitigating controls highlighted as being in 
place are adequate. 

• Reports by management have been received and reviewed by the Board and Board 
Committees which have provided information as to how risks are being managed and what 
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internal controls are in place.  The Board committees in place and their main roles are 
outlined on pages 17-22. 

• Internal audit reports have been received on a range of areas within the College.  The 
internal auditors in their annual statement have concluded that the College operates 
adequate and effective internal control systems. 

• External auditors have reviewed the key financial controls to the extent required, to ensure 
the College’s financial statements are not materially misstated.  The external auditors have 
not identified any weaknesses in key controls and the wider scope work has identified 
appropriate Governance procedures and management has adequate arrangements in place 
covering standards of conduct.  

 
 

The College also has a range of internal financial controls which include:  
 
• a budgeting system with an annual budget which is approved by the Board of Governors; 
• the provision of management information on a planned, regular basis and as required; 
• regular reviews by the Finance and General Purposes Committee of monthly and annual 

financial reports and key performance indicators which indicate financial performance 
against the forecasts; 

• financial regulations, which identify policy and set up a control system within which 
management can delegate authority whilst informing staff of correct financial procedures. 

 
Going Concern 
 
The Board of Governors has considered the college’s forecasts and financial projections and 
considers that the college has adequate resources to meet its ongoing liabilities and continue in 
operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason, it continues to adopt the going 
concern basis in preparing the financial statements.  
 
Although the college has net liabilities, this is due to the change of treatment of deferred 
Government Grant (capital) which is now recognised as deferred income within creditors and 
allocated between creditors due within one year and due after more than one year as 
appropriate.   
 
 
In conclusion, it is the opinion of the Board of Governors that the College complies with all the 
provisions of the 2016 Code of Good Governance for Scotland’s Colleges and the Scottish 
Public Finance Manual and it has complied throughout the year to 31 July 2018. 
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1. Remuneration And Staff Report (FReM, Section 5, paras 5.3.15 to 5.3.27) 
 
Remuneration Policy  
 
The Remuneration Committee makes recommendations to the Board of Governors on the 
service arrangements and remuneration of the Principal and determines the service 
arrangements and remuneration of the other senior post holders. 
 
Remuneration including salary and pension entitlements 
 
Salary Entitlements1 
 
The following table provides detail of the remuneration and pension interests of senior 
management. 
 
 12 months ended 31 July 2018 12 months ended 31 July 2017 
 
 
Name 

Actual 
Salary 
£’000 

 

Pension  
Benefit  

£’000 

 
Total 
£’000 

Actual 
Salary 
£’000 

 

Pension 
Benefit 

£’000 
 

Total 
£’000 

 

Alex Linkston 20-25 0 20-25 20 - 25 0 20 - 25 

Mhairi Harrington* 110 - 115 0 110-115 105 - 110 10-15 115-120 

Simon Earp 65 - 70 5-10 70-75 20 - 25 0-5 20-25 

George Hotchkiss  65 - 70 5-10 70-75 65 - 70 5-10 70-75 

Jennifer McLaren  65 - 70 5-10 70-75 65 - 70 5-10 70-75 

*Mhairi Harrington left the pension scheme at the end of 2016-17 and left the College on 3 
August 2018 
 
Median Remuneration 
 
Colleges are required by the FReM to disclose the relationships between the remuneration of 
the highest paid official and the median remuneration of their workforce. 
 
Based on the 12 month equivalent figures above, the banded remuneration of the highest paid 
official in the organisation in the financial year 2017-18 was £110,000-£115,000 (2016-17 
£110,000-£115,000). This was 3.7 times (2016-17 3.7 times (no change)) the median 
remuneration of the workforce which was £30,000-£35,000 (2016-17 £30,000-£35,000 (no 
change)). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                                 
1 Note: 
 

a) The salaries in the above table represent the amount earned in the financial year 
b) The value of pension benefits is calculated as the real increase in pension multiplied by 20 plus the real increase in any 

lump sum less the contributions made by the individual.  The x20 multiplier aims to bring public bodies in line with other 
industries in disclosing an assessed cumulative pension benefit for a standard 20 year period which is the estimated life 
span following retirement. 

c) The details in this table are subject to audit 
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Accrued Pension Benefits  
 
Pension benefits for employees are provided through the Scottish Teacher’s Superannuation 
Scheme (STSS), a defined benefit scheme, which is notionally funded and the Local 
Government Pension Scheme (LGPS).  
 
Both STSS and LGPS are career average salary pension schemes. 
 
The scheme’s normal retirement age is the scheme member’s state pension age. 
 
Contribution rates are set annually for all employees.  
 
There is no automatic entitlement to a lump sum. Members may opt to give up (commute) 
pension for lump sum up to the limit set by the Finance Act 2004.  The accrual rate guarantees a 
pension based on final pensionable salary and years of pensionable service.  
 
Senior Officials Pension 
  
Pension benefits are provided to senior officials on the same basis as all other staff. The accrued 
pension benefits for senior officials are set out in the table below, together with the pension 
contributions made by the College. 

Name Accrued 
pension at 

pension age at 
31 July 2018 

Accrued lump 
sum at pension 

age at 31 July 
2018 

Real increase 
in pension 

1 August 2017 
to 31 July 2018 

Real increase 
in lump sum  

1 August 2017 
to 31 July 2018 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Mhairi Harrington-Principal 43 128 1 3 

Simon Earp – Vice Principal 12 12 <2 years’ 
service, no 

pension 
entitlement 

N/A 

George Hotchkiss- Vice 
Principal 

20 60 1 2 

Jennifer McLaren- Vice 
Principal 

10 0 3 0 

 
Name CETV at 31 

July 2018 
CETV at 31 

July 2017 
Real increase 

in CETV 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Mhairi Harrington-Principal 1,000 955 14 

Simon Earp – Vice Principal 16 5 11 

George Hotchkiss- Vice Principal 466 430 21 

Jennifer McLaren- Vice Principal 153 135 17 

 
 
Cash equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) 
 
A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capitalised value of the 
pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. 



 West Lothian College  
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 

_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Accounts 2018 Page 28  DRAFT 7 

 
The value of the accrued pension benefits has been calculated on the basis of the age at which 
the person will first become entitled to receive a pension on retirement without reduction on 
account of its payment at that age; without exercising any option to commute pension 
entitlement into a lump sum; and without any adjustment for the effects of future inflation. The 
pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the person has accrued as a consequence of 
their total Local Government service and not just their current appointment.  
 
In considering the accrued pension benefits figures the following contextual information should 
be taken into account:  
 

(i) the figures for pension and lump sum are illustrative only in light of the assumptions 
set out above and do not necessarily reflect the actual benefits that any individual 
may receive upon retirement.  

(ii) the accrued benefits figures are reflective of the pension contributions that both the 
employer and the scheme member have made over a period of time. 

Real increase in CETV 
 
This reflects the increase in CETV that is funded by the employer. It does not include the 
increase in accrued pension due to inflation, contributions paid by the employee (including the 
value of any benefits transferred from another pension scheme or arrangement) and uses 
common market valuation factors for the start and end of the period. 
 
Compensation for loss of office 
 
No employees left under voluntary exit terms during the year.  
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STAFF REPORT 

Salaries and Related costs  
 
 2018 2018 2018 2017 

 Directly 
employed staff 

£’000 

Seconded and 
agency staff 

£’000 

Total 
 

£’000 

Total 
 

£’000 

Wages and salaries 8,958 0 8,958 8,246 

Social security costs 848 0 848 775 

Other pension costs  2,109 0 2,109 1,902 

Restructuring Costs 7 0 7 10 

Total 11,922 0 11,922 10,933 

Average number of FTE 292 0 292 272 

 

The college employed 253 females and 132 males during 2017-18 (headcount). 

Facility Time 

In accordance with the Trade Union (Facility Time Publication Requirements) regulations 2017, 
the College provided the following support through paid facility time for union officials working at 
the College during the period 1 April 2017- 31 March 2018. 

Relevant union officials 

Number of employees who were relevant 
union officials during the relevant period: 

Full-time equivalent employee number: 

9 8.4 

 

Percentage of time spend on facility time 

Percentage: Number of employees: 

0% 0 

1%-50% 9 

51%-99% 0 

100% 0 
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Percentage of pay bill spend on facility time 

Total cost of facility time: 17,428 

Total pay bill: 10,884,759 

Percentage of the total pay bill spend on 
facility time: 

0.2% 

 

Paid trade union activities 

Time spend on trade union activities as a 
percentage of total paid facility time hours: 

100% 

 

Equal Opportunities  
 

West Lothian College has published its Equality Mainstreaming Report 2017-20, which outlines 
how we will meet our General and Public Sector Equality Duties and informs and guides decision 
making and policy reviews. We have a range of policies which ensure that staff, learners and 
visitors are treated equitably regardless of colour, race, nationality, ethnic or national origin, 
religion or belief, disability, gender or gender reassignment, age and sexual orientation, 
pregnancy and maternity, marriage or civil partnership.    
 
We value diversity and aim to advance equality of opportunity, foster good relations and 
eliminate discrimination, victimisation and harassment in all our activities.  
 
Policies and procedures, work practices and terms and conditions of employment are 
continuously reviewed and equality impact assessed to ensure compliance with legislation and 
identified best practice.   
 
The College considers all applications for a college course place from all members of the 
community in respect of the qualifications and skills necessary to meet the entry requirements of 
the course applied for.   
 
The College considers all applications for employment from all members of the community in 
respect of the qualifications and skills necessary to fulfil the requirements of the position.   
 

Approved by the members of the Board on 11 December 2018 and signed on its behalf by:  
 

 

 

Alex Linkston 
Chair 

 Jackie Galbraith 
Principal 
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of the Board of Governors of West 
Lothian College, the Auditor General for Scotland and the Scottish Parliament  

 
This report is made solely to the parties to whom it is addressed in accordance with the Public Finance 
and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000 and for no other purpose. In accordance with paragraph 120 of the 
Code of Audit Practice approved by the Auditor General for Scotland, we do not undertake to have 
responsibilities to members or officers, in their individual capacities, or to third parties.  
 
Report on the audit of the financial statements  
 
Opinion on financial statements  
We have audited the financial statements in the annual report and accounts of West Lothian College for 
the year ended 31 July 2018 under the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992 and section 
44(1)(c) of the Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005. The financial statements comprise 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of Changes in Reserves, Balance Sheet, and 
Statement of Cash Flows and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is 
applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 102 the 
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (United Kingdom Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice).  
 
In our opinion the accompanying financial statements:  
• give a true and fair view in accordance with the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992 and 

directions made thereunder by the Scottish Funding Council of the state of the college's affairs as at 31 
July 2018 and of its deficit for the year then ended;  

• have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice; and  

• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Further and Higher Education 
(Scotland) Act 1992 and directions made thereunder by the Scottish Funding Council, the Charities and 
Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005, and regulation 14 of The Charities Accounts (Scotland) 
Regulations 2006 (as amended).  

 
Basis of opinion  
We conducted our audit in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing in the 
UK (ISAs (UK)). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the 
college in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial 
statements in the UK including the Financial Reporting Council’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  

 
Conclusions relating to going concern  
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us 
to report to you where:  
• the use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is not 

appropriate; or  
• the college has not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may 

cast significant doubt about its ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a 
period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue.  

 
Responsibilities of the Board of Governors for the financial statements  
As explained more fully in the Statement of the Board of Governors Responsibilities, the Board of 
Governors is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
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accordance with the financial reporting framework, and for such internal control as the Board of Governors 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  
In preparing the financial statements, the Board of Governors is responsible for assessing the college's 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless deemed inappropriate.  
 
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements  
Our objectives are to achieve reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 
these financial statements.  
A further description of the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on 
the Financial Reporting Council's website www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms 
part of our auditor’s report. 
 
Other information in the annual report and accounts  
The Board of Governors is responsible for the other information in the annual report and accounts. The 
other information comprises the information other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon except on matters prescribed by the Auditor General 
for Scotland to the extent explicitly stated later in this report.  
 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements in accordance with ISAs (UK), our responsibility is 
to read all the other information in the annual report and accounts and, in doing so, consider whether the 
other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the 
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or 
apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement 
in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we 
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.  
 
Report on regularity of expenditure and income  
 
Opinion on regularity  
In our opinion in all material respects the expenditure and income in the financial statements were incurred 
or applied in accordance with any applicable enactments and guidance issued by the Scottish Ministers.  
 
Responsibilities for regularity  
The Board of Governors is responsible for ensuring the regularity of expenditure and income. We are 
responsible for expressing an opinion on the regularity of expenditure and income in accordance with the 
Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000.  
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Report on other requirements  
 

Opinions on other prescribed matters  
We are required by the Auditor General for Scotland to express an opinion on the following matters.  
In our opinion, the audited part of the Remuneration and Staff Report has been properly prepared in 
accordance with the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992 and directions made thereunder by 
the Scottish Funding Council. 
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit  
• the information given in the Performance Report for the financial year for which the financial statements 

are prepared is consistent with the financial statements and that report has been prepared in 
accordance with the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992 and directions made 
thereunder by the Scottish Funding Council; and  

• the information given in the Governance Statement for the financial year for which the financial 
statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements and that report has been prepared 
in accordance with the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992 and directions made 
thereunder by the Scottish Funding Council.  

 
Matters on which we are required to report by exception  
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the college and its environment obtained in the course 
of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the Performance Report or Governance 
Statement.  
We are required by The Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 to report to you if, in our opinion:  
• adequate accounting records have not been kept; or  
• the financial statements and the audited part of the Remuneration and Staff Report are not in 

agreement with the accounting records; or  
• We have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.  
 
We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Lucy Nutley  
For and on behalf of Mazars LLP 
 
Apex 2 
97 Haymarket Terrace 
Edinburgh 
EH12 5HD 
   December 2018 
 

 
 
 

Lucy Nutley is eligible to act as an auditor in terms of section 21 of the Public Finance and Accountability 
(Scotland) Act 2000. 
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME      
 
 Notes Year  

Ended 
31 July 2018 

£’000 

 Year  
Ended 

31 July 2017 
£’000 

Income 
SFC grants 
Tuition fees and education contracts 
Other income 
Investment income 
 

 
2 
3 
4 
5 
 

 
12,647 
3,140 
2,049 

1 

  
13,625 
3,020 
1,971 

2 

Total Income  17,837  18,618 
     
Expenditure 
Staff Costs 
Other operating expenses 
Depreciation 
Exceptional impairment loss 
Interest payable 
 

 
6 
7 
10 
- 
8 
 

 
11,922 
5,821 

800 
- 

233 

  
10,933 
5,038 

789 
1,921 

214 

Total Expenditure  18,776  18,895 
     
Deficit before tax 
 

 (939)  (277) 

Taxation 
 

9 -  - 

Deficit for the year  (939)  (277) 
     
Unrealised surplus on revaluation of assets  -  2,221 
Actuarial gain /(loss) in respect of pension 
schemes 

 2,651  924 

 
Total comprehensive income for the year 

  
1,712 

  
2,868 

 
Represented by: 

    

Restricted comprehensive income 
Unrestricted comprehensive income 

 - 
1,712 

 - 
2,868 

   
1,712 

  
2,868 

 
 
 
 
 
 
The Statement of Comprehensive Income is prepared under the FE/HE SORP. The SORP does 
not permit colleges to reflect the non-cash budget for depreciation in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income.  Note 28 provides details of the adjusted operating position on a Central 
Government basis.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN RESERVES  
 
 Income and 

Expenditure 
Account 

£’000 
 

Revaluation 
Reserve 

 
£’000 

 
Total 

Balance at 31 July 2016 
 

(12,109) 4,408 (7,701) 

Deficit from statement of comprehensive 
income 
 

(277) - (277) 

Other comprehensive income 
  

924 2,221 3,145 

Transfers between revaluation reserve and 
income and expenditure account 
 

189 (189) - 

Total comprehensive income for the year 836 
 
 

2,032 2,868 

Balance at 31 July 2017 
 

(11,273) 6,440 (4,833) 

Deficit from statement of comprehensive 
income 
 

(939) - (939) 

Other comprehensive income 
  

2,651 - 2,651 

Transfers between revaluation reserve and 
income and expenditure account 
 

299 (299) - 

Total comprehensive income for the year 2,011 
 
 

(299) 1,712 

 
Balance at 31 July 2018 

 
(9,262) 

 
6,141 

 
(3,121) 
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BALANCE SHEETS AS AT 31 JULY 
 
 
 

 
Notes 

  
 2018  
£’000 

  
 2017  
£’000 

Non-Current Assets 
Fixed Assets 
 

 
10 

 
18,860 

 
 

 
19,660 

Current Assets 
Trade and other receivables 
Cash and cash equivalents 
 

 
11 
17 

 
864 
729 

  
559 

1,530 

 
 

 1,593  2,089 

Less: Creditors; amounts falling due within one 
year 
 

12 (2,428)  (2,923) 

Net Current Liabilities  (835)  (834) 
     
Total Assets less Current Liabilities 
 

 18,025  18,826 

Creditors: amounts falling due after more  
than one year 

13 
 
 

(14,675) 
 

 (15,290) 
 

Provisions 
Defined benefit obligations 
Other provisions 

 
15 
15 

 
(2,783) 
(3,688) 

  
(4,416) 
(3,953) 

     
Total Net Liabilities  (3,121)  (4,833) 
 
 

    

Unrestricted Reserves 
Income and expenditure account 
Revaluation reserve 
 

 
16 
 

 
(9,262) 

6,141 

  
(11,273) 

6,440 

Total Reserves  (3,121)  (4,833) 
 
 
The financial statements on pages 34 to 61 were approved by the Board of Governors  
On 11 December 2018 and signed on its behalf on that date by: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Alex Linkston 
Chair 

 Jackie Galbraith 
Principal 
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
 
  Year  

Ended 
31 July 2018  

£’000 
 

 Year 
 Ended 

31 July 2017  
£’000 

 
Cash flow from operating activities 
Deficit for the year 
 
Adjustment for non-cash items 
Depreciation  
Exceptional Impairment Loss 
Deferred capital grants released to income 
(Increase)/Decrease in debtors 
(Decrease)/Increase in creditors due within one year 
(Decrease) in provisions 
Pension costs less contributions payable 
 
Adjustment for investing or financing activities 
Investment income 
Interest payable 
 

  
(939) 

 
 

800 
- 

(457) 
(305) 
(495) 
(199) 

719 
 
 

(1) 
233  

  
(277) 

 
 

789 
1,921 

(2,511) 
218 
413 

(200) 
524 

 
 

(2) 
214  

Net cash (outflow) / inflow from operating activities  (644)  1,089 
     
Cash flows from investing activities 
Interest received 
Capital grant receipts 
Payments made to acquire fixed assets 
 

  
1 
- 
- 

  
2 

89 
(89) 

  1  2 
     
Cash flows from financing activities 
Interest paid 
Repayments of amounts borrowed 

  
- 

(158) 

  
- 

(158) 
  (158)  (158) 
     
(Decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents in 
the year 

  
(801) 

  
933 

     
 
Cash and cash equivalents at start of the year 

  
1,530 

  
597 

 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 

  
729 

  
1,530 
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2018 
 
1. STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
The following accounting policies have been applied consistently in dealing with items which are 
considered material in relation to the financial statements. 
 
a) Basis of Preparation 
 
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Statement of 
Recommended Practice (SORP): Accounting for Further and Higher Education 2015, and in 
accordance with Financial Reporting Standards FRS 102 and the 2017-18 Government Financial 
Reporting Manual (FReM) issued by the Scottish Government.  They conform to the Accounts 
Direction and other guidance published by the Scottish Funding Council (FReM 2.2.6). 
 
The preparation of financial statements in compliance with FRS 102 requires the use of certain 
critical accounting estimates.  It also requires management to exercise judgement in applying the 
College’s accounting policies. 
 
b) Basis of Accounting 
 
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention as modified by 
the revaluation of surplus land and certain fixed assets. 
 
The accounting policies contained in the FReM apply International Reporting Standards as 
adapted or interpreted for the public sector context.  Where the FReM permits a choice of 
accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the College for 
the purposes of giving a true and fair view has been selected.  The particular policies adopted by 
the College in dealing with items that are considered material to the financial statements are set 
out. (FReM 2.2.6). 
 
c) Going Concern 
 
The activities of the College, together with the factors likely to affect its future development and 
performance are set out in the Performance Report. The financial position of the College, its 
cash flow and liquidity are presented in the Financial Statements and accompanying Notes.  The 
net liabilities are due to the reclassification of deferred Government grants as deferred income 
within creditors and allocated between creditors due within one year and due after more than 
one year as appropriate 
 
The College’s forecasts and financial projections indicate that the College has a reasonable 
expectation that it has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the 
foreseeable future, and for this reason will continue to adopt the going concern basis in the 
preparation of its Financial Statements. 
 
d) Recognition of Income 
 
Income from the sale of goods or services is credited to the Statement of Comprehensive Income 
when the goods or services are supplied to the external customers or the terms of the contract 
have been satisfied.  
     
Fee income is stated gross of any expenditure which is not a discount and credited to the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income over the period in which students are studying.   
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Income received in advance is recognised as deferred income within creditors on the balance 
sheet and then released to the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the period it is earned. 
            
All income from short-term deposits and Investment income is credited to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income on a receivable basis.       
  
Funds the College receives and disburses as paying agent on behalf of a funding body are 
excluded from the Statement of Comprehensive Income.       
           
e) Grant Funding 
 
Government revenue grants including the recurrent grants from the Scottish Funding Council are 
recognised in income over the periods in which the College recognises the related costs for which 
the grant is intended to compensate.  Where part of a government grant is deferred it is 
recognised as deferred income within creditors and allocated between creditors due within one 
year and due after more than one year as appropriate. 
 
Grants from non-governmental sources are recognised in income when the College is entitled to 
the income and performance related conditions have been met.  Income received in advance of 
performance related conditions being met is recognised as deferred income within creditors on 
the balance sheet and released to income as the conditions are met. 
 
f) Capital Grants 
 
Government capital grants are recognised in income over the expected useful life of the asset.  
Other capital grants are recognised in income when the College is entitled to the funds subject to 
any performance related conditions being met,  
 
g) Short Term Employment Benefits 
 
Short term employment benefits such as salaries and compensated absences are recognised as 
an expense in the year in which the employees render service to the college.  Any unused 
benefits are accrued and measured as the additional amount the college expects to pay as a 
result of the unused entitlement. 
 
h) Pension Schemes 
 
Retirement benefits to employees of the College are provided by the Teachers' Superannuation 
Scheme (Scotland) (STSS) and the Lothian Pension Fund (LPF).  These are defined benefit 
schemes which are externally funded and contracted out of the State Earnings Related Pension 
Scheme until March 2016.   
 

i) STSS 
 

The College is unable to identify its share of the underlying assets and liabilities of the STSS 
on a consistent and reasonable basis and therefore, as required by FRS 102, accounts for the 
scheme as if it were a defined contribution scheme.  The amount charged to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income represents the contributions payable to the scheme in respect of the 
year.  The contributions are determined by qualified actuaries on the basis of periodic 
valuations using the projected unit method. 
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ii) LPF 
 

The College’s share of LPF scheme assets and liabilities are valued by the LPF actuary, 
Hymans Robertson.  Contributions to the schemes are charged to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income so as to spread the cost of pensions over employees working lives 
with the College.  The contributions are determined by an actuary on the basis of triennial 
valuations.  In accordance with FRS 102, the amount charged to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income represents the service cost expected to arise from employee service 
in the current year. 

 
The costs of enhanced early retirement benefits are borne directly by the College. 

 
i) Tangible Fixed Assets 
 
In line with the FReM all tangible assets must be carried at fair value. 
 

i) Land and Buildings  
 
 Land and Buildings are measured using the revaluation model.  Under the revaluation model 

assets are revalued to fair value.  Where appropriate Depreciated Replacement cost has 
been used as a measure of fair value for land and buildings otherwise Market Value will be 
used.  The College has a policy of ensuring a full revaluation takes place at least every 5 
years such that the fair value is not materially different to the current value.  Depreciation and 
impairment losses are subsequently charged on the revalued amount. 

 
 Freehold land is not depreciated as it is considered to have an indefinite useful life. 
 

College buildings are depreciated over 30 years and transferred car parking areas are 
depreciated over 25 years, both commencing in the first full financial year after the date of 
transfer of the estate to public ownership (2 April 2007).  Other additions to the estate are 
depreciated over 10 years from the date they are brought into use.  

 
 Costs incurred in relation to land and buildings after initial purchase or construction, and prior 

to valuation, are capitalised to the extent they increase the expected future benefits to the 
College. 

 
 If a building is brought into use mid-way through a year the depreciation charge in the first 

year will be pro-rated to reflect the number of months the asset was in use.   
 

A review for impairment of a fixed asset is carried out if events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount of the asset may not be recoverable. 
 
Buildings under construction are accounted for at cost, based on the value of architects’ 
certificates and other direct costs incurred to 31 July.  They are not depreciated until they 
are brought into use. 

 
ii) Fixed Plant and Equipment 

 
Equipment is capitalised at cost and carried at depreciated historical cost, which is used as 
a proxy for fair value when it is expected to be in use within the business on a continuing 
basis for at least 3 years.  Depreciated historical cost is deemed to be more appropriate 
than revaluing for equipment as it is common for such assets to reduce in value rather than 
to increase as they are utilised by the College (FReM 6.2).  Capitalised equipment is 
depreciated over its useful economic life from the date it is brought into use as follows: - 
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 Fixed Plant 5-29 years 
 Equipment  4 years 
  
  

Where equipment is brought into use mid-way through a year the depreciation charge in the 
first year will be pro-rated to reflect the number of months that the asset was in use. 
Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at the date of 
preparation of each Balance Sheet. 

 
iii) Operating Leases 

  
 Costs in respect of operating leases are charged on a straight-line basis over the lease term.  

Any lease premiums or incentives are spread over the minimum lease term. 
 

iv) Finance Leases  
 
 Leases in which the College assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of 

the leased asset are classified as finance leases. Leased assets acquired by way of finance 
lease and the corresponding lease liabilities are initially recognised at an amount equal to the 
lower of their fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payments at inception of 
the lease. 

 
 Minimum lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and the reduction of 

the outstanding liability.  The finance charge is allocated to each period during the lease term 
so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. 

 
Arrangements that do not have the legal status of a lease but convey a right to use an asset 
in return for payment are accounted for under this policy where fulfilment of the arrangement 
is dependent on the use of specific assets. 

  
j) Maintenance of Premises 
 
The cost of maintenance is charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the period in 
which it is incurred. 
 
k) Stocks 
 
The Board of Governors agree that stocks be written off in the year of acquisition on the basis of 
non-materiality. 
 
l) Cash  
 
Cash includes cash in hand, deposits repayable on demand and overdrafts.  Deposits are 
repayable on demand if they are in practice available within 24 hours without penalty. 
 
m) Taxation 
 
The College is an exempt charity within the meaning of the Trustee Investment and Charities 
(Scotland) Act 2005 and, as such is a charity within the meaning of section 506 (1) of the Income 
and Corporation Taxes Act (ICTA) 1988.  The College is recognised as a charity by HM Revenue 
& Customs and is recorded on the index of charities maintained by the Office of Scottish Charity 
Regulator and therefore not liable for corporation tax. 
 Non-recoverable Value Added Tax arising from expenditure on non-trading activities is charged 
to the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
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The College benefits by being exempt from corporation tax on income it receives from tuition 
fees, interest and rents. 
 
n) Provisions 
 
Provisions are recognised when the College has a present legal or constructive obligation as a 
result of a past event, it is probable that a transfer of economic benefit will be required to settle 
the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 
 
o) Agency Arrangements 
 
The College acts as an agent in the collection and payment of certain Student Support Funds.  
These funds are excluded from the College Statement of Comprehensive Income; movements 
have been disclosed in the notes.  Where the College has more discretion in the manner in which 
specific funds are disbursed, and these funds do not meet the definition of agency funds, the 
income and expenditure relating to those funds is shown in the College Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. 
 
p) Financial Instruments 

 
The College only enters into basic financial instruments transactions that result in the recognition 
of financial assets and liabilities like trade and other debtors and creditors and other loans to 
related parties. 
  
Debt instruments that are payable or receivable within one year, typically trade debtors and 
creditors, are measured, initially and subsequently, at the undiscounted amount of the cash or 
other consideration expected to be paid or received. 
  
q) Judgements in applying accounting policies and key sources of estimation uncertainty 
 
In preparing these financial statements, management have made the following judgements: 
 

• Determine whether leases entered into by the College either as a lessor or a lessee are 
operating or finance leases. These decisions depend on an assessment of whether the 
risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred from the lessor to the lessee on a 
lease by lease basis. 

• Determine whether there are indicators of impairment of the College’s tangible assets. 
Factors taken into consideration in reaching such a decision include the economic viability 
and expected future financial performance of the asset. 
 

Other key sources of estimation uncertainty 
 

• Tangible fixed assets 
 
Tangible fixed assets are depreciated over their useful lives taking into account residual 
values, where appropriate. The actual lives of the assets and residual values are 
assessed annually and may vary depending on a number of factors. In re‐assessing asset 
lives, factors such as technological innovation and maintenance programmes are taken 
into account. 
 
 

• Local Government Pension Scheme 
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The present value of the Local Government Pension Scheme defined benefit liability 
depends on a number of factors that are determined on an actuarial basis using a variety 
of assumptions. The assumptions used in determining the net cost (income) for pensions 
include the discount rate. Any changes in these assumptions, which are disclosed in note 
18, will impact the carrying amount of the pension liability.  
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2 SFC GRANTS  
 
  Year  

Ended 
31 July 2018 

£’000 

 Year  
Ended 

31 July 2017 
£’000 

SFC Teaching & fee waiver grant 
Childcare funds 
Release of deferred capital grants (SFC) 
Other SFC Grants 

 10,092 
685 
457 

1,413 

 9,823 
655 

2,511 
636 

   
12,647 

  
13,625 

 
3 TUITION FEES AND EDUCATION CONTRACTS  
 
  Year  

Ended 
31 July 2018 

£’000 

 Year  
Ended 

31 July 2017 
£’000 

FE Fees - UK 
HE Fees - UK 
SDS contracts 

 885 
1,553 

702 

 852 
1,552 

616 
 
 

  
3,140 

  
3,020 

 
4  OTHER INCOME  
 
  Year  

Ended 
31 July 2018 

£’000 

 Year  
Ended 

31 July 2017 
£’000 

Residence and catering 
European funds 
Other income generating activities 
Other income 

 311 
249 

1,216 
273 

 326 
128 

1,203 
314 

 
 

  
2,049 

  
1,971 

 
5  INVESTMENT INCOME 
 
  Year  

Ended 
31 July 2018 

£’000 

 Year  
Ended 

31 July 2017 
£’000 

 
Other Interest Receivable 
 

  
1 
 

  
2 
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6 STAFF COSTS 
 
The average weekly number of persons (including senior post-holders) employed by the College 
during the period was: 
  Year  

Ended 
31 July 2018 

FTE 

 Year 
 Ended 

31 July 2017 
FTE 

 
Teaching departments 
Teaching support services 
Administration 
Premises 
Catering and residences 
Other Income-generating activities 
Other staff 

  
169 
32 
38 
23 
9 

18 
3 

  
160 
27 
35 
22 
9 

16 
3 

 
 

  
292 

  
272 

 
Analysed as: 
Staff on permanent contracts 
Staff on temporary contracts 

  
 

258 
34 

  
 

245 
27 

 
 

  
292 

  
272 

 
  Year  

Ended 
31 July 2018 

£’000 

 Year 
 Ended 

31 July 2017 
£’000 

Staff Costs for the above persons 
 
Wages and salaries 
Social security costs 
Other pension costs 
Restructuring costs 

  
 

8,958 
848 

2,109 
7 

  
 

8,246 
775 

1,902 
10 

 
 

  
11,922 

  
10,933 

 
 

    

Analysed as: 
Staff on permanent contracts 
Staff on temporary contracts 
Pension charge less contributions paid 
Restructuring costs 

  
9,777 
1,419 

719 
7 

  
9,255 
1,144 

524 
10 

   
11,922 

  
10,933 
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 Year  
Ended 

31 July 2018 
£’000 

 Year  
Ended 

31 July 2017 
£’000 

Analysed as: 
Teaching departments 
Teaching support services 
Administration 
Premises 
Catering and residences 
Other income-generating activities 
Other staff 
Pension charge less contributions paid 
Restructuring costs 

  
6,932 

979 
1,544 

616 
209 
731 
185 
719 

7 

  
6,482 

946 
1,447 

576 
192 
661 
95 

524 
10 

 
 

  
11,922 

  
10,933 

 
Key management personnel 
 
Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for 
planning, directing and controlling the activities of the College and are represented by the 
Senior Team which comprises the Principal and three Vice Principals. 
 
Emoluments of Key management personnel, Accounting Officer and other higher 
paid staff  
 
  

2018 
  

2017 
 

 No.  No. 
 
The number of key management personnel including 
the Accounting Officer was: 

 
 
4 

  
 
4 
 

 
The number of key management personnel and other staff who received annual 
emoluments, excluding pension contributions but including benefits in kind, in the following 
ranges was: 
 
 Key management personnel Other staff 

  
2018 

 
2017 

 
2018 

 
2017 

  
No. 

 
No. 

 
No. 

 
No. 

 
£60,001 to £70,000 
£110,001 to £120,000 

 
3 
1 

 
2 
1 

 
- 
- 

 
- 
- 

 
 

 
4 

 
3 

 
- 

 
- 
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Key management personnel emoluments are made up as follows: 
 
 2018 

 
2017 

 
 £’000 £’000 

Salaries 
Benefits in kind 

316 
- 

284 
- 

 316 284 
 
Pension contributions 

 
37 

 
50 

 
Total emoluments 

 
353 

 
334 

 
There were no amounts due to key management personnel that were waived in the year, nor 
any salary sacrifice arrangements in place.  The above emoluments include amounts payable to 
the Accounting officer (who is also the highest paid officer) of: 
 
 2018 

 
2017 

 
 £’000 £’000 

Salaries 
Benefits in kind 

112 
- 

110 
- 

 112 110 
 
Pension contributions 

 
- 

 
19 

 
Total emoluments 

 
112 

 
129 

 
Compensation for loss of office paid to former key management personnel 
 
 2018 

 
2017 

 
 £’000 £’000 

Compensation paid to former post-holders 
Estimated value of other benefits, including provision for 

pension benefits 

- 
- 
 

- 
- 
 

 
Overseas Activities 
 
The following costs were incurred during 2017-18 in respect of overseas activities which 
were carried out in accordance with the strategy approved by the board of governors: 
 
 Total 

Cost 
£ 

Contribution 
Received 

£ 

Net Costs To 
College 

£ 
Members - - - 
Senior post-holders - - - 
Other staff 52,375 - 52,375 
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7  OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES 
  Year  

Ended 
31 July 2018 

£’000 

 Year  
Ended 

31 July 2017 
£’000 

 
Teaching departments 
Teaching support services 
Administration 
Premises 
Catering 
Other income generating activities 
Overspend on student support funds 
Childcare fund costs 
Other 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
673 
234 

1,435 
1,701 

179 
473 
15 

685 
426 

  
603 
270 

1,353 
1,233 

170 
494 

- 
655 
260 

   
5,821 

  
5,038 

 
Other Operating Expenses (Administration) 
include: 
 

    

Auditors Remuneration (including irrecoverable 
VAT) 

- Internal audit 
- External audit 

Other services provided by: 
- Internal audit 
- External audit 
-  

  
 

21 
14 

 
- 
- 

  
 

33 
13 

 
- 
- 

  35  46 
 
 
8  INTEREST PAYABLE 
  Year  

Ended 
31 July 2018 

£’000 

 Year  
Ended 

31 July 2017 
£’000 

 
On bank loans, overdrafts and other loans 
Pension finance costs 

  
- 

233 
 

  
- 

214 
 

  233  214 
 
 
9 TAXATION 
 
The Board does not believe the College was liable for any corporation tax arising out of its 
activities during this period. 
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10  FIXED ASSETS 
 
 Land & 

Buildings 
Freehold 

£'000 

Fixed Plant 
 
 

£'000 

Equipment 
 

 
£’000 

Total 
 
 

£'000 
Cost or valuation 
 
At 31 July 2017 
Additions  
Disposals 
 

 
 

18,656 
- 

(327) 
 

 
 

1,798 
- 
- 
 

 
 

66 
- 
- 
 

 
 

20,520 
- 

(327) 
 

At 31  July 2018 18,329 1,798 66 20,193 
 
Depreciation 
 
At 31 July 2017 
Charge for Period 
Disposals 
 

 
 
 

841 
594 

(327) 
 

 
 
 

12 
186 

- 
 

 
 
 

7 
20 
- 

 
 
 

860 
800 

(327) 
 

At 31 July 2018 1,108 198 27 1,333 
 
Net Book Value 

    

At 31 July 2018 17,221 1,600 39 18,860 
 
Net Book Value 

    

At 31 July 2017 17,815 1,786 59 19,660 
     
Financed by: 
Capital Grant 

17,221 1,600 39 18,860 

 
 
The College’s land and buildings were independently valued by GVA James Barr as at 31 July 
2017.  This valuation has been incorporated into these financial statements. The basis of 
valuation adopted was depreciated replacement cost. Had they not been re-valued, inherited 
and owned land, buildings and fixed plant would have had an historic net book value of 
£16,151,000 (2017: £16,709,000). 
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11 TRADE AND OTHER RECOVERABLES 
  Year  

Ended 
31 July 2018 

£’000 
 

 Year  
Ended 

31 July 2017 
£’000 

Trade Debtors  
European Funding 
Prepayments and accrued income 
Amounts Owed by SFC 

 620 
7 

177 
60 

 328 
- 

171 
60 

 
 

  
864 

  
559 

 
 
 
12   CREDITORS:  Amounts falling due within one year 
 
  Year  

Ended 
31 July 2018 

£’000 
 

 Year  
Ended 

31 July 2017 
£’000 

Trade Creditors  
Taxation and Social Security 
Accruals and Deferred income 
Deferred Income – Deferred capital grant < 1 Year 
Deferred Income – SFC capital grants 
Deferred Income – SFC revenue grants 
Amounts Owed to SFC 
Unspent Student Funds 
 

 526 
399 
857 
457 
12 
6 

158 
13 

 437 
383 
554 
457 

5 
870 
158 
59 

   
2,428 

  
2,923 

 
 
 
13  CREDITORS:  Amounts falling due after one year 
 
  Year  

Ended 
31 July 2018 

£’000 
 

 Year  
Ended 

31 July 2017 
£’000 

 
Amounts Owed to SFC 
Deferred Income – SFC Capital grants 
 

  
2,369 

12,306 

  
2,527 

12,763 

 
 

  
14,675 

  
15,290 
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14 MATURITY OF DEBT  
 
SFC Loan is repayable as follows: 
  Year  

Ended 
31 July 2018 

£’000 
 

 Year  
Ended 

31 July 2017 
£’000 

In one year or less 
Between one and two years 
Between two and five years 
In five years or more 

 158 
158 
 632 

1,579 

 158 
158 
 632 

1,737 
 
 

  
2,527 

  
2,685 

 
The College voluntarily terminated its PFI contract in April 2007, at which point the title of the 
College buildings transferred to the College.  The College received total funding from SFC in 
April 2007 of £27.7million to enable it to terminate the contract.  This comprised a grant of 
£22.16million and a repayable advance of £5.54million representing the College’s own 
contribution towards the cost of the assets previously held under the PFI contract.   
 
The £5.54million advance is interest free and was repayable in equal instalments over 16 years.  
The first repayment was made in August 2010 and at 31 July 2018 the amount outstanding was 
£2,526,992.  In March 2014 the College made an upfront payment of £650,000 towards the loan 
and negotiated a reduced annual payment of £157,937 per annum with the Scottish Funding 
Council from April 2015. 
 
 
15 PROVISIONS  
 
 Defined 

Benefit 
Obligations  

 
£’000 

Early 
Retirement 

Provision  
 

£’000 

Other 
Provision 

 
 

£’000 

Total 
 
 
 

£'000 
 
At 1 August 2017 
 
Expenditure in the period 
Other movements in period 
 

 
4,416 

 
(673) 
(960)   

 
3,953 

 
(199) 
(66) 

 
- 
 

- 
- 
 

 
8,369 

 
(872) 

(1,026) 

 
At 31 July 2018 

 
2,783 

 
3,688 

 
- 

 
6,471 

 
Defined benefit obligations relate to liabilities under the College’s membership of the Local 
Government pension scheme.  Further details are given at Note 18. 
 
The early retirement provision is in accordance with a valuation carried out by Hymans 
Robertson, an independent firm of actuaries at 31 July 2018. 
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16 RESERVES 
 
Analysis of income and expenditure account 
 
 I&E 

Account  
Trading 

Activities 
 

£'000 
 

I&E 
Account  
Holiday 

Pay 
 

£,000 

I&E  
Account 

 PFI Loan 
 
 

£'000 
 

I&E  
Account 

 Early  
Retiremnt  

 
£'000 

 

I&E  
Account 
Defined 
Benefit 
Pension  

£’000 

Total 
 
 
 
 

£'000 

At 31 July 2017 
 

(82) (137) (2,685) (3,953) (4,416) (11,273) 

Total 
comprehensive 
income for the year 
(excluding 
revaluation) 
 

29 (16) 
 
 
 

- 66 1,633 1,712 

Transfer from 
Revaluation 
Reserve 
  

299 - - - - 299 

Repayments of PFI 
loan 
  

(158)  158 - - - 

Payments for early 
retirement 
 

(199) -  199 - - 

 
At 31 July 2018 

 
(111) 

 
(153) 

 
(2,527) 

 
(3,688) 

 
(2,783) 

 
(9,262) 

 
 
 
 
17 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
  
 At 1 August 

2017 
 £'000 

 
Cash Flows 

 £'000 
 

 
Other 
£'000 

At 31 July 
2018 

 £'000 

Cash 
Debt due within 1 year 
Debt due after 1 year 

1,530 
(158) 

(2,527) 

(801) 
158 

- 

- 
(158) 

158 

729 
(158) 

(2,369) 
 
 

 
(1,155) 

 
(643) 

 
- 

 
(1,798) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 West Lothian College  
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 

_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Accounts 2018 Page 53  DRAFT 7 

18 PENSION COMMITMENTS 
 
The College’s employees belong to two principal pension schemes: the Scottish Teachers’ 
Superannuation Scheme (STSS), and the Lothian Pension Fund (LPF).   
 
 
Total pension cost for the period Year  

Ended 
31 July 2018 

£’000 
 

Year  
Ended 

31 July 2017 
£’000 

 
STSS contributions paid 
 

 717  708 

LPF Pension scheme: 
        Contributions paid 
        FRS 102 (28) charge 
 

 
673 
719 

  
670 
524 

 

Charge to the Statement of Comprehensive Income 
 

 1,392  1,194 

 
Total Pension Cost  for the period within staff costs 

  
2,109 

  
1,902 

 
Contributions amounting to £120,000 (2017 £113,000) were payable to the schemes at 31 July 
and are included within creditors. 
 
Scottish Teachers Superannuation Scheme 
 
The Scottish Teachers' Superannuation Scheme is a notional fund valued every year by the 
Government actuary.  Contributions are paid by the College at the rate specified.  The Scheme 
is unfunded and contributions are made to the Exchequer.  The payments from the scheme are 
made from funds voted by the Scottish Parliament.  The contribution rate payable by the 
employer since 1 April 2015 is 17.2% of pensionable salaries. 
 
Under the definitions set out in Financial Reporting Standard 102 (28.11) (FRS 102), the STSS 
is a multi-employer pension plan.  The College is unable to identify its share of the underlying 
assets and liabilities of the scheme.  Accordingly, the College has taken advantage of its 
exemption in FRS 102 and has accounted for its contributions as if it were a defined contribution 
plan. The College has set out above the information available on the plan and the implications 
for the College in terms of the anticipated contribution rates. 
 
Lothian Pension Fund Scheme 
 
The Lothian Pension Fund is valued every three years by professionally qualified independent 
actuaries using the projected unit credit method, the rates of contribution payable being 
determined by the trustees on the advice of the actuaries.  In the intervening years, the LPF 
actuary reviews the progress of the LPF scheme. 
 
The Lothian Pension Fund is a funded defined-benefit plan, with assets held in separate funds 
administered by City of Edinburgh Council.  The total contributions made for the year ended 31 
July 2018 were £887,000 and employees’ contributions totalled £214,000.  The agreed 
contribution rates for future years for the employer are 18.8% from 1st April 2018, 19.3% from 1st 
April 2019 and 19.8% from 1st April 2020.  For employees, contribution rates range from 5.5% to 
12.0% depending on salary. 
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Principal Actuarial assumptions 
 
The following information is based upon a full actuarial valuation of the fund at 31 March 2017 
updated to 31 July 2018 by a qualified independent actuary. 
 
 At 31 July  

2018 
 

At 31 July  
2017 

 
Rate of increase in salaries 4.1% 4.5% 
Future pensions increases 2.4% 2.5% 
Discount rate for scheme liabilities 2.8% 2.7% 
Inflation assumption (CPI) 2.4% 2.4% 
Commutation of pensions – pre April 2009 50% 50% 
Commutation of pensions – post April 2009 75% 75% 

 
 
The current mortality assumptions include sufficient allowance for future improvements in 
mortality rate. The assumed life expectations on retirement at age 65 are: 
 
 
 

Males Females 

Current pensioners 21.7 years 24.3 years 
Future pensioners  24.7 years 27.5 years 

 
 
The College’s share of assets in the scheme and the expected rate of return are: 

 
 Long term 

rate of 
return  

 

Fair Value 
at  

31 July 
2018 
£'000 

Long term 
rate of 
return  

 

Fair Value 
 at  

31 July 
2017 
£'000 

     
Equities 2.8% 16,106 2.7% 15,572 
Bonds 2.8% 2,092 2.7% 2,396 
Property 2.8% 1,464 2.7% 1,198 
Cash 2.8% 1,255 2.7% 798 
     
Total fair value of employer assets  20,917  19,964 
     
 
Actual return on employer assets 

  
461 

  
2,116 
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The amount included in the balance sheet in respect of the defined benefit pension plan 
is as follows: 
 
 Year Ended 

31 July 2018 
£'000 

Year Ended 
31 July 2017 

£'000 
   
Fair value of employer assets 20,917 19,964 
Present value of funded liabilities (23,700) (24,380) 
   
Net Pension Liability (2,783) (4,416) 

 
 
Amounts recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income in respect of the plan 
are as follows: 
 
 Year Ended 

31 July 2018 
£'000 

Year Ended 
31 July 2017 

£'000 
Amounts included in staff costs   
   
Current service cost 1,392 1,194 
Past service cost 
 

- - 

Total 1,392 1,194 
 
 
Amounts included in Pension Costs   
   
Net pension costs 
 

129 121 

Total 129 121 
 
 
Amounts recognised in Other Comprehensive 
Income 

  

   
Return on pension assets (84) 1.696 
Change in demographic assumptions (26) - 
Change in financial assumptions 1,385 - 
Other experience 
 

1,206 (668) 

Total 2,481  1,028 
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Movement in net defined benefit (liability) during year Year  
Ended 

31 July 2018 
£’000 

Year  
Ended 

31 July 2017 
£’000 

   
Net defined benefit (liability) at start of period (4,416) (4,799) 
Movement in period:   

Current service costs (1,392) (1,194) 
Employer contributions 673 670 
Net interest on the defined liability (129) (121) 
Actuarial gain or loss 2,481 1,028 

 
Net defined benefit (liability) at end of period 

 
(2,783) 

 
(4,416) 

 
 
Asset and Liability Reconciliation 
 
 
Changes in fair value of plan assets Year  

Ended 
31 July 2018 

£’000 

Year  
Ended 

31 July 2017 
£’000 

   
Fair value of plan assets at start of period 19,964 17,188 
Interest on plan assets 545 420 
Return on plan assets (84) 1,696 
Employer contributions 673 670 
Contributions by plan participants 214 202 
Benefits paid (395) (212) 
 
Fair value of plan assets at end of period 

 
20,917 

 
19,964 

 
 
Changes in the present value of defined benefit 
obligations 

Year  
Ended 

31 July 2018 
£’000 

Year  
Ended 

31 July 2017 
£’000 

   
Defined benefit obligation at start of period 24,380 21,987 
Current service cost 1,392 1,194 
Interest cost 674 541 
Contributions by plan participants 214 202 
Changes in demographic assumptions 26 - 
Changes in financial assumptions (1,385) 668 
Other experience (1,206) - 
Benefits paid (395) (212) 

Defined benefit obligation at end of period 23,700 24,380 
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19 FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 
 
Financial Assets 
 
Financial assets that are debt instruments measured at amortised cost totalled £645,000 (2017: 
£388,000) at the balance sheet date.  This comprises trade debtors and amounts owed by SFC. 
 
Financial Liabilities 
 
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost totalled £3,923,000 (2017: £3,735,000) at the 
balance sheet date.  This comprises trade creditors, accruals, unspent student funds and 
amounts owed to SFC. 
 
 
20 LOSSES AND SPECIAL PAYMENTS 
 
 
Above SFC annual reporting 
requirements 

SFC 
Requirement 
Per Instance 

 
2018 

Number 

 
2018 

£Total 
 
Debt write-off 

 
£3,000 

 
- 

 
- 

Cash losses £3,000 - - 
Ex-gratia payments £1,000 1 1,959 
Compensation payments £5,000 - - 

 
The ex-gratia payment was approved by the Scottish Funding Council in December 2017 
 
21   CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 
 
At 31 July the College had commitments of a capital nature as follows: 
 
 2018 

£000 
2017 
£000 

 
Committed but not contracted 

 
- 

 
50 

Committed and contracted - 6 
   

 
The committed not contracted value for 2017 related to the planned purchase of an IT backup 
and restore solution. The committed and contracted amount related to residual commitments in 
respect of the extension works to the Skills Workshop and Gym Hall areas completed three 
years ago. 
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22 LEASE OBLIGATIONS 
 
At 31 July the College had minimum lease payments under non‐cancellable operating leases as 
follows: 
 
 2018  

£’000 
2017 
£000 

 
Other 

 
 

 
 

 
Expiring within one year 
Expiring between one and five years 
Expiring in more than five years 

 
23 

                        - 
- 

 
23 

                        23 
- 

   
 23 46 

 
During 2017/18 the College paid £26,000 in operating lease rentals. 
 
 
23 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 
 
There were no contingent liabilities at Balance Sheet date. 
 
 
24 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
Owing to the nature of the College’s operations and the composition of the board of governors 
being drawn from local public and private organisations, it is inevitable that transactions will take 
place with organisations in which a member of the board of governors may have an interest.  All 
transactions involving such organisations are conducted at arm’s length and in accordance with 
the College’s financial regulations and normal procurement procedures. 
 
The College had transactions during the year or worked in partnership with the following publicly 
funded or representative bodies in which members of the Board of Governors hold or held official 
positions. 
 

Name 
 

Organisation Position 

 
Mr Thomas Bates 
 
Mr Graham Hope 
 
Mr Ian McIntosh 
 

 
Lareine Engineering Ltd 
 
West Lothian Council 
 
Edinburgh Napier University 
 

 
Director 
 
Chief Executive 
 
Leadership Consultant 
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The value of the transactions due to/by the College for the twelve months ended 31 July 2018, 
and the amount outstanding at this date was as follows: 
 
Organisation Year ended 31 July 2018 

 
Year ended 31 July 2017 

 
 Total Value of 

Transactions 
£’000 

Balance 
Outstanding 

£’000 

Total Value of 
Transactions 

£’000 

Balance 
Outstanding 

£’000 
 
Due to WLC 
 
Lareine Engineering Ltd 
West Lothian Council 
Edinburgh Napier 
University 
 

 
 
 

1 
72 

329 
 

 
 
 
- 

28 
73 
 

 
 
 
- 

134 
352 

 

 
 
 
- 

24 
4 
 

 
Due by WLC 
 
University of Edinburgh 
West Lothian Council 
Edinburgh Napier 
University 
 

 
 
 

2 
103 

- 

 
 
 
- 

11 
- 

 
 
 

2 
107 
2 

 
 
 
- 

54 
- 

 
The total expenses paid to or on behalf of the Governors during the year was £967 ; 2 governors 
(2017: £500 ; 2 governors).  This represents travel and subsistence expenses and other out of 
pocket expenses in attending Governor meetings and other events in their official capacity. 
 
The Chair of the Board received a salary in accordance with the directions issued by the Scottish 
Government.  The total paid to the Chair over the period was £22,532 (2017: £21,000)
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25 FE BURSARIES AND OTHER STUDENT SUPPORT FUNDS 
 

 FE 
Bursary 
£’000 

 

FE  
Discr’y 
£’000 

 
EMAs 
£’000 

 
Other 
£’000 

2017-18 
Total 
£’000 

2016-17 
Total 
£’000 

Balance b/fwd 
 

59 - (31) - 28 25 

Allocations 
received in year 
 

2,532 193 303 195 3,223 3,074 

Expenditure 
 

(1,970) (569) (299) (210) (3,048) (2,857) 

Repaid to SFC  
 

(95) - - 
 

- (95) (26) 

College 
Contribution  
 

- - - 15 15 - 

Virements 
 

(513) 376 - - (137) (188) 

 
Balance c/fwd 

 
13 

 
- 

 
(27) 

 
- 

 
(14) 

 
28 

 
Residual cash balances and the corresponding creditor / (debtor) are included in the balance 
sheet.  FE Bursaries and Student Support Funds are available solely for students; the College 
acts only as paying agent.  The grants and related disbursements are therefore excluded from 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income.   
 
 
26 CHILDCARE FUNDS 
 
 2017-18 

£’000 
 

2016-17 
£’000 

 
Balance b/fwd - - 

Allocations received in year 548 467 

Expenditure (685) (655) 

College contribution - - 

Virements 137 188 

 
 Balance c/fwd 

 
- 

 
- 

 
Residual cash balances and the corresponding creditor are included in the balance sheet.  
Childcare Funds are reported gross in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.   
 
 
27 POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS 
 
There have been no significant post balance sheet events. 
 
 



 West Lothian College  
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 

_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Accounts 2018 Page 61  DRAFT 7 

28 IMPACT OF DEPRECIATION BUDGET ON STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE 
INCOME 

 
Following reclassification, colleges received a non-cash budget to cover depreciation but this 
additional budget is not recognised under the FE/HE SORP accounting rules.  Colleges may 
show a deficit equivalent to net depreciation as a result of having to meet Government 
accounting rules and the requirement to spend the entire cash allocation. 
 
Under the FE/HE SORP, the college recorded an operating deficit of £939,000 for the year 
ended 31 July 2018.  After adjusting for the non-cash allocation provided under government 
rules, the college shows an ‘adjusted’ deficit of £749,000 on a Central Government basis. 
 
 2017-18 

 
£’000 

 

2016-17 
 

£’000 

Deficit before other gains and losses (FE/HE 
SORP basis) for academic year 
 

(939) (277) 

Add: Depreciation budget for government funded 
assets (net of deferred capital grant) for academic 
year 
 

190 190 

Operating deficit on Central Government 
accounting basis for academic year 
 
 

(749) (87) 

 
The deficit is attributable to other factors reflected in the adjusted operating table (see page 13) 
and the college is therefore operating sustainably within its funding allocation. 
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Appendix 1 
 
Accounts Direction 
 
The following note is taken from the 2017-18 SFC Accounts Directions and has been 
included as required by SFC.  It does not form part of the Financial Statements. 
 
2017-18 Accounts direction for Scotland’s colleges 

 

 
1 It is the Scottish Funding Council’s direction that colleges comply with the 2015 

Statement of Recommended Practice: Accounting for Further and Higher 
Education (SORP) in preparing their annual report and accounts. 

 

2 Colleges must comply with the accounts direction in the preparation of their 
annual report and accounts in accordance with the Financial Memorandum 
with the Scottish Funding Council (SFC) or the Regional Strategic Body (for 
assigned colleges). 

 

3 Incorporated colleges are also required to comply with the Government 
Financial Reporting Manual 2017-18 (FReM) where applicable. 

 

4 Incorporated colleges are reminded that they must send two copies of their 
annual report and accounts to the Auditor General for Scotland by 31 December 
2018. 

 
5 The annual report and accounts should be signed by the chief executive officer 

and by the chair, or one other member of the governing body. 
 

6 Incorporated colleges should reproduce this Direction as an appendix to the 
annual report and accounts. 

 
 

Scottish Funding Council  
13 July 2018 
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Audit Committee 
 
Annual report to the Board of Governors and the Auditor General for 
Scotland 2017-18 
 
The attached Report summarises the findings from the year-end audit for the 
year ended 31 July 2018.   
 
The conclusions of the report are: 
 
• an unqualified opinion, without modification, will be issued on the financial 

statements; 
 
• an unqualified regularity opinion will be issued , meaning that in the 

auditor’s opinion, in all material respects the expenditure and income 
recognised in the financial statements have been applied for the 

 purposes intended; 
 
•  the college has effective arrangements, including budgetary control, that 

help the Board members scrutinise finances; and 
 
•  the college has governance arrangements in place that provide 

appropriate scrutiny of decisions made by the Board and are reflected in 
the governance statement. 

 
 
Action 
 
The Committee is asked to review and discuss the findings within the Report. 
 
 
 
 
Jennifer McLaren 
Vice Principal, Finance & Curriculum Services  
29 November 2018 
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Apex 2

97 Haymarket Terrace

Edinburgh

EH12 5HD

The Audit Committee

West Lothian College

Almondvale Crescent

Livingston

West Lothian

EH54 7EP

29 November 2018

Dear Members

Annual Audit Report – Year ended 31 July 2018

We are pleased to present our Annual Audit Report for the year ended 31 July 2018. The purpose of this document is to

summarise our audit conclusions.

The scope of our work, including identified significant audit risks and other areas of management judgement, was outlined in

our Audit Strategy Memorandum which we presented on 7 June 2018. We have reviewed our Audit Strategy Memorandum

and concluded that the original significant audit risks and other areas of management judgement remain appropriate. We

would like to express our thanks for the assistance of your team during our audit.

If you would like to discuss any matters in more detail then please do not hesitate to contact me on 07387 242 052.

Yours faithfully

Lucy Nutley

Mazars LLP

Mazars LLP is the UK firm of Mazars, an integrated international advisory and accountancy organisation. Mazars LLP is a limited liability partnership 
registered in England and Wales with registered number OC308299 and with its registered office at Tower Bridge House, St Katharine’s Way, London 
E1W 1DD.

We are registered to carry on audit work in the UK and Ireland by the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. Details about our audit 
registration can be viewed at www.auditregister.org.uk under reference number C001139861.
VAT number: 839 8356 73

Mazars LLP – Apex 2, 97 Haymarket Terrace, Edinburgh, EH12 5HD
Tel: 0131 313 7900 – www.mazars.co.uk



Purpose of this report and principal conclusions

This Annual Audit Report sets out the findings from our audit of West Lothian College (‘the College’) for the year ended 31 July 2018,

and forms the basis for discussion at the Audit Committee meeting on 29 November 2018.

Our responsibilities are defined by the Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000 and the Code of Audit Practice (‘the Code’)

issued by Audit Scotland. Subject to the satisfactory completion of the outstanding work, at the time of issuing this report we have the

following conclusions:

Our proposed audit opinion is included in the draft auditor’s report in Appendix B.

Misstatements and internal control recommendations

Section 3 outlines the misstatement noted as part of our audit as at the time of issuing this report. If any additional misstatements are

noted on completion of the outstanding work, these will be reported to the Audit Committee.

As part of our audit we have considered the internal controls in place that are relevant to the preparation of the financial statements. We 
do this to design audit procedures that allow us to express an opinion on the financial statements; this does not extend to expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of internal control or to identify any significant deficiencies in their design or operation. 

We have identified no recommendations for the improvement of internal controls at the College during our audit. In addition, there were 
no recommendations from the prior year which required to be followed up.

We anticipate concluding as follows against the wider scope dimensions for smaller bodies:

• The College has effective arrangements, including budgetary control, that help the Board members 

scrutinise finances; and

• The College has governance arrangements in place that provide appropriate scrutiny of decisions made 

by the Board and are reflected in their governance statement

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
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We anticipate issuing an unqualified opinion, without modification, on the financial statements. 

We anticipate issuing an unqualified regularity opinion, meaning that in our opinion, in all material 

respects the expenditure and income recognised in the financial statements have been applied for the 

purposes intended.
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We anticipate issuing an unqualified opinion on the matters prescribed by the Auditor General for 

Scotland. Namely that the remuneration and staff report, performance report and governance statement 

have been properly prepared in accordance with the relevant legislation

Opinion on 

other 

requirements



Status of our audit work

We have substantially completed our work on the financial statements and wider scope work for the year ended 31 July 2018. At the

time of preparing this report the following matters remain outstanding:

Our audit approach

We provided details of our intended audit approach in our Audit Strategy Memorandum in June 2018. We have not made any changes

to our audit approach since we presented our Audit Strategy Memorandum to the Audit Committee.

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY (CONTINUED)
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Financial statements
A final review of the Annual Report and Financial Statements will be completed on receipt 

of the final draft document



Materiality

Materiality is an expression of the relative significance or importance of a particular matter in the context of financial statements as a

whole. Misstatements in financial statements are considered to be material if they, individually or in aggregate, could reasonably be

expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

We set materiality at the planning stage of the audit at £339k using a benchmark of 2% of gross expenditure. Our final assessment of

materiality, based on the final financial statements and qualitative factors is £376k, using the same benchmark.

The assessment of what is material is a matter of professional judgement and is affected by our perception of the financial information
needs of the users of the financial statements. In making our assessment we assume that users:

• have a reasonable knowledge of business, economic activities and accounts;

• have a willingness to study the information in the financial statements with reasonable diligence;

• understand that financial statements are prepared, presented and audited to levels of materiality;

• recognise the uncertainties inherent in the measurement of amounts based on the use of estimates, judgement and the
consideration of future events; and

• will make reasonable economic decisions on the basis of the information in the financial statements.

We consider materiality whilst planning and performing our audit based on quantitative and qualitative factors

Performance Materiality
Our audit testing is based on a level of performance materiality, which is a percentage of overall materiality, but also dependent on the 
level of inherent risk assessed on the area being tested. It is lower than overall materiality as it helps to reduce the risk that the total of 
the uncorrected or undetected misstatements does not exceed materiality for the financial statements as a whole.  It is based on
between 50 – 80% of overall materiality depending on the risk level.  Our initial assessment of performance materiality is based on low 
inherent risk, meaning that we have applied 80% of overall materiality as performance materiality.

Misstatements

We aggregate misstatements identified during the audit that are other than clearly trivial. We set a level of triviality for individual errors
identified (a reporting threshold) for reporting to the Audit Committee that is consistent with the level of triviality that we consider would
not need to be accumulated because we expect that the accumulation of such amounts would not have a material effect on the financial
statements. This level was set at 3% of materiality.

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY (CONTINUED)
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Threshold
Initial threshold

£’000

Final threshold

£’000

Overall materiality 339 376

Performance materiality 272 300

Trivial threshold for errors to be reported to the Audit Committee 10 11



2. AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Set out below are the significant findings from our audit. These findings include:

• our audit conclusions regarding significant risks and key areas of management judgement outlined in the Audit Strategy
Memorandum;

• our comments in respect of the accounting policies and disclosures that you have adopted in the financial statements. On
page 12 we have concluded whether the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the financial reporting
framework and commented on any significant accounting policy changes that have been made during the year; and

• any significant difficulties we experienced during the audit.

Significant risks and key areas of management judgement
As part of our planning procedures we considered the risks of material misstatement in the College’s financial statements that required
special audit consideration. Although we report identified significant risks at the planning stage of the audit in our Audit Strategy
Memorandum, our risk assessment is a continuous process and we regularly consider whether new significant risks have arisen and
how we intend to respond to these risks. No new risks have been identified since we issued our Audit Strategy Memorandum.

6

Management override 

of controls

Description of the risk

In all entities, management at various levels within an organisation are in a unique position to

perpetrate fraud because of their ability to manipulate accounting records and prepare fraudulent

financial statements by overriding controls that otherwise appear to be operating effectively. Due to

the unpredictable way in which such override could occur, we consider there to be a risk of material

misstatement due to fraud and thus a significant risk on all audits.

How we addressed this risk

We addressed this risk through performing audit work over:

• Accounting estimates impacting on amounts included in the financial statements;

• Consideration of identified significant transactions outside the normal course of business; and

• Journals recorded in the general ledger and other adjustments made in preparation of the

financial statements.

Audit conclusion

Satisfactory assurance has been gained over the presumed risk of management override. We have

no matters to report.
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Revenue 

recognition

Description of the risk

There is a presumption under International Standards on Auditing that there is a significant risk of fraud and 

error in the timing of revenue recognition leading to the material misstatement of revenue overall.  This is 

because revenue is an area of particular focus by all users of financial statements and can be subject to 

judgements as to when income for services should be recognised.

This risk only applies to the non-grant income generated by the College.  The risk has been rebutted in 

relation to grant income received by the College, given the highly regulated nature of this income.

How we addressed this risk

We addressed this risk through performing work over:

• The design and implementation of controls management has in place to ensure income is recognised in

the correct period;

• Cash receipts around the year end and to ensure they have been recognised in the right year; and

• The judgements made by management in determining when income for the services is recognised.

Audit conclusion

Satisfactory assurance has been gained over the presumed risk of revenue recognition. We have no

matters to report.
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2. AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Valuation of 

pension liabilities

Description of the management judgement

The College makes contributions to two pension schemes – the Scottish Teachers Superannuation Scheme 

(STSS) and the Lothian Pension Fund (LPF).  While both are defined benefit schemes, it is not possible to 

identify the College’s share of the underlying assets and liabilities in the STSS and it is therefore accounted 

for as a defined contribution scheme.

The College’s share of the LPF’s underlying assets and liabilities is identifiable and a net liability is 

recognised in the accounts.

Given the scale of the liability recognised in the accounts, a misstatement in the reported position could be 

material to the financial statements.

How our audit addressed this area of management judgement

We considered the College’s arrangements, including the existence of any relevant controls, for making

estimates in relation to pension entries within the financial statements.

We also considered the reasonableness of the actuary’s assumptions used in providing the College with

information in the financial statements through the use of our internal experts.

Audit conclusion

Our audit work has provided satisfactory assurance over the valuation of the pension liability reported in the 

accounts and the actuarial assumptions used to calculate the liability. We have no matters to report. 
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Key areas of management judgement

Key areas of management judgement include accounting estimates which are material but are not considered to give rise to a 

significant risk of material misstatement. These areas of management judgement represent other areas of audit emphasis.
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2. AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Valuation of land 

and buildings

Description of the management judgement

The College holds a significant level of land and buildings – reporting a net book value of £17.8m as at 31 

July 2017.

In line with the requirements of the Government Financial Reporting Manual, the College has adopted a 

formal revaluation policy of an external valuation every five years, with a desktop, interim valuation 

performed during the five year period.  The interim valuation was performed as at 31 July 2017, so there is 

no revaluation in the current year.

The College policy meets the requirement of the FE SORP that assets are valued sufficiently regularly so 

that the carrying value of the asset is not materially different from its fair value.

The College is also required to assess on an annual basis whether there are indicators of impairment to 

assets at the reporting date.

Given the significance of the value of fixed assets held, a misstatement in the valuation could be material to 

the financial statements.

How our audit addressed this area of management judgement

We undertook a range of substantive procedures including:

• Review of management’s assessment as to whether the value still reflects the prior year valuation;

• Review of the reconciliation between the College’s asset register and general ledger; and

• Considered the College’s impairment review process for land and buildings.

Audit conclusion

Our audit work has provided satisfactory assurance over the valuation of the land and buildings. We have 

no matters to report. 
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Financial Performance
The College is required to report financial performance under the HE/FE SORP, resulting in the reported surplus/deficit of £1,712k in the

Statement of Comprehensive Income. However, as a central government body, the College is also required under the Accounts

Direction from the Scottish Funding Council to report financial performance as an ‘adjusted operating position’. We set out these

required positions below.

The decrease in income of £781k mainly relates to a reduction in the release of SFC deferred grants during the year compared to the

prior year, while other income sources generally showed increases. The overall accounting deficit has increased by £662k as a result of

the decreased income.

Staff cost increases have been primarily driven by the outcome of national bargaining. The percentage increase is reflective of the sector

as a whole. Overall expenditure has decreased due to the impairment of asset values in the prior year, which has subsequently reduced

the annual depreciation charge on some assets. The remaining expenditure is reasonably consistent with the prior year aside from

premises expenses where £578k was spent on window repairs during the current year. This expenditure was offset by a grant received

from the SFC.

All other expenditure is reasonably consistent with the prior year.

While showing an accounting deficit, we highlight that:

• The College met its student credit target confirming the level of funding in the financial statements;

• The College achieved its financial targets in line with its plan; and

• There were no significant changes to the reported position during the year.
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2017/18

£’000

2016/17

£’000

Operating income 17,837 18,618

Staff costs 11,922 10,933

Operating expenditure 6,854 7,962

Operating Deficit for the year (FE/HE SORP basis) (939) (277)



Adjusted operating position

The table above sets out the financial position in accordance with the SORP requirements. The table below reflects the ‘adjusted

operating position’ as required by the Accounts Direction set by the SFC. The adjusted operating position removes more volatile

accounting entries, such as the valuation of pensions and those that do not have an immediate cash impact on the College. Full details

of the adjustments included are shown on page 13 in the accounts.

The College’s position has more or less achieved a break even adjusted operating position in the current year. This is encouraging as

the deficit before other gains and losses was significantly higher than in the previous year. The College is operating sustainably within its

funding allocation.
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2017/18

£’000

2016/17

£’000

Deficit before other gains and losses (939) (277)

Add back:

- Depreciation (net of deferred capital grant release)

- Non-cash pension adjustments for the Lothian Pension Fund

343

848

199

645

Deduct:

- CBP allocated to loan repayments

- CBP allocated to Early Retirement payments

- Balance of payments to ERP

158

32

63

158

-

107

Adjusted operating (deficit/)/surplus (1) 302



Qualitative aspects of the entity’s accounting practices
We have reviewed the College’s accounting policies and disclosures and concluded they comply with the requirements of the 2015

Statement of Recommended Practice: Accounting for Further and Higher Education and the Government Financial Reporting Manual

2017/18 , appropriately tailored to the College’s circumstances.

Our audit fieldwork commenced on 1 October 2018, with the first draft of the annual report and accounts being received from the

Finance Manager on 2 October 2018 which was later than anticipated. The draft annual report and accounts were of an acceptable

quality, although several further versions were issued due to financial and disclosure adjustments being made.

Producing quality supporting working papers is a crucial part of compiling financial statements that are complete and materially accurate.

They also support the delivery of an efficient audit. Working papers provided for audit were good and staff were responsive to our

requests during the audit.

Significant difficulties during the audit
During the course of the audit we did not encounter any significant difficulties and we have had the full co-operation of management.
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The total effect of the adjustments above were to decrease expenditure (and therefore decrease the accounting deficit)

by £47k.

Disclosure amendments 2017/18

The audit review process suggested amendments to the Corporate Governance Statement to ensure this is in line with the Accounts

Direction issued by the Scottish Funding Council.

A number of other minor presentational amendments were made following review of the draft Annual Report and Accounts and

discussion with management.
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Statement of 

Comprehensive Income
Balance Sheet

Dr (£’000) Cr (£’000) Dr (£’000) Cr (£’000)

1 Dr: Bad debt provision 

Cr: Expenditure 14

14

Being release of bad debt provision for debt repaid post year end.

2 Dr: Employer suspense account

Cr: Expenditure 19

19

Release of funds in suspense account that have been fully reconciled.

3 Dr: Debtors

Cr: Income 2

2

Being monies received from CITB not processed to income.

4 Dr: Prepayments

Cr: Expenditure 14

14

Being correction of 2018/19 expenditure incorrectly processed in 2017/18.

3. SUMMARY OF MISSTATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

There were no unadjusted misstatements identified during the course of the audit above the trivial threshold of £11k.

The table below outlines the misstatements that have been adjusted by management during the course of the audit.

Adjusted misstatements 2017/18
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Our approach to wider scope work

The Code requires us to conclude and make a judgement on the four dimensions of wider scope work. These are:

• financial sustainability;

• financial management;

• governance and transparency; and

• value for money.

In recognition that audit work should be risk based and proportionate to the nature and size of the audited body, the Code allows auditors
to determine whether application of the full wider scope work is appropriate in smaller bodies. At the planning stage, we considered that
the audit of West Lothian College should be carried out under the small body provisions of the Code. We have reached this conclusion
through our assessment of:

• the relative size of the College;

• the relative simplicity of the College’s functions;

• the College’s risk profile; and

• the results of our full review of wider scope dimensions in 2016/17 that did not indicate any areas of higher risk.

In line with the Code requirements, our work has therefore focused on financial sustainability and the governance statement.
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Dimension
Financial sustainability extends the going concern assumption from the financial statements, looking forward two to five years, reviewing 
and assessing arrangements for financial planning and affordable and sustainable service delivery in this timescale.

Our conclusion

West Lothian College has adequate financial planning arrangements in place.

Financial Planning

A review of the minutes of the Finance Committee and onwards to the Board demonstrated effective challenge of the financial position

by members throughout the year.

In its annual review of the FE sector, Audit Scotland’s ‘Scotland’s Colleges 2018’ noted that the Scottish Funding Council (SFC) now

requires colleges to prepare six-year financial forecasts, with the current forecasts running from 2016-17 to 2021-22. The SFC has been

working with sector representatives to develop a set of common assumptions that colleges should use for longer-term financial

forecasting. These assumptions are used to produce a financial forecast return (FFR) which is submitted to the SFC annually.

The College has a 6 year plan (which runs from 2017/18 to 2022/23), which is in line with the SFC requirements. There are inherent

uncertainties around SFC funding for the College and student support funds, which provide difficulties in forecasting accurately.

The College’s forecast as presented to, and approved by the Board is as follows:

The figures above are based on the following:

� Income assumptions provided by the SFC with additional credits and grants assumed in 2020/21 onwards with additional lecturing 
costs incorporated as appropriate;

� A largely flat income level for other/alternative income levels – but incorporates as element of growth the College consider achievable. 
The College has recently been notified that the re-tender for the training contract with Children's Hearings Scotland has been 
successful which will provide additional income (and costs) for 3 years;

� Increase in operational expenditure over the 6 years from £18.8m to £19.8m; and

� Salaries increasing slightly from being 67% to being 72% of total expenditure.
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Forecast

2018/19

£000

Forecast

2019/20

£000

Forecast

2020/21

£000

Forecast

2021/22

£000

Forecast

2022/23

£000

Total income 18,513 19,268 20,004 20,097 20,078

Staff costs 13,468 14,045 14,742 14,939 14,951

Total expenditure 5,897 6,075 6,114 6,010 5,979

Deficit before other gains & losses (852) (852) (852) (852) (852)

Add back:

- Depreciation (net of deferred capital grant release)

- Non-cash pension adjustments for the LPF

325

813

325

813

325

813

325

813

325

813

Deduct:

- CBP allocated to loan repayments and other capital items 258 258 258 258 258

Underlying operating result 28 28 28 28 28



The forecast on the previous page was submitted to the SFC as their FFR. However, on request from the SFC, a further FFR has now

been developed, with the following differences:

- The additional credits and grants assumed in 2020/21 onwards with additional lecturing costs incorporated as appropriate have been

removed from the forecast; and

- The SFC had advised that adjustments in relation to the pension should be removed, so the non-cash balances are not added back in

the calculation.

We understand that the Board, with the new Principal, are reviewing the projected outcomes of the forecast and are considering

efficiency savings that can be implemented to mitigate the funding gap identified.

We consider that financial planning is appropriately managed by the College, and that scrutiny and discussion over future financial plans

are built into the various committee and Board meetings.

Asset Management and Estates Strategy

An Estates Strategy 2015-2025 is in place. It was introduced to complement the College strategic and operational plans. The key aim of 
the Estate Strategy is to ensure maintenance of high quality fit for purpose facilities, minimum environmental impact and operational 
sustainability. The Board of Governors, through the Finance & General Purposes Committee monitors the strategy, and it is reviewed 
every 3 years in conjunction with the Corporate Plan.

During the year, Gardiner & Theobald were appointed by the Scottish Funding Council in January 2017 to provide a summary of the 
conditions of the estates within the Scottish Further Education sector, being the first independent review of the college estate in Scotland 
for 10 years. 

The West Lothian College survey showed an estimate of £2 million of costs over the 5 year period from 2017-18 to 2022-23, with only 
£17k being identified as urgent. The report states that expenditure of this level is to be expected with buildings approaching 20 years old. 
The work marked as urgent has already been completed, and the remaining works are currently being planned. 

We consider that appropriate attention is given to the estate and assets, and that their maintenance is factored into long term plans and 
discussions.
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Forecast

2018/19

£000

Forecast

2019/20

£000

Forecast

2020/21

£000

Forecast

2021/22

£000

Forecast

2022/23

£000

Underlying operating result (including growth – Scenario 1) 28 28 28 28 28

Underlying operating result (excluding growth – Scenario 2) (4) (4) (95) (135) (278)

Decrease in underlying operating result (32) (32) (123) (147) (306)



Dimension
Governance and transparency covers the effectiveness of scrutiny and governance arrangements, leadership and decision making and
transparent reporting of financial and performance information.

Our conclusion

West Lothian College has governance arrangements in place that provide appropriate scrutiny of decisions made by the 
Board, these are reflected in the governance statement

Governance arrangements

Our work in this area has considered the overall governance arrangements in place at the College, reviewed the financial and

performance reporting to the Board of Governors, and reviewed the minutes of committees to inform our assessment of the

appropriateness of the governance structure. We have also attended Audit Committees during the year.

Subsequent to the year end, the Principal of the College resigned on 3 August 2018 and a new Principal, Jackie Galbraith took up post 
on 6 August 2018. The new Principal will be approving and signing the Performance Report and she has received full assurances over
the Governance arrangements in place at the College from the Senior Team for the year ended 31 July 2018. This has been 
appropriately disclosed in the Governance Statement.

During 2017/18, the Board consisted of 18 members, 8 female (including the Principal) and 10 male. The Board continues to work 
towards a gender balance that meets with the objective of the Gender Representation on Public Boards (Scotland) Bill which was 
introduced by the Scottish Parliament in June 2017 with an implementation date of 2022. 

The key committees comprise, and are chaired by former Board members, with each also containing the Principal, with the exception of 
the Audit Committee. However, we note that the Principal attended the Audit Committee on a regular basis. The new Principal has 
continued these arrangements. In addition, the Chair of the Board is also not permitted to be a member of the Audit Committee. 
Appropriate College officers attend committees and present reports as required. 

The Board and each of the various the committees (including the Audit Committee) meet 4 times a year. Minutes of these meetings are 
published to the College’s website in a timeous fashion following the meetings, showing transparency. Committee papers are detailed 
and provide a good overview of the content of the meetings.

Governance Statement

As part of our audit we have read the governance statement included in the annual report. The governance statement sets out the 
corporate governance framework in place throughout the reporting year, the internal controls in operation, the work of internal audit and 
the overall efficiency and effectiveness of the governance framework. 

The governance statement confirms the college’s compliance with the 2016 Code of Good Governance for Scotland’s Colleges.

We are required to read and provide an opinion on the governance statement. In our opinion, the information contained within is 
consistent with the financial statements. We also consider that the governance statement has been prepared in accordance with the 
Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992 and further directions made by the Scottish Funding Council.

Internal audit

An effective internal audit service is an important element of any organisation’s governance arrangements. Internal audit provide the 
College with independent assurance on internal control and corporate governance processes. The internal audit function at the College 
is provided by Scott Moncrieff. Internal audit have attended Audit Committees throughout the year and have produced a number of 
reports to support the overall Head of Internal Audit Opinion. 
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Fees for work as the College’s appointed auditor

We reported out proposed fees for the delivery of our work in our Audit Strategy Memorandum, presented to the Audit Committee in

June 2018. Having substantially completed our work for the 2017/18 financial year, we can confirm that our final fees are as follows:

We confirm that these fees are in line with the scale fee set by Audit Scotland. We also confirm that we have not undertaken any non-

audit services for the College in the year.

5. OUR FEES
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Area of work
Proposed fee

2017/18

Final fee

2017/18

Auditor remuneration £12,880 £12,880

Pooled costs £830 £830

Contribution to Audit Scotland costs £720 £720

Total Fee £14,430  £14,430
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Dear Sirs

LETTER OF REPRESENTATION

We confirm to the best of our knowledge and belief the following representations given to you in connection with your audit of the college’s accounts for 

the period ended 31st July 2018.

We acknowledge as members of the Board of Governors our responsibility for ensuring:

a) the financial statements are free of material misstatements including omissions;

b) that the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the College as at 31st July 2018;

c) all the accounting records have been made available to you for the purpose of your audit and all the transactions undertaken by the College have 

been properly reflected and recorded in the accounting records;

d) all other records and related information, including minutes of all management meetings, have been made available to you;

e) the accounting policies used are detailed in the financial statements and are consistent with those adopted in the previous financial statements and 

are in accordance with the Accounts Direction issued by the Scottish Funding Council (SFC) under the terms of the Further and Higher Education 

(Scotland) Act 1992; and

f) compliance with the terms and conditions of the Financial Memorandum issued to the Board of Governors by the SFC.

Scott-Moncrieff act as Internal Auditors to the College. All reports issued to the College and our responses to them have been made available to you.

We acknowledge our responsibility for the design and implementation of internal control systems to prevent and detect fraud. We have disclosed to you 

the results of our risk assessment that the financial statements may be misstated as a result of fraud. There have been no irregularities (or allegations of 

irregularities) involving management, employees who have a significant role in internal control or others that could have a material effect on the financial 

statements.

The College has no liabilities or contingent liabilities other than those disclosed in the accounts.

All claims in connection with litigation that have been, or are expected to be, received have been properly accrued for in the financial statements.

There have been no events since the balance sheet date that require disclosure or which would materially affect the amounts in the accounts, other than 

those already disclosed or included in the accounts. Should further material events occur, which may necessitate revision of the figures included in the 

financial statements or inclusion of a note thereto, we will advise you accordingly.

The College has had at no time during the year any arrangement, transaction or agreement to provide credit facilities (including loans, quasi-loans or 

credit transactions) for the Board of Governors nor to guarantee or provide security for such matters.

We confirm that we have disclosed to you all related party transactions relevant to the College and that we are not aware of any further related party 

matters that require disclosure in order to comply with the requirements of charities legislation, the Statement of Recommended Practice for Further and 

Higher Education accounts or accounting standards.

The College has not contracted for any capital expenditure other than as disclosed in the accounts.

The College has satisfactory title to all assets and there are no liens or encumbrances on the College’s assets, except for those that are disclosed in the 

financial statements.

We are not aware of any irregularities, including fraud, involving existing management or employees of the College, nor are we aware of any breaches or 

possible breaches of statute, regulations, contracts, agreements or College's Constitution and Articles of Government which might result in the College 

suffering significant penalties or other loss. No allegations of such irregularities, including fraud, or such breaches have come to our attention.

We confirm that we are not aware of any possible or actual instance of non-compliance with those laws and regulations which provide a legal framework 

within which the College conducts its business.

We confirm that, in our opinion, the College is a going concern on the grounds that current and future sources of funding or support will be more than 

adequate for the College’s needs. We have considered a period of twelve months from the date of approval of the financial statements. We believe that 

no further disclosures relating to the College’s ability to continue as a going concern need to be made in the financial statements.
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We confirm that no unadjusted misstatements have been brought to our attention.

We confirm that the above representations are made on the basis of enquiries of management and staff with relevant knowledge and experience (and, 

where appropriate, of supporting documentation) sufficient to satisfy ourselves that we can properly make each of the above representations to you.

Yours faithfully

.………………………………………….. Chair of Board 

…………………………………………….. Principal
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of the Board of Governors of West Lothian College, the Auditor General for Scotland and the 

Scottish Parliament 

This report is made solely to the parties to whom it is addressed in accordance with the Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000 and for no 

other purpose. In accordance with paragraph 120 of the Code of Audit Practice approved by the Auditor General for Scotland, we do not undertake to 

have responsibilities to members or officers, in their individual capacities, or to third parties. 

Report on the audit of the financial statements 

Opinion on financial statements 

We have audited the financial statements in the annual report and accounts of West Lothian College for the year ended 31 July 2018 under the Further 

and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992 and section 44(1)(c) of the Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005. The financial statements 

comprise the [specify precisely the titles of the primary statements used by the college such as the Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of 

Changes in Reserves, Balance Sheet, and Statement of Cash Flow] and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 

policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, 

including Financial Reporting Standard 102 The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (United Kingdom Generally 

Accepted Accounting Practice). 

In our opinion the accompanying financial statements: 

• give a true and fair view in accordance with the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992 and directions made thereunder by the Scottish 

Funding Council of the state of the college's affairs as at 31 July 2018 and of its surplus [deficit] for the year then ended; 

• have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and 

• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992 and directions made thereunder 

by the Scottish Funding Council, the Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005, and regulation 14 of The Charities Accounts (Scotland) 

Regulations 2006 (as amended). 

Basis of opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing in the UK (ISAs (UK)). Our responsibilities under 

those standards are further described in the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of 

the college in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK including the Financial 

Reporting Council’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the 

audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Conclusions relating to going concern 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us to report to you where:

• the use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is not appropriate; or 

• the college has not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about its ability to 

continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are 

authorised for issue. 

Responsibilities of the Board of Governors for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Statement of the Board of Governors’ Responsibilities, the Board of Governors is responsible for the preparation of 

financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with the financial reporting framework, and for such internal control as the Board of 

Governors determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or

error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Board of Governors is responsible for assessing the college's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, 

as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless deemed inappropriate. 
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

Our objectives are to achieve reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether 

due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 

guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 

fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 

users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

A further description of the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial Reporting Council's website 

www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

Other information in the annual report and accounts 

The Board of Governors is responsible for the other information in the annual report and accounts. The other information comprises the information other 

than the financial statements, the audited part of the remuneration and staff report, and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial 

statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon except on matters prescribed by the 

Auditor General for Scotland to the extent explicitly stated later in this report. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements in accordance with ISAs (UK), our responsibility is to read all the other information in the annual 

report and accounts and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge 

obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we 

are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, 

based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We 

have nothing to report in this regard.

Report on regularity of expenditure and income 

Opinion on regularity 

In our opinion in all material respects the expenditure and income in the financial statements were incurred or applied in accordance with any applicable 

enactments and guidance issued by the Scottish Ministers. 

Responsibilities for regularity 

The Board of Governors is responsible for ensuring the regularity of expenditure and income. We are responsible for expressing an opinion on the 

regularity of expenditure and income in accordance with the Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000.

Report on other requirements 

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Auditor General for Scotland 

In our opinion, the audited part of the Remuneration and Staff Report has been properly prepared in accordance with the Further and Higher Education 

(Scotland) Act 1992 and directions made thereunder by the Scottish Funding Council. 

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit 

• the information given in the Performance Report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial 

statements and that report has been prepared in accordance with the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992 and directions made 

thereunder by the Scottish Funding Council; and

• The information given in the Governance Statement for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the 

financial statements and that report has been prepared in accordance with the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992 and directions 

made thereunder by the Scottish Funding Council. 
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Matters on which we are required to report by exception 

We are required by The Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 to report to you if, in our opinion: 

• adequate accounting records have not been kept; or 

• the financial statements and the audited part of the Remuneration and Staff Report are not in agreement with the accounting records; or 

• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. 

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters. 

Lucy Nutley, 

For and on behalf of Mazars LLP

Apex 2

97 Haymarket Terrace

Edinburgh

EH12 5HA

December 2018

Lucy Nutley is eligible to act as an auditor in terms of section 21 of the Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000
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As part of our ongoing risk assessment we monitor our relationships with you to identify any new actual or perceived threats to our

independence within the regulatory or professional requirements governing us as your auditors.

We can confirm that no new threats to independence have been identified since issuing the Audit Strategy Memorandum and therefore

we remain independent.
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Action: To Recommend  Agenda Item 18.50 (iii) 
 

Paper 5 
West Lothian College 

29 November 2018 
 
 

AC/291118/iShare 1 
 

Audit Committee 
 
Letter of Representation to Mazars 
 
The letter of representation provides assurance to the College’s External 
Auditors, Mazars, that the Board is aware of its responsibilities in relation to 
the audit of the Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 July 2018.   
 
The Board’s responsibilities are set out in the attached letter which is signed 
by the Chair of the Board of Governors on behalf of the Board. 
 
Action 
 
The Committee is invited to discuss and recommend that the letter be signed 
by the Chair of the Board of Governors on behalf of the Board. 
 
 
 
 
Jennifer McLaren 
Vice Principal, Finance & Curriculum Services 
29 November 2018 
 
 
 



1 
 

West Lothian College 
 
 
 West Lothian College 

Almondvale Crescent 
Livingston 
West Lothian 
EH54 7EP 

 
 29 November 2018 

Messrs Mazars 
Apex 2,  
97 Haymarket Terrace,  
Edinburgh  
EH12 5HD 

 

 
 
Dear Sirs 
 
LETTER OF REPRESENTATION 
 
We confirm to the best of our knowledge and belief the following representations given to you in 
connection with your audit of the college’s accounts for the period ended 31st July 2018. 
 
We acknowledge as members of the Board of Governors our responsibility for ensuring: 
 
a)  the financial statements are free of material misstatements including omissions; 
b) that the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the College as at 31st 

July 2018; 
c)  all the accounting records have been made available to you for the purpose of your audit and all 

the transactions undertaken by the College have been properly reflected and recorded in the 
accounting records; 

d)  all other records and related information, including minutes of all management meetings, have 
been made available to you; 

e) the accounting policies used are detailed in the financial statements and are consistent with those 
adopted in the previous financial statements and are in accordance with the Accounts Direction 
issued by the Scottish Funding Council (SFC) under the terms of the Further and Higher Education 
(Scotland) Act 1992; and 

f)  compliance with the terms and conditions of the Financial Memorandum issued to the Board of 
Governors by the SFC. 

 
Scott-Moncrieff act as Internal Auditors to the College. All reports issued to the College and our 
responses to them have been made available to you. 
 
We acknowledge our responsibility for the design and implementation of internal control systems to 
prevent and detect fraud. We have disclosed to you the results of our risk assessment that the financial 
statements may be misstated as a result of fraud. There have been no irregularities (or allegations of 
irregularities) involving management, employees who have a significant role in internal control or others 
that could have a material effect on the financial statements. 
 
The College has no liabilities or contingent liabilities other than those disclosed in the accounts. 
 
All claims in connection with litigation that have been, or are expected to be, received have been properly 
accrued for in the financial statements. 
 
There have been no events since the balance sheet date that require disclosure or which would materially 
affect the amounts in the accounts, other than those already disclosed or included in the accounts. 
Should further material events occur, which may necessitate revision of the figures included in the 
financial statements or inclusion of a note thereto, we will advise you accordingly. 
  



2 
 

The College has had at no time during the year any arrangement, transaction or agreement to provide 
credit facilities (including loans, quasi-loans or credit transactions) for the Board of Governors nor to 
guarantee or provide security for such matters. 
 
We confirm that we have disclosed to you all related party transactions relevant to the College and that 
we are not aware of any further related party matters that require disclosure in order to comply with the 
requirements of charities legislation, the Statement of Recommended Practice for Further and 
Higher Education accounts or accounting standards. 
 
The College has not contracted for any capital expenditure other than as disclosed in the accounts. 
 
The College has satisfactory title to all assets and there are no liens or encumbrances on the College’s 
assets, except for those that are disclosed in the financial statements. 
 
We are not aware of any irregularities, including fraud, involving existing management or employees of 
the College, nor are we aware of any breaches or possible breaches of statute, regulations, contracts, 
agreements or College's Constitution and Articles of Government which might result in the College 
suffering significant penalties or other loss. No allegations of such irregularities, including fraud, or such 
breaches have come to our attention. 
 
We confirm that we are not aware of any possible or actual instance of non-compliance with those laws 
and regulations which provide a legal framework within which the College conducts its business. 
 
We confirm that, in our opinion, the College is a going concern on the grounds that current and future 
sources of funding or support will be more than adequate for the College’s needs. We have considered a 
period of twelve months from the date of approval of the financial statements. We believe that no further 
disclosures relating to the College’s ability to continue as a going concern need to be made in the 
financial statements. 
 
We confirm that no unadjusted misstatements have been brought to our attention. 
 
We confirm that the above representations are made on the basis of enquiries of management and staff 
with relevant knowledge and experience (and, where appropriate, of supporting documentation) sufficient 
to satisfy ourselves that we can properly make each of the above representations to you. 
 
Yours faithfully 
 
 
 
.………………………………………….. Chair of Board 
 
 
 
…………………………………………….. Principal 
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Audit Committee 
 
Student Support Funds and Educational Maintenance Allowances (EMA) 
Audits 2017-18 
 
The College’s Internal Auditors have undertaken the annual audit of Student 
Support Funds and EMA for the Academic Year 2017-18 in accordance with 
the requirements set out in the Scottish Funding Council’s Student Support 
Fund Audit Guidance 2017-18 and EMA Audit Guidance 2017-18. 
 
The attached report summarises their findings.  There is one recommendation 
which has been accepted by Management.  
 
Action 
 
The Committee is asked to review and discuss the findings within the Report. 
 
 
 
 
Jennifer McLaren 
Vice Principal, Finance & Curriculum Services 
29 November 2018 
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Summary
We conducted our Student Support Fun
the requirements set out in SFC’s ‘Student Support Fund Audit Guida
Maintenance Allowances (EMA

SFC has set no requirement to provide a detailed report in respect of this work, however we do report any 
findings identified within the audit

Management Point
1.

Observation

The student funds system currently allows any member of the funding team to make unilateral changes to student bank 
details, with immediate effect.  No authorisation is required, 

Risk

U
unlikely to be

Recommendation

The College should 
the last payment run are agreed 

Management response

The College has introduced an online student funding system 
information directly,
details which are actioned by Student Funds staff.  The College will 
detailing changes to bank details
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information directly, including bank details
details which are actioned by Student Funds staff.  The College will 
detailing changes to bank details
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which can be checked against authorised change forms.
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Audit Guidance 2017/18’. 
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Audit Committee 
 
Review of 2017-18 Credits Return  

The college’s Internal Auditors audited the funding statistics for West Lothian 
College during September 2018.  Procedures and controls over the 
preparation of the return were audited to ensure the accurate calculation of 
the return. The audit was carried out in accordance with the guidance issued 
by the Scottish Funding Council (SFC), including the Data return for funding 
purposes (FES return) and audit guidance for colleges 2017-18 

In the Auditor’s opinion, controls over the collection of data and the 
preparation of the credits returns are adequate and effective. The Auditor’s 
opinion states that “Assurance can be gained from the audit testing carried 
out and the internal checking performed by college management that the 
credits count for the college has not been materially misstated”. 

Under the conditions of grant, the SFC may claw-back an element of the grant 
if actual credits provided are below target. Actual credits claimed for 2017-18 
were 45,326 against a target of 43,988. The difference is 1,338 (1.3%) above 
the target credits. 

A management response has been agreed in relation to each of the 
recommendations contained in the report.  
 
Action 
 
The Committee is asked to review and discuss the findings within the Report. 
 
 
 
 
Jennifer McLaren 
Vice Principal, Finance & Curriculum Services 
29 November 2018 
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Executive Summary
We audited
procedures and controls over the preparation of the 
ensure the accurate calculation of the return.

Conclusion
In our opinion, controls over the collection of data and the preparation of the 
effective.  Assurance can be gained from the audit testing carried out and the internal checking performed by 
College management that the 
audit report is included in Annex A of this report.

Under the conditions of grant, the SFC may claw
below target.  
1,

The deadline for submitting the College Certificate and 
was achieved for both certificates.

Scope
Our audit was carried out in accordance with the 
including the ‘Data return for funding purposes (FES return) and 

Approach
The audit comprised of 
Quality assurance 
Partner

Our audit involved 
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Our initial sample was derived by:
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 Evaluation of the adequacy of these controls in ensuring the accuracy of the data
 Testing of the key controls to ensure they were operating
 Examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the figures recorded in the student data returns;
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 Further detailed testing where necessary, including checking of the 
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Detailed 
Our audit
senior management.  This was performed to provide assurance that all of the risks set out in Annex D of the 
audit guidance note referred to above had been satisfactorily addre
Credit

1.1
Throughout our review of credits at West Lothian College we undertook detailed testing of the curriculum 
planning process, Unit
credits are claimed. 

We identified 
calculation of the required date and insufficient records of student attendance.  
specific controls in place and the testing performed over the

1.2
We reviewed the prior year audit report and discussed the progress of imple
management. The outcome of this analysis was used to inform our audit strategy. 

We identified that one of the prior year audit findings 
actions remain outstanding.

Programme classification and credits

We recommend that the curriculum 
planning processes includes sufficient 
checks and sign
ensure the information recorded is 
complete and in line with SFC guidance.  

Required dates

We recommend that the College 
reminds staff of the importance of 
maintaining up
records for all full
students attending courses within the 
College.  

Sample checks should also be 
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Detailed 
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audit guidance note referred to above had been satisfactorily addre
Credits data were subject to appropriate controls.
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calculation of the required date and insufficient records of student attendance.  
specific controls in place and the testing performed over the

1.2 Follow u
We reviewed the prior year audit report and discussed the progress of imple
management. The outcome of this analysis was used to inform our audit strategy. 

We identified that one of the prior year audit findings 
actions remain outstanding.

2016/17

Programme classification and credits

We recommend that the curriculum 
planning processes includes sufficient 
checks and sign
ensure the information recorded is 
complete and in line with SFC guidance.  

Required dates

We recommend that the College 
reminds staff of the importance of 
maintaining up
records for all full
students attending courses within the 
College.   

Sample checks should also be 
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Detailed Audit Work and 
centred on testing 

senior management.  This was performed to provide assurance that all of the risks set out in Annex D of the 
audit guidance note referred to above had been satisfactorily addre

data were subject to appropriate controls.

General Systems Review
Throughout our review of credits at West Lothian College we undertook detailed testing of the curriculum 
planning process, Unit-E and vari
credits are claimed.  

We identified some control weaknesses 
calculation of the required date and insufficient records of student attendance.  
specific controls in place and the testing performed over the

Follow up
We reviewed the prior year audit report and discussed the progress of imple
management. The outcome of this analysis was used to inform our audit strategy. 

We identified that one of the prior year audit findings 
actions remain outstanding.

2016/17 Audit Finding

Programme classification and credits

We recommend that the curriculum 
planning processes includes sufficient 
checks and sign-off by management to 
ensure the information recorded is 
complete and in line with SFC guidance.  

Required dates 

We recommend that the College 
reminds staff of the importance of 
maintaining up-to-date attendance 
records for all full-time or part
students attending courses within the 

Sample checks should also be 

 

Audit Work and 
centred on testing College data 

senior management.  This was performed to provide assurance that all of the risks set out in Annex D of the 
audit guidance note referred to above had been satisfactorily addre

data were subject to appropriate controls.

General Systems Review
Throughout our review of credits at West Lothian College we undertook detailed testing of the curriculum 

E and various other controls the

ntrol weaknesses 
calculation of the required date and insufficient records of student attendance.  
specific controls in place and the testing performed over the

p 
We reviewed the prior year audit report and discussed the progress of imple
management. The outcome of this analysis was used to inform our audit strategy. 

We identified that one of the prior year audit findings 
actions remain outstanding. 

Audit Finding 

Programme classification and credits

We recommend that the curriculum 
planning processes includes sufficient 

off by management to 
ensure the information recorded is 
complete and in line with SFC guidance.  

We recommend that the College 
reminds staff of the importance of 

date attendance 
time or part-time 

students attending courses within the 

Sample checks should also be 

 

Audit Work and 
College data on a sample basis and, where appropriate, 

senior management.  This was performed to provide assurance that all of the risks set out in Annex D of the 
audit guidance note referred to above had been satisfactorily addre

data were subject to appropriate controls.

General Systems Review
Throughout our review of credits at West Lothian College we undertook detailed testing of the curriculum 

ous other controls the

ntrol weaknesses within these processes
calculation of the required date and insufficient records of student attendance.  
specific controls in place and the testing performed over the

We reviewed the prior year audit report and discussed the progress of imple
management. The outcome of this analysis was used to inform our audit strategy. 

We identified that one of the prior year audit findings 

Programme classification and credits 

planning processes includes sufficient 
off by management to 

complete and in line with SFC guidance.  

The appe
electronically 
relation to each individual course. This is then 
electronically signed off by the Sector Manager 
and submitted to MIS who will check the
information before updating
electronically signing the report to confirm this 
has been checked

Recommendation Addressed. 

 

students attending courses within the 

As noted in the report below, there were 
numerous instances where attendance 
registe
relevant lecturer. An exception report is 
circulated by MIS showing all registers with a 
‘no mark’ but WLC still need to improve the 
completion rate of registers. 

See Recommendation 

 

Audit Work and 
on a sample basis and, where appropriate, 

senior management.  This was performed to provide assurance that all of the risks set out in Annex D of the 
audit guidance note referred to above had been satisfactorily addre

data were subject to appropriate controls. 

General Systems Review 
Throughout our review of credits at West Lothian College we undertook detailed testing of the curriculum 

ous other controls the College

within these processes
calculation of the required date and insufficient records of student attendance.  
specific controls in place and the testing performed over these

We reviewed the prior year audit report and discussed the progress of imple
management. The outcome of this analysis was used to inform our audit strategy. 

We identified that one of the prior year audit findings have been 

2017/18

The appendix D report is now produced
electronically and details all i
relation to each individual course. This is then 
electronically signed off by the Sector Manager 
and submitted to MIS who will check the
information before updating
electronically signing the report to confirm this 
has been checked 

Recommendation Addressed. 

As noted in the report below, there were 
numerous instances where attendance 
registers had not been completed by the 
relevant lecturer. An exception report is 
circulated by MIS showing all registers with a 
‘no mark’ but WLC still need to improve the 

letion rate of registers. 

See Recommendation 

 West Loth

Audit Work and Findings
on a sample basis and, where appropriate, 

senior management.  This was performed to provide assurance that all of the risks set out in Annex D of the 
audit guidance note referred to above had been satisfactorily addressed and that the fundamentals of compiling 

Throughout our review of credits at West Lothian College we undertook detailed testing of the curriculum 
College has in place 

within these processes during our
calculation of the required date and insufficient records of student attendance.  

se controls in the ‘key risk areas’ section below.

We reviewed the prior year audit report and discussed the progress of imple
management. The outcome of this analysis was used to inform our audit strategy. 

have been addressed by management; however two 

2017/18 Follow up

ndix D report is now produced
and details all information in 

relation to each individual course. This is then 
electronically signed off by the Sector Manager 
and submitted to MIS who will check the
information before updating Unit
electronically signing the report to confirm this 

 and completed. 

Recommendation Addressed.  

As noted in the report below, there were 
numerous instances where attendance 

rs had not been completed by the 
relevant lecturer. An exception report is 
circulated by MIS showing all registers with a 
‘no mark’ but WLC still need to improve the 

letion rate of registers.  

See Recommendation 2 below.

West Lothian College Review of the

Findings
on a sample basis and, where appropriate, consulting with 

senior management.  This was performed to provide assurance that all of the risks set out in Annex D of the 
ssed and that the fundamentals of compiling 

Throughout our review of credits at West Lothian College we undertook detailed testing of the curriculum 
in place to ensure the correct number of 

during our review, including incorrect 
calculation of the required date and insufficient records of student attendance.  We have provided details of the 

controls in the ‘key risk areas’ section below.

We reviewed the prior year audit report and discussed the progress of implementing the agreed actions with 
management. The outcome of this analysis was used to inform our audit strategy.  

ressed by management; however two 

Follow up 

ndix D report is now produced 
nformation in 

relation to each individual course. This is then 
electronically signed off by the Sector Manager 
and submitted to MIS who will check the 

Unit-E and 
electronically signing the report to confirm this 

and completed.  

 

As noted in the report below, there were 
numerous instances where attendance 

rs had not been completed by the 
relevant lecturer. An exception report is 
circulated by MIS showing all registers with a 
‘no mark’ but WLC still need to improve the 

below. 

Review of the 2017/18 Credits Return

Findings 
consulting with 

senior management.  This was performed to provide assurance that all of the risks set out in Annex D of the 
ssed and that the fundamentals of compiling 

Throughout our review of credits at West Lothian College we undertook detailed testing of the curriculum 
to ensure the correct number of 

, including incorrect 
We have provided details of the 

controls in the ‘key risk areas’ section below.

menting the agreed actions with 

ressed by management; however two 

Recommendation 
addressed?

relation to each individual course. This is then 
electronically signed off by the Sector Manager 

electronically signing the report to confirm this 

circulated by MIS showing all registers with a 
‘no mark’ but WLC still need to improve the 

2017/18 Credits Return 

consulting with staff and 
senior management.  This was performed to provide assurance that all of the risks set out in Annex D of the 

ssed and that the fundamentals of compiling 

Throughout our review of credits at West Lothian College we undertook detailed testing of the curriculum 
to ensure the correct number of 

, including incorrect 
We have provided details of the 

controls in the ‘key risk areas’ section below. 

menting the agreed actions with 

ressed by management; however two 

Recommendation 
addressed? 

Yes 

No 
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ssed and that the fundamentals of compiling 

We have provided details of the 

Recommendation 
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performed over required dates 
calculated by the system when 
completing the FES return to confirm 
the dates have been calculated 
appropriately.

Additional support needs 
cl

We recommend that staff are reminded 
to ensure that students are correctly 
identified as having disabilities within 
Unit

Open/distance learning programmes

We recommend that lecturers are 
required to agree not only a course 
duration with students, but also time
related milestones at the outset of an 
open/distance learning course.  
Progress against these milestones 
the overall expected course end date 
should then be monitored by the 
lecturer on an ongoing basis throughout 
the life of the course, in line with SFC 
guidance.
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performed over required dates 
calculated by the system when 
completing the FES return to confirm 
the dates have been calculated 
appropriately.

Additional support needs 
classification

We recommend that staff are reminded 
to ensure that students are correctly 
identified as having disabilities within 
Unit-E. 

Open/distance learning programmes

We recommend that lecturers are 
required to agree not only a course 
duration with students, but also time
related milestones at the outset of an 
open/distance learning course.  
Progress against these milestones 
the overall expected course end date 
should then be monitored by the 
lecturer on an ongoing basis throughout 
the life of the course, in line with SFC 
guidance. 
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performed over required dates 
calculated by the system when 
completing the FES return to confirm 
the dates have been calculated 
appropriately. 

Additional support needs 
assification 

We recommend that staff are reminded 
to ensure that students are correctly 
identified as having disabilities within 

Open/distance learning programmes

We recommend that lecturers are 
required to agree not only a course 
duration with students, but also time
related milestones at the outset of an 
open/distance learning course.  
Progress against these milestones 
the overall expected course end date 
should then be monitored by the 
lecturer on an ongoing basis throughout 
the life of the course, in line with SFC 

 

Review of the 2017/18 Credits Return

performed over required dates 
calculated by the system when 
completing the FES return to confirm 
the dates have been calculated 

Additional support needs 

We recommend that staff are reminded 
to ensure that students are correctly 
identified as having disabilities within 

Open/distance learning programmes

We recommend that lecturers are 
required to agree not only a course 
duration with students, but also time-
related milestones at the outset of an 
open/distance learning course.  
Progress against these milestones and 
the overall expected course end date 
should then be monitored by the 
lecturer on an ongoing basis throughout 
the life of the course, in line with SFC 

  

2017/18 Credits Return 

completing the FES return to confirm 

We recommend that staff are reminded 

identified as having disabilities within 

PG5 students are now outwith the scope of the 
credits audit, as such no follow up was carried 
out over this recommendat

Open/distance learning programmes 

related milestones at the outset of an 

and 
the overall expected course end date 

lecturer on an ongoing basis throughout 
the life of the course, in line with SFC 

Further 
2017/18 credits claim over distance learning 
identified further instances where milestones 
had not been agreed and progress against 
these milestones had not been tracked by the 
lecturer on an on
duration of the course. 

 

PG5 students are now outwith the scope of the 
credits audit, as such no follow up was carried 
out over this recommendat

Further substantive testing performed for the 
2017/18 credits claim over distance learning 
dentified further instances where milestones 
had not been agreed and progress against 
these milestones had not been tracked by the 
lecturer on an on-going basis throughout the 
duration of the course. 

 

PG5 students are now outwith the scope of the 
credits audit, as such no follow up was carried 
out over this recommendation. 

ubstantive testing performed for the 
2017/18 credits claim over distance learning 
dentified further instances where milestones 
had not been agreed and progress against 
these milestones had not been tracked by the 

going basis throughout the 
duration of the course.  

 

PG5 students are now outwith the scope of the 
credits audit, as such no follow up was carried 

 

ubstantive testing performed for the 
2017/18 credits claim over distance learning 
dentified further instances where milestones 
had not been agreed and progress against 
these milestones had not been tracked by the 

going basis throughout the 

 

PG5 students are now outwith the scope of the 
credits audit, as such no follow up was carried 

ubstantive testing performed for the 
2017/18 credits claim over distance learning 
dentified further instances where milestones 
had not been agreed and progress against 
these milestones had not been tracked by the 

going basis throughout the 
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1.3
The results of our 
Annex D of
document

Risk Area 1

T
20
academic year. 
sector manager 
of the course including the fundability 

We selected a sample of 
more than one academic year) and performed our own checks against the SFC guidance to c
the courses selected.

No issues were identified.

Risk Area 2 

Student information 
are 

We selected a sample of 
against the SFC guidance to confirm eligibility of the courses selected.

No issues were 

Risk Area 3 

Programmes are observed to be classified as Higher Education (HE) or Further Education (FE) 
completion of the Appendix D report on Col
of the course between full time and other modes of provision in accordance with FES guidance. The 
assessment made is supported by further information contained in the Appendix D report 
ass

In testing the procedure of classification, for our sample of 
A similar check was conducted for modes of provision.  
classifications on the FES return had correctly classified the course based on the course characteristics. 

No issues were identified.

Risk Area 4 
their individually tailored course

The College has set up 
modules completed by those
being in
w
by 
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1.3 Key risk areas
The results of our 
Annex D of the 
document.  

Risk Area 1 

The College 
2017/18 curriculum plan
academic year. 
sector manager 
of the course including the fundability 

We selected a sample of 
more than one academic year) and performed our own checks against the SFC guidance to c
the courses selected.

No issues were identified.

Risk Area 2 

Student information 
are performed by staff to confirm the student is fundable

We selected a sample of 
against the SFC guidance to confirm eligibility of the courses selected.

No issues were 

Risk Area 3 

Programmes are observed to be classified as Higher Education (HE) or Further Education (FE) 
completion of the Appendix D report on Col
of the course between full time and other modes of provision in accordance with FES guidance. The 
assessment made is supported by further information contained in the Appendix D report 
assessed by a member of MIS prior to being uploaded to Unit

In testing the procedure of classification, for our sample of 
A similar check was conducted for modes of provision.  
classifications on the FES return had correctly classified the course based on the course characteristics. 

No issues were identified.

Risk Area 4 
their individually tailored course

The College has set up 
modules completed by those
being in-filled
were created for these students and that the 
by the student. 
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Key risk areas
The results of our audit work 

the ‘Data return 

 – Non-fundable activity is included in the Credit 

he College distinguishes between fundable and non
curriculum plan was

academic year. The information for individual courses which 
sector manager in the Appendix D report through 
of the course including the fundability 

We selected a sample of 
more than one academic year) and performed our own checks against the SFC guidance to c
the courses selected. 

No issues were identified.

Risk Area 2 – Non-fundable students a

Student information relevant for eligibility checks 
ormed by staff to confirm the student is fundable

We selected a sample of 
against the SFC guidance to confirm eligibility of the courses selected.

No issues were identified.

Risk Area 3 – Programme is not classified 

Programmes are observed to be classified as Higher Education (HE) or Further Education (FE) 
completion of the Appendix D report on Col
of the course between full time and other modes of provision in accordance with FES guidance. The 
assessment made is supported by further information contained in the Appendix D report 

essed by a member of MIS prior to being uploaded to Unit

In testing the procedure of classification, for our sample of 
A similar check was conducted for modes of provision.  
classifications on the FES return had correctly classified the course based on the course characteristics. 

No issues were identified.

Risk Area 4 – An infill s
their individually tailored course

The College has set up separate 
modules completed by those

filled.  We reviewed a sample of students 
ere created for these students and that the 

the student.  

 

Key risk areas 
audit work are summarised 

eturn for funding purposes (FES return) and audit guidance for colleges

fundable activity is included in the Credit 

distinguishes between fundable and non
was approved by the 

The information for individual courses which 
in the Appendix D report through 

of the course including the fundability 

We selected a sample of 20 courses identified as fundable by the College (including courses which spanned 
more than one academic year) and performed our own checks against the SFC guidance to c

No issues were identified. 

undable students a

relevant for eligibility checks 
ormed by staff to confirm the student is fundable

We selected a sample of 20 students identified as fundable by the College and performed our own checks 
against the SFC guidance to confirm eligibility of the courses selected.

identified. 

Programme is not classified 

Programmes are observed to be classified as Higher Education (HE) or Further Education (FE) 
completion of the Appendix D report on Col
of the course between full time and other modes of provision in accordance with FES guidance. The 
assessment made is supported by further information contained in the Appendix D report 

essed by a member of MIS prior to being uploaded to Unit

In testing the procedure of classification, for our sample of 
A similar check was conducted for modes of provision.  
classifications on the FES return had correctly classified the course based on the course characteristics. 

No issues were identified. 

student is counted as part of the programme which is being in
their individually tailored course or is included as part of both courses

separate course codes
modules completed by those students and 

We reviewed a sample of students 
ere created for these students and that the 

 

 
summarised below 

unding purposes (FES return) and audit guidance for colleges

fundable activity is included in the Credit 

distinguishes between fundable and non
approved by the Deputy Princip

The information for individual courses which 
in the Appendix D report through 

of the course including the fundability status; this 

courses identified as fundable by the College (including courses which spanned 
more than one academic year) and performed our own checks against the SFC guidance to c

undable students are included in the Credit

relevant for eligibility checks is collected by the College via the 
ormed by staff to confirm the student is fundable

students identified as fundable by the College and performed our own checks 
against the SFC guidance to confirm eligibility of the courses selected.

Programme is not classified correctly

Programmes are observed to be classified as Higher Education (HE) or Further Education (FE) 
completion of the Appendix D report on Columbus. 
of the course between full time and other modes of provision in accordance with FES guidance. The 
assessment made is supported by further information contained in the Appendix D report 

essed by a member of MIS prior to being uploaded to Unit

In testing the procedure of classification, for our sample of 
A similar check was conducted for modes of provision.  
classifications on the FES return had correctly classified the course based on the course characteristics. 

tudent is counted as part of the programme which is being in
or is included as part of both courses

course codes for 
students and additional credits are 

We reviewed a sample of students 
ere created for these students and that the credits claimed were 

 

below against each of the
unding purposes (FES return) and audit guidance for colleges

fundable activity is included in the Credit 

distinguishes between fundable and non-fundable activity
Deputy Principal

The information for individual courses which feeds into the plan
in the Appendix D report through the Columbus system

 will be checked by MIS prior to being updated in the Unit

courses identified as fundable by the College (including courses which spanned 
more than one academic year) and performed our own checks against the SFC guidance to c

re included in the Credit

is collected by the College via the 
ormed by staff to confirm the student is fundable.    

students identified as fundable by the College and performed our own checks 
against the SFC guidance to confirm eligibility of the courses selected.

correctly full time/part time 

Programmes are observed to be classified as Higher Education (HE) or Further Education (FE) 
mbus. The report wi

of the course between full time and other modes of provision in accordance with FES guidance. The 
assessment made is supported by further information contained in the Appendix D report 

essed by a member of MIS prior to being uploaded to Unit

In testing the procedure of classification, for our sample of 20 
A similar check was conducted for modes of provision.  Substantive sample testin
classifications on the FES return had correctly classified the course based on the course characteristics. 

tudent is counted as part of the programme which is being in
or is included as part of both courses

for infill students
additional credits are 

We reviewed a sample of students completing 
redits claimed were 
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against each of the 13
unding purposes (FES return) and audit guidance for colleges

fundable activity is included in the Credit count 

fundable activity within
al and Department 
feeds into the plan

the Columbus system. This will detail all relevant information 
will be checked by MIS prior to being updated in the Unit

courses identified as fundable by the College (including courses which spanned 
more than one academic year) and performed our own checks against the SFC guidance to c

re included in the Credit count

is collected by the College via the 

students identified as fundable by the College and performed our own checks 
against the SFC guidance to confirm eligibility of the courses selected. 

ull time/part time 

Programmes are observed to be classified as Higher Education (HE) or Further Education (FE) 
The report will also detail the classification of the provision 

of the course between full time and other modes of provision in accordance with FES guidance. The 
assessment made is supported by further information contained in the Appendix D report 

essed by a member of MIS prior to being uploaded to Unit-E. 

20 courses we 
Substantive sample testin

classifications on the FES return had correctly classified the course based on the course characteristics. 

tudent is counted as part of the programme which is being in
or is included as part of both courses

students to ensure
additional credits are not claimed in respect of the programme(s) 

 infill courses to confirm 
redits claimed were appropriate based on

West Lothian College Review of the

13 key risk areas highlighted by SFC in
unding purposes (FES return) and audit guidance for colleges

within its curriculum p
Department Heads 

feeds into the plan is produced by the 
. This will detail all relevant information 

will be checked by MIS prior to being updated in the Unit

courses identified as fundable by the College (including courses which spanned 
more than one academic year) and performed our own checks against the SFC guidance to c

ount 

is collected by the College via the application

students identified as fundable by the College and performed our own checks 

ull time/part time HE/FE 

Programmes are observed to be classified as Higher Education (HE) or Further Education (FE) 
ll also detail the classification of the provision 

of the course between full time and other modes of provision in accordance with FES guidance. The 
assessment made is supported by further information contained in the Appendix D report 

courses we identified if the course was HE or 
Substantive sample testing confirmed that course 

classifications on the FES return had correctly classified the course based on the course characteristics. 

tudent is counted as part of the programme which is being in
or is included as part of both courses 

to ensure credits are only claimed 
not claimed in respect of the programme(s) 

courses to confirm separate course codes 
appropriate based on

Review of the 2017/18 Credits Return

key risk areas highlighted by SFC in
unding purposes (FES return) and audit guidance for colleges 2017/18

curriculum plan.  The 
Heads prior to the
is produced by the 

. This will detail all relevant information 
will be checked by MIS prior to being updated in the Unit

courses identified as fundable by the College (including courses which spanned 
more than one academic year) and performed our own checks against the SFC guidance to confirm eligibility of 

application form

students identified as fundable by the College and performed our own checks 

Programmes are observed to be classified as Higher Education (HE) or Further Education (FE) through the 
ll also detail the classification of the provision 

of the course between full time and other modes of provision in accordance with FES guidance. The 
assessment made is supported by further information contained in the Appendix D report and this will be 

identified if the course was HE or 
g confirmed that course 

classifications on the FES return had correctly classified the course based on the course characteristics. 

tudent is counted as part of the programme which is being in-filled, rat

credits are only claimed 
not claimed in respect of the programme(s) 

separate course codes 
appropriate based on the modules 

2017/18 Credits Return 

key risk areas highlighted by SFC in
2017/18’ 

The College’s 
prior to the start of the 

is produced by the relevant 
. This will detail all relevant information 

will be checked by MIS prior to being updated in the Unit-E.  

courses identified as fundable by the College (including courses which spanned 
onfirm eligibility of 

form and checks 

students identified as fundable by the College and performed our own checks 

through the 
ll also detail the classification of the provision 

of the course between full time and other modes of provision in accordance with FES guidance. The 
and this will be 

identified if the course was HE or FE.  
g confirmed that course 

classifications on the FES return had correctly classified the course based on the course characteristics.  

filled, rather than 

credits are only claimed for the 
not claimed in respect of the programme(s) 

separate course codes 
the modules completed 
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However, for two of the three students in our sample it was identified that there was no record of attendance 
maintained by 
occasions wh
they are unable to evidence student participation on these infill courses. 

Risk Area 5 

The College creates specific ECDL courses that studen
only four credits are claimable for this course on Unit
based on the number of modules completed by the student out of a total 

The College
confirm that a maximum of four credits w
sample of students 
the credits claimed

No issues were identified.

Risk Area 6 

The
curriculum plan

For our sample of 
in accordance with SFC credits guidance. 

No issues were identified. 

Risk Area 7 

The College confirms course st
not classified as full time 
then input into Unit
between the start and end date
noted that this varied from the guidance which states the required date should be 
calendar days between the c
analysis was performed which confirmed that this 
by WLC. 

In addition to this, 
record of attendance for each student i
were registers showed a ‘no mark’ as these had not been comple
sample 44% of registers showed a ‘no mark’ and for another student registers had not been completed on 22% 
of occasions. 
been marked 
could result in credits being claimed incorrectly by the college. 
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However, for two of the three students in our sample it was identified that there was no record of attendance 
maintained by 
occasions wh
they are unable to evidence student participation on these infill courses. 

  

Risk Area 5 

The College creates specific ECDL courses that studen
only four credits are claimable for this course on Unit
based on the number of modules completed by the student out of a total 

The College 
confirm that a maximum of four credits w
sample of students 
the credits claimed

No issues were identified.

Risk Area 6 

The College 
curriculum plan

For our sample of 
in accordance with SFC credits guidance. 

No issues were identified. 

Risk Area 7 

The College confirms course st
not classified as full time 
then input into Unit
between the start and end date
noted that this varied from the guidance which states the required date should be 
calendar days between the c
analysis was performed which confirmed that this 
by WLC.  

In addition to this, 
record of attendance for each student i
were registers showed a ‘no mark’ as these had not been comple
sample 44% of registers showed a ‘no mark’ and for another student registers had not been completed on 22% 
of occasions. 
been marked 
could result in credits being claimed incorrectly by the college. 

West Lothian College Review of the

However, for two of the three students in our sample it was identified that there was no record of attendance 
maintained by WLC for these students
occasions when students are not added to specific registers. This has resulted in WLC claiming five credits but 
they are unable to evidence student participation on these infill courses. 

  

Risk Area 5 – Incorrect allocation of Credits for st

The College creates specific ECDL courses that studen
only four credits are claimable for this course on Unit
based on the number of modules completed by the student out of a total 

 ran ECDL course
confirm that a maximum of four credits w
sample of students to confirm th
the credits claimed.  

No issues were identified.

Risk Area 6 – Incorrect Dominant Price Gr

 allocate the superclass 
curriculum plan.   

For our sample of 20 courses, 
in accordance with SFC credits guidance. 

No issues were identified. 

Risk Area 7 – Students included in the return do not meet attendance criteria

The College confirms course st
not classified as full time 
then input into Unit-E. It was identified that 
between the start and end date
noted that this varied from the guidance which states the required date should be 
calendar days between the c
analysis was performed which confirmed that this 

In addition to this, as part of our testing programme we tested individual students to confirm that there was 
record of attendance for each student i
were registers showed a ‘no mark’ as these had not been comple
sample 44% of registers showed a ‘no mark’ and for another student registers had not been completed on 22% 
of occasions. MIS send weekly exception r
been marked to provide a reminder
could result in credits being claimed incorrectly by the college. 

Review of the 2017/18 Credits Return

However, for two of the three students in our sample it was identified that there was no record of attendance 
for these students

en students are not added to specific registers. This has resulted in WLC claiming five credits but 
they are unable to evidence student participation on these infill courses. 

   

Incorrect allocation of Credits for st

The College creates specific ECDL courses that studen
only four credits are claimable for this course on Unit
based on the number of modules completed by the student out of a total 

ECDL courses during 2017/18
confirm that a maximum of four credits w

confirm the students

No issues were identified. 

Incorrect Dominant Price Gr

the superclass and relevant price group 

courses, we confirmed that the appropriate superclass had been assigned to the course 
in accordance with SFC credits guidance. 

No issues were identified.  

Students included in the return do not meet attendance criteria

The College confirms course start and end dates through the curriculum p
not classified as full time WLC have developed a

E. It was identified that 
between the start and end date, excluding holidays
noted that this varied from the guidance which states the required date should be 
calendar days between the course start and end have passed.’ This was queried with MIS management and 
analysis was performed which confirmed that this 

t of our testing programme we tested individual students to confirm that there was 
record of attendance for each student i
were registers showed a ‘no mark’ as these had not been comple
sample 44% of registers showed a ‘no mark’ and for another student registers had not been completed on 22% 

MIS send weekly exception r
to provide a reminder to the lecture

could result in credits being claimed incorrectly by the college. 

2017/18 Credits Return 

However, for two of the three students in our sample it was identified that there was no record of attendance 
for these students. Management stated that due to the f

en students are not added to specific registers. This has resulted in WLC claiming five credits but 
they are unable to evidence student participation on these infill courses. 

  

Incorrect allocation of Credits for st

The College creates specific ECDL courses that studen
only four credits are claimable for this course on Unit
based on the number of modules completed by the student out of a total 

during 2017/18.  We reviewed all students who enrolled on an ECDL 
confirm that a maximum of four credits were claimed for each student.  

students had completed the appropriate number of ECDL modules based on 

Incorrect Dominant Price Group Code is allocated to programme

and relevant price group 

we confirmed that the appropriate superclass had been assigned to the course 
in accordance with SFC credits guidance.  

Students included in the return do not meet attendance criteria

art and end dates through the curriculum p
WLC have developed a 

E. It was identified that WLC calculate the r
excluding holidays

noted that this varied from the guidance which states the required date should be 
ourse start and end have passed.’ This was queried with MIS management and 

analysis was performed which confirmed that this 

t of our testing programme we tested individual students to confirm that there was 
record of attendance for each student in our sample. 
were registers showed a ‘no mark’ as these had not been comple
sample 44% of registers showed a ‘no mark’ and for another student registers had not been completed on 22% 

MIS send weekly exception reports to all lecturing staff 
to the lecturers to complete these registers. Failure to complete registers 

could result in credits being claimed incorrectly by the college. 

 

However, for two of the three students in our sample it was identified that there was no record of attendance 
. Management stated that due to the f

en students are not added to specific registers. This has resulted in WLC claiming five credits but 
they are unable to evidence student participation on these infill courses. 

   

Incorrect allocation of Credits for students registered on 

The College creates specific ECDL courses that students can apply to complete and the College records that 
only four credits are claimable for this course on Unit-E.  The College will then claim against these four credits 
based on the number of modules completed by the student out of a total 

.  We reviewed all students who enrolled on an ECDL 
claimed for each student.  

had completed the appropriate number of ECDL modules based on 

oup Code is allocated to programme

and relevant price group 

we confirmed that the appropriate superclass had been assigned to the course 

Students included in the return do not meet attendance criteria

art and end dates through the curriculum p
 formula in excel which calculates the required d
calculate the r

excluding holidays, and then calculating 25% of the total 
noted that this varied from the guidance which states the required date should be 

ourse start and end have passed.’ This was queried with MIS management and 
analysis was performed which confirmed that this interpretation has le

t of our testing programme we tested individual students to confirm that there was 
n our sample. It was identified that there were a number of instances 

were registers showed a ‘no mark’ as these had not been comple
sample 44% of registers showed a ‘no mark’ and for another student registers had not been completed on 22% 

eports to all lecturing staff 
rs to complete these registers. Failure to complete registers 

could result in credits being claimed incorrectly by the college. 

 

However, for two of the three students in our sample it was identified that there was no record of attendance 
. Management stated that due to the f

en students are not added to specific registers. This has resulted in WLC claiming five credits but 
they are unable to evidence student participation on these infill courses.  

  

udents registered on 

ts can apply to complete and the College records that 
E.  The College will then claim against these four credits 

based on the number of modules completed by the student out of a total of 

.  We reviewed all students who enrolled on an ECDL 
claimed for each student.  We 

had completed the appropriate number of ECDL modules based on 

oup Code is allocated to programme

and relevant price group to each course as part of 

we confirmed that the appropriate superclass had been assigned to the course 

Students included in the return do not meet attendance criteria

art and end dates through the curriculum p
formula in excel which calculates the required d

calculate the required date by identifying the working days 
and then calculating 25% of the total 

noted that this varied from the guidance which states the required date should be 
ourse start and end have passed.’ This was queried with MIS management and 

interpretation has led to 18

t of our testing programme we tested individual students to confirm that there was 
It was identified that there were a number of instances 

were registers showed a ‘no mark’ as these had not been completed by the lecturer. For one
sample 44% of registers showed a ‘no mark’ and for another student registers had not been completed on 22% 

eports to all lecturing staff which details the 
rs to complete these registers. Failure to complete registers 

could result in credits being claimed incorrectly by the college.  

 

However, for two of the three students in our sample it was identified that there was no record of attendance 
. Management stated that due to the flexibility of these courses there are 

en students are not added to specific registers. This has resulted in WLC claiming five credits but 

   

udents registered on ECDL courses

ts can apply to complete and the College records that 
E.  The College will then claim against these four credits 

of six modules

.  We reviewed all students who enrolled on an ECDL 
We also performed 

had completed the appropriate number of ECDL modules based on 

oup Code is allocated to programme   

each course as part of 

we confirmed that the appropriate superclass had been assigned to the course 

Students included in the return do not meet attendance criteria  

art and end dates through the curriculum planning process. 
formula in excel which calculates the required d

equired date by identifying the working days 
and then calculating 25% of the total 

noted that this varied from the guidance which states the required date should be when 
ourse start and end have passed.’ This was queried with MIS management and 

d to 18 credits being claimed excessively 

t of our testing programme we tested individual students to confirm that there was 
It was identified that there were a number of instances 

ted by the lecturer. For one
sample 44% of registers showed a ‘no mark’ and for another student registers had not been completed on 22% 

which details the 
rs to complete these registers. Failure to complete registers 

 

However, for two of the three students in our sample it was identified that there was no record of attendance 
lexibility of these courses there are 

en students are not added to specific registers. This has resulted in WLC claiming five credits but 

 Recommendation 1

courses 

ts can apply to complete and the College records that 
E.  The College will then claim against these four credits 

modules. 

.  We reviewed all students who enrolled on an ECDL 
performed testing over 

had completed the appropriate number of ECDL modules based on 

 

each course as part of development of 

we confirmed that the appropriate superclass had been assigned to the course 

lanning process. Where a course is 
formula in excel which calculates the required date and this is 

equired date by identifying the working days 
and then calculating 25% of the total relevant days. It was 

when ‘25% of the 
ourse start and end have passed.’ This was queried with MIS management and 

credits being claimed excessively 

t of our testing programme we tested individual students to confirm that there was 
It was identified that there were a number of instances 

ted by the lecturer. For one student in our 
sample 44% of registers showed a ‘no mark’ and for another student registers had not been completed on 22% 

which details the registers which have not 
rs to complete these registers. Failure to complete registers 

Recommendation 
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However, for two of the three students in our sample it was identified that there was no record of attendance 
lexibility of these courses there are 

en students are not added to specific registers. This has resulted in WLC claiming five credits but 

Recommendation 1

ts can apply to complete and the College records that 
E.  The College will then claim against these four credits 

.  We reviewed all students who enrolled on an ECDL course to 
testing over a 

had completed the appropriate number of ECDL modules based on 

development of the 

we confirmed that the appropriate superclass had been assigned to the course 

Where a course is 
ate and this is 

equired date by identifying the working days 
relevant days. It was 

% of the total 
ourse start and end have passed.’ This was queried with MIS management and 

credits being claimed excessively 

t of our testing programme we tested individual students to confirm that there was a 
It was identified that there were a number of instances 

student in our 
sample 44% of registers showed a ‘no mark’ and for another student registers had not been completed on 22% 

registers which have not 
rs to complete these registers. Failure to complete registers 

Recommendation 

moncrieff.com 

lexibility of these courses there are 
en students are not added to specific registers. This has resulted in WLC claiming five credits but 

Recommendation 1 

E.  The College will then claim against these four credits 

course to 

had completed the appropriate number of ECDL modules based on 

ate and this is 

relevant days. It was 

credits being claimed excessively 

sample 44% of registers showed a ‘no mark’ and for another student registers had not been completed on 22% 
registers which have not 

Recommendation 2 
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Risk Area 8 

The number of credits claimed for individual students is
and the underlying c
student withdraws
student to match the last day of attendance. Where this falls prior to the required date no credits will be 
claimed. 

We tested a sample of 20 students 
after the required date to confirm that it was appropriate for the college to claim credits. 
identified during testing. 

Risk Area 9 
for a

T
claimed is above the maximum for both HE and FE courses. 
management will produce rationale to outline why the college considers it appropriate for the col
additional credits. The total credits claimed through ‘
We identified that the total 
sample of 
from the college as to why the college believes it is appropriate to deliver these credits

It was identified that WLC do not perform any analysis of the numbe
which are claimed as a result of 
that WLC were not
activity.

Risk Area 10

The College does not grant fee waivers to students

 

scott-moncrieff.com

Risk Area 8 

The number of credits claimed for individual students is
and the underlying c
student withdraws
student to match the last day of attendance. Where this falls prior to the required date no credits will be 
claimed.  

We tested a sample of 20 students 
after the required date to confirm that it was appropriate for the college to claim credits. 
identified during testing. 

 Two credits had not been claimed for a studen
date. T
entered into Unit
the required date
 

 Six credits were claimed for a student despite the student not having any attendances after the 
required date. This occurred 
end date was not been manually upd
 

 There was a further instance where the 
shown in November but then a present mark in February which 
credits for this 

Risk Area 9 
for a student per year

The college have developed 
claimed is above the maximum for both HE and FE courses. 
management will produce rationale to outline why the college considers it appropriate for the col
additional credits. The total credits claimed through ‘
We identified that the total 
sample of three course
from the college as to why the college believes it is appropriate to deliver these credits

It was identified that WLC do not perform any analysis of the numbe
which are claimed as a result of 
that WLC were not
activity. 

 

Risk Area 10

The College does not grant fee waivers to students

moncrieff.com 

Risk Area 8 – Incorrect Credit value 

The number of credits claimed for individual students is
and the underlying credits which have been assigned to 
student withdraws, a member of the MIS team will take the leavers memo and 
student to match the last day of attendance. Where this falls prior to the required date no credits will be 

We tested a sample of 20 students 
after the required date to confirm that it was appropriate for the college to claim credits. 
identified during testing.  

wo credits had not been claimed for a studen
. This was due to a manual error by a member of staff where the incorrect end date had been 

entered into Unit-
the required date

ix credits were claimed for a student despite the student not having any attendances after the 
required date. This occurred 
end date was not been manually upd

There was a further instance where the 
shown in November but then a present mark in February which 
credits for this student w

Risk Area 9 – The college Credits claim for an individual student exceeds the maximum claim allowed 
student per year 

he college have developed 
claimed is above the maximum for both HE and FE courses. 
management will produce rationale to outline why the college considers it appropriate for the col
additional credits. The total credits claimed through ‘
We identified that the total 

three courses where the
from the college as to why the college believes it is appropriate to deliver these credits

It was identified that WLC do not perform any analysis of the numbe
which are claimed as a result of 
that WLC were not close to breaching 

  

Risk Area 10 – College records fee w

The College does not grant fee waivers to students

 

Incorrect Credit value 

The number of credits claimed for individual students is
redits which have been assigned to 

a member of the MIS team will take the leavers memo and 
student to match the last day of attendance. Where this falls prior to the required date no credits will be 

We tested a sample of 20 students and 15 withdrawn students to assess if there was 
after the required date to confirm that it was appropriate for the college to claim credits. 

 

wo credits had not been claimed for a studen
his was due to a manual error by a member of staff where the incorrect end date had been 

-E for this student. The end date coded was the same as the start date so it fell before
the required date.  

ix credits were claimed for a student despite the student not having any attendances after the 
required date. This occurred as the withdrawal process had not been followed for this individual so the 
end date was not been manually upd

There was a further instance where the 
shown in November but then a present mark in February which 

student were incorrectly claimed. 

The college Credits claim for an individual student exceeds the maximum claim allowed 

he college have developed a report which runs in 
claimed is above the maximum for both HE and FE courses. 
management will produce rationale to outline why the college considers it appropriate for the col
additional credits. The total credits claimed through ‘
We identified that the total ‘one plus’ activity relating to a specific co

where the credits claimed exceeded the maximum, we were able to receive rationale 
from the college as to why the college believes it is appropriate to deliver these credits

It was identified that WLC do not perform any analysis of the numbe
which are claimed as a result of students being on multiple enrolments. However, ana

close to breaching 

   

College records fee w

The College does not grant fee waivers to students

 

Incorrect Credit value is claimed for the p

The number of credits claimed for individual students is
redits which have been assigned to 

a member of the MIS team will take the leavers memo and 
student to match the last day of attendance. Where this falls prior to the required date no credits will be 

and 15 withdrawn students to assess if there was 
after the required date to confirm that it was appropriate for the college to claim credits. 

wo credits had not been claimed for a studen
his was due to a manual error by a member of staff where the incorrect end date had been 

E for this student. The end date coded was the same as the start date so it fell before

ix credits were claimed for a student despite the student not having any attendances after the 
as the withdrawal process had not been followed for this individual so the 

end date was not been manually updated to the last day of attendance. 

There was a further instance where the attend
shown in November but then a present mark in February which 

incorrectly claimed. 

The college Credits claim for an individual student exceeds the maximum claim allowed 

report which runs in 
claimed is above the maximum for both HE and FE courses. 
management will produce rationale to outline why the college considers it appropriate for the col
additional credits. The total credits claimed through ‘

‘one plus’ activity relating to a specific co
credits claimed exceeded the maximum, we were able to receive rationale 

from the college as to why the college believes it is appropriate to deliver these credits

It was identified that WLC do not perform any analysis of the numbe
students being on multiple enrolments. However, ana

close to breaching the 2.5% th

  

College records fee waivers which are not covered by the standard fee waiver policy

The College does not grant fee waivers to students

 

is claimed for the programme 

The number of credits claimed for individual students is driven by the course they are assigned to on Unit
redits which have been assigned to the course during the curriculum planning

a member of the MIS team will take the leavers memo and 
student to match the last day of attendance. Where this falls prior to the required date no credits will be 

and 15 withdrawn students to assess if there was 
after the required date to confirm that it was appropriate for the college to claim credits. 

wo credits had not been claimed for a student despite the student being present 
his was due to a manual error by a member of staff where the incorrect end date had been 

E for this student. The end date coded was the same as the start date so it fell before

ix credits were claimed for a student despite the student not having any attendances after the 
as the withdrawal process had not been followed for this individual so the 

ated to the last day of attendance. 

attendance record for the student held a withdrawn mark
shown in November but then a present mark in February which 

incorrectly claimed.  

The college Credits claim for an individual student exceeds the maximum claim allowed 

report which runs in Unit-E and details all courses where the number of credits 
claimed is above the maximum for both HE and FE courses. Prior to the credits exceeding the 
management will produce rationale to outline why the college considers it appropriate for the col
additional credits. The total credits claimed through ‘one plus’ 

‘one plus’ activity relating to a specific co
credits claimed exceeded the maximum, we were able to receive rationale 

from the college as to why the college believes it is appropriate to deliver these credits

It was identified that WLC do not perform any analysis of the numbe
students being on multiple enrolments. However, ana

the 2.5% threshold for additional credits when considering all ‘

   

aivers which are not covered by the standard fee waiver policy

The College does not grant fee waivers to students that require checks of eligibility to be completed.  

 West Lothian College

rogramme of study

driven by the course they are assigned to on Unit
the course during the curriculum planning

a member of the MIS team will take the leavers memo and 
student to match the last day of attendance. Where this falls prior to the required date no credits will be 

and 15 withdrawn students to assess if there was 
after the required date to confirm that it was appropriate for the college to claim credits. 

t despite the student being present 
his was due to a manual error by a member of staff where the incorrect end date had been 

E for this student. The end date coded was the same as the start date so it fell before

ix credits were claimed for a student despite the student not having any attendances after the 
as the withdrawal process had not been followed for this individual so the 

ated to the last day of attendance. 

ance record for the student held a withdrawn mark
shown in November but then a present mark in February which indicates that this was incorrect and the 

The college Credits claim for an individual student exceeds the maximum claim allowed 

E and details all courses where the number of credits 
Prior to the credits exceeding the 

management will produce rationale to outline why the college considers it appropriate for the col
 activity for courses is traced throughout the year.

‘one plus’ activity relating to a specific course was a total of 230 credits. 
credits claimed exceeded the maximum, we were able to receive rationale 

from the college as to why the college believes it is appropriate to deliver these credits

It was identified that WLC do not perform any analysis of the number of credits 
students being on multiple enrolments. However, ana

reshold for additional credits when considering all ‘

  

aivers which are not covered by the standard fee waiver policy

that require checks of eligibility to be completed.  

West Lothian College Review of the

of study 

driven by the course they are assigned to on Unit
the course during the curriculum planning

a member of the MIS team will take the leavers memo and update the end date for that 
student to match the last day of attendance. Where this falls prior to the required date no credits will be 

and 15 withdrawn students to assess if there was evidence of attendance 
after the required date to confirm that it was appropriate for the college to claim credits. 

t despite the student being present 
his was due to a manual error by a member of staff where the incorrect end date had been 

E for this student. The end date coded was the same as the start date so it fell before

ix credits were claimed for a student despite the student not having any attendances after the 
as the withdrawal process had not been followed for this individual so the 

ated to the last day of attendance.  

ance record for the student held a withdrawn mark
indicates that this was incorrect and the 

 

The college Credits claim for an individual student exceeds the maximum claim allowed 

E and details all courses where the number of credits 
Prior to the credits exceeding the 

management will produce rationale to outline why the college considers it appropriate for the col
activity for courses is traced throughout the year.

urse was a total of 230 credits. 
credits claimed exceeded the maximum, we were able to receive rationale 

from the college as to why the college believes it is appropriate to deliver these credits

r of credits relating to ‘one plus’ activity 
students being on multiple enrolments. However, analysis performed confirmed 

reshold for additional credits when considering all ‘

   

aivers which are not covered by the standard fee waiver policy

that require checks of eligibility to be completed.  
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driven by the course they are assigned to on Unit
the course during the curriculum planning 

update the end date for that 
student to match the last day of attendance. Where this falls prior to the required date no credits will be 

evidence of attendance 
after the required date to confirm that it was appropriate for the college to claim credits. Three errors were 

t despite the student being present after the required 
his was due to a manual error by a member of staff where the incorrect end date had been 

E for this student. The end date coded was the same as the start date so it fell before

ix credits were claimed for a student despite the student not having any attendances after the 
as the withdrawal process had not been followed for this individual so the 

ance record for the student held a withdrawn mark
indicates that this was incorrect and the 

 Recommendation 3

The college Credits claim for an individual student exceeds the maximum claim allowed 

E and details all courses where the number of credits 
Prior to the credits exceeding the maximum

management will produce rationale to outline why the college considers it appropriate for the college to claim 
activity for courses is traced throughout the year.

urse was a total of 230 credits. 
credits claimed exceeded the maximum, we were able to receive rationale 

from the college as to why the college believes it is appropriate to deliver these credits.  

relating to ‘one plus’ activity 
lysis performed confirmed 

reshold for additional credits when considering all ‘

 Recommendation 4

aivers which are not covered by the standard fee waiver policy

that require checks of eligibility to be completed.  

7/18 Credits Return 

driven by the course they are assigned to on Unit-E 
 phase. If a 

update the end date for that 
student to match the last day of attendance. Where this falls prior to the required date no credits will be 

evidence of attendance 
Three errors were 

after the required 
his was due to a manual error by a member of staff where the incorrect end date had been 

E for this student. The end date coded was the same as the start date so it fell before

ix credits were claimed for a student despite the student not having any attendances after the 
as the withdrawal process had not been followed for this individual so the 

ance record for the student held a withdrawn mark 
indicates that this was incorrect and the 

Recommendation 3

The college Credits claim for an individual student exceeds the maximum claim allowed 

E and details all courses where the number of credits 
maximum, 

lege to claim 
activity for courses is traced throughout the year.

urse was a total of 230 credits. For a 
credits claimed exceeded the maximum, we were able to receive rationale 

relating to ‘one plus’ activity 
lysis performed confirmed 

reshold for additional credits when considering all ‘one plus’ 

Recommendation 4

aivers which are not covered by the standard fee waiver policy 

that require checks of eligibility to be completed.   
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E for this student. The end date coded was the same as the start date so it fell before 

as the withdrawal process had not been followed for this individual so the 

indicates that this was incorrect and the 

Recommendation 3  

activity for courses is traced throughout the year. 

lysis performed confirmed 
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Risk
programme

S
to

We performed testing over a sample of students completing open/distance learning program
confirmed that the duration of study was set, 
agreed with the students or
basis, in line with SFC guidance.
be

Risk 

Where courses are delivered in collaboration with another institution, the College agrees the funding position at 
the outset of the arrangement and ensures sufficient arrangements are 
including that courses are subject to the College’s quality assurance 

For a sample of collaborative courses, we confirmed that the SFC requirements had been adhered to

No issues were identified.

 

8 West Lothian College

Risk Area 11
programme 

Students on open/distance learning programmes
to discuss the 

We performed testing over a sample of students completing open/distance learning program
confirmed that the duration of study was set, 
agreed with the students or
basis, in line with SFC guidance.
been implemented by the college as at September 2018.

Risk Area 12

Where courses are delivered in collaboration with another institution, the College agrees the funding position at 
the outset of the arrangement and ensures sufficient arrangements are 
including that courses are subject to the College’s quality assurance 

For a sample of collaborative courses, we confirmed that the SFC requirements had been adhered to

No issues were identified.

 

West Lothian College Review of the

Area 11 – Students who enrol on an open/ distance l
 

s on open/distance learning programmes
the content of 

We performed testing over a sample of students completing open/distance learning program
confirmed that the duration of study was set, 
agreed with the students or
basis, in line with SFC guidance.

implemented by the college as at September 2018.

Area 12 – Incorrect Credit value is claimed for 

Where courses are delivered in collaboration with another institution, the College agrees the funding position at 
the outset of the arrangement and ensures sufficient arrangements are 
including that courses are subject to the College’s quality assurance 

For a sample of collaborative courses, we confirmed that the SFC requirements had been adhered to

No issues were identified.

Review of the 2017/18 Credits Return

Students who enrol on an open/ distance l

s on open/distance learning programmes
 and agree dura

We performed testing over a sample of students completing open/distance learning program
confirmed that the duration of study was set, 
agreed with the students or that there 
basis, in line with SFC guidance. We raised a

implemented by the college as at September 2018.

Incorrect Credit value is claimed for 

Where courses are delivered in collaboration with another institution, the College agrees the funding position at 
the outset of the arrangement and ensures sufficient arrangements are 
including that courses are subject to the College’s quality assurance 

For a sample of collaborative courses, we confirmed that the SFC requirements had been adhered to

No issues were identified. 

2017/18 Credits Return 

Students who enrol on an open/ distance l

s on open/distance learning programmes 
duration for the course. 

We performed testing over a sample of students completing open/distance learning program
confirmed that the duration of study was set, we were unable to view evidence that milestones had been 

there was a formal process in place to monitor student progress on an ongoing 
We raised a recommendation 

implemented by the college as at September 2018.

Incorrect Credit value is claimed for 

Where courses are delivered in collaboration with another institution, the College agrees the funding position at 
the outset of the arrangement and ensures sufficient arrangements are 
including that courses are subject to the College’s quality assurance 

For a sample of collaborative courses, we confirmed that the SFC requirements had been adhered to

 

Students who enrol on an open/ distance l

 meet with their lecturer prior to the
for the course.  

We performed testing over a sample of students completing open/distance learning program
we were unable to view evidence that milestones had been 
formal process in place to monitor student progress on an ongoing 

recommendation 
implemented by the college as at September 2018. 

Incorrect Credit value is claimed for Collaborative Provision

Where courses are delivered in collaboration with another institution, the College agrees the funding position at 
the outset of the arrangement and ensures sufficient arrangements are 
including that courses are subject to the College’s quality assurance 

For a sample of collaborative courses, we confirmed that the SFC requirements had been adhered to

 

Students who enrol on an open/ distance learning programme 

meet with their lecturer prior to the

We performed testing over a sample of students completing open/distance learning program
we were unable to view evidence that milestones had been 
formal process in place to monitor student progress on an ongoing 

recommendation on this issue

Collaborative Provision

Where courses are delivered in collaboration with another institution, the College agrees the funding position at 
the outset of the arrangement and ensures sufficient arrangements are in place to adhere to the SFC guidance, 
including that courses are subject to the College’s quality assurance processes

For a sample of collaborative courses, we confirmed that the SFC requirements had been adhered to

 

programme do

meet with their lecturer prior to the start of the

We performed testing over a sample of students completing open/distance learning program
we were unable to view evidence that milestones had been 
formal process in place to monitor student progress on an ongoing 

on this issue in the previous year

Collaborative Provision 

Where courses are delivered in collaboration with another institution, the College agrees the funding position at 
in place to adhere to the SFC guidance, 

processes. 

For a sample of collaborative courses, we confirmed that the SFC requirements had been adhered to

 

o not continue with 

start of the academic year 

We performed testing over a sample of students completing open/distance learning programmes.  Whilst we 
we were unable to view evidence that milestones had been 
formal process in place to monitor student progress on an ongoing 

in the previous year, which has

Where courses are delivered in collaboration with another institution, the College agrees the funding position at 
in place to adhere to the SFC guidance, 

For a sample of collaborative courses, we confirmed that the SFC requirements had been adhered to
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academic year 

.  Whilst we 
we were unable to view evidence that milestones had been 
formal process in place to monitor student progress on an ongoing 

, which has not 

Where courses are delivered in collaboration with another institution, the College agrees the funding position at 
in place to adhere to the SFC guidance, 

For a sample of collaborative courses, we confirmed that the SFC requirements had been adhered to.  
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the 

academic year 

formal process in place to monitor student progress on an ongoing 
not 

Where courses are delivered in collaboration with another institution, the College agrees the funding position at 
in place to adhere to the SFC guidance, 
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Recomme
All actions have been given a risk rating as follows:

1. 
Our fieldwork identified that 
a programme which is classified as being infill 
by the college. 

Howeve
the appropriate attendance 
to evidence that the infill student had participated in the course after the required date and that it was 
appropriate to claim credits for these students. 

Discussing this point with t
specific registers
been assigned to complete. However, the college should still tr
ensure the college can support credits claimed 

Risk rating: 2

Management response:  

To be action

No later than
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Recomme
All actions have been given a risk rating as follows:

1. Infill Students 
Our fieldwork identified that 
a programme which is classified as being infill 
by the college. 

However, during substantive testing for our sample of three infill students
the appropriate attendance 
to evidence that the infill student had participated in the course after the required date and that it was 
appropriate to claim credits for these students. 

Discussing this point with t
specific registers
been assigned to complete. However, the college should still tr
ensure the college can support credits claimed 

Risk rating: 2

Management response:  

To be action

No later than
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Recomme
All actions have been given a risk rating as follows:

Infill Students 
Our fieldwork identified that 
a programme which is classified as being infill 
by the college.  

r, during substantive testing for our sample of three infill students
the appropriate attendance 
to evidence that the infill student had participated in the course after the required date and that it was 
appropriate to claim credits for these students. 

Discussing this point with t
specific registers as it is possi
been assigned to complete. However, the college should still tr
ensure the college can support credits claimed 

Risk rating: 2   

Management response:  

To be actioned by: Student 

No later than:  Immediate

 

•Very high risk exposure 
attention that create fundamental risks within the organisation.

•High risk exposure 
significant risks within the organisation.

•Moderate risk exposure 
efficiently and may create moderate risks within the organisation

•Limited risk exposure 
strengthened to prevent the creation of minor risks or address general 
house

 

Recommendations
All actions have been given a risk rating as follows:

Infill Students  
Our fieldwork identified that WLC separately identify students as being infill and these students 
a programme which is classified as being infill 

r, during substantive testing for our sample of three infill students
the appropriate attendance registers for the modules they were undertaking. This meant that 
to evidence that the infill student had participated in the course after the required date and that it was 
appropriate to claim credits for these students. 

Discussing this point with the MIS manager rationale was provided that infill students are not attached to 
as it is possible for them to attend various classes to achieve the specific modules they have 

been assigned to complete. However, the college should still tr
ensure the college can support credits claimed 

Management response:  Agreed.  Infill students to be added to registers for 2018/19.

Student Systems Manager

Immediate 

  

Very high risk exposure 
attention that create fundamental risks within the organisation.

High risk exposure 
significant risks within the organisation.

Moderate risk exposure 
efficiently and may create moderate risks within the organisation

Limited risk exposure 
strengthened to prevent the creation of minor risks or address general 
house-keeping issues.  

 

ndations 
All actions have been given a risk rating as follows:

separately identify students as being infill and these students 
a programme which is classified as being infill and infi

r, during substantive testing for our sample of three infill students
for the modules they were undertaking. This meant that 

to evidence that the infill student had participated in the course after the required date and that it was 
appropriate to claim credits for these students.  

he MIS manager rationale was provided that infill students are not attached to 
ble for them to attend various classes to achieve the specific modules they have 

been assigned to complete. However, the college should still tr
ensure the college can support credits claimed for all infill students. 

Agreed.  Infill students to be added to registers for 2018/19.

Systems Manager 

Very high risk exposure 
attention that create fundamental risks within the organisation.

High risk exposure - absence / failure of key controls that create 
significant risks within the organisation.

Moderate risk exposure 
efficiently and may create moderate risks within the organisation

Limited risk exposure - controls are working effectively, but could be 
strengthened to prevent the creation of minor risks or address general 

keeping issues.  

 

 
All actions have been given a risk rating as follows: 

separately identify students as being infill and these students 
and infill courses 

r, during substantive testing for our sample of three infill students
for the modules they were undertaking. This meant that 

to evidence that the infill student had participated in the course after the required date and that it was 

he MIS manager rationale was provided that infill students are not attached to 
ble for them to attend various classes to achieve the specific modules they have 

been assigned to complete. However, the college should still tr
for all infill students. 

Agreed.  Infill students to be added to registers for 2018/19.

Very high risk exposure - major concerns 
attention that create fundamental risks within the organisation.

absence / failure of key controls that create 
significant risks within the organisation.

Moderate risk exposure - controls are not 
efficiently and may create moderate risks within the organisation

controls are working effectively, but could be 
strengthened to prevent the creation of minor risks or address general 
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separately identify students as being infill and these students 
ll courses are separate to the original courses 

r, during substantive testing for our sample of three infill students,
for the modules they were undertaking. This meant that 

to evidence that the infill student had participated in the course after the required date and that it was 

he MIS manager rationale was provided that infill students are not attached to 
ble for them to attend various classes to achieve the specific modules they have 

been assigned to complete. However, the college should still track and monitor attendance for inf
for all infill students.  

Agreed.  Infill students to be added to registers for 2018/19.

major concerns requiring immediate senior 
attention that create fundamental risks within the organisation.

absence / failure of key controls that create 
significant risks within the organisation.

controls are not working effectively and 
efficiently and may create moderate risks within the organisation

controls are working effectively, but could be 
strengthened to prevent the creation of minor risks or address general 
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separately identify students as being infill and these students 
are separate to the original courses 

, two of these had not been added to 
for the modules they were undertaking. This meant that 

to evidence that the infill student had participated in the course after the required date and that it was 

he MIS manager rationale was provided that infill students are not attached to 
ble for them to attend various classes to achieve the specific modules they have 

ack and monitor attendance for inf

Agreed.  Infill students to be added to registers for 2018/19.

requiring immediate senior 
attention that create fundamental risks within the organisation.

absence / failure of key controls that create 

working effectively and 
efficiently and may create moderate risks within the organisation

controls are working effectively, but could be 
strengthened to prevent the creation of minor risks or address general 
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separately identify students as being infill and these students are
are separate to the original courses 

two of these had not been added to 
for the modules they were undertaking. This meant that WLC

to evidence that the infill student had participated in the course after the required date and that it was 

he MIS manager rationale was provided that infill students are not attached to 
ble for them to attend various classes to achieve the specific modules they have 

ack and monitor attendance for infill students to 

Agreed.  Infill students to be added to registers for 2018/19. 

requiring immediate senior 
attention that create fundamental risks within the organisation.

absence / failure of key controls that create 

working effectively and 
efficiently and may create moderate risks within the organisation.

controls are working effectively, but could be 
strengthened to prevent the creation of minor risks or address general 

2017/18 Credits Return 

 

are allocated to 
are separate to the original courses being run 

two of these had not been added to 
WLC were unable 

to evidence that the infill student had participated in the course after the required date and that it was 

he MIS manager rationale was provided that infill students are not attached to 
ble for them to attend various classes to achieve the specific modules they have 

ill students to 

requiring immediate senior 

controls are working effectively, but could be 
strengthened to prevent the creation of minor risks or address general 
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two of these had not been added to 
were unable 

ble for them to attend various classes to achieve the specific modules they have 
ill students to 
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2
A key aspect of our subst
students
course. It was identified during our fieldwork that there were numerous occasions where registers had not been 
completed

For one student in our sample
been completed on 22% of occasions. MIS send weekly exception reports to all lecturing staff which details the 
registers which have not been marked to provide 

Failure to complete registers
as there is no evidence of participation after the required date. 

The college 
attendance for all students. 

Risk rating: 2

Management response:  

To be actioned by: 

No later

 

3
As noted above under risk area 8, 
process will be completed which involves completing the 
t

A member of the MIS team then check the registers for this student and update the end date to be the last day 
of marked attendance. 
withdrawn despite not attending class 
student in error. 

The college should perform an exercise to assess
withdrawn
which updates the 

Risk rat
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2. Completion of Registers 
A key aspect of our subst
students, the college w
course. It was identified during our fieldwork that there were numerous occasions where registers had not been 
completed.  

For one student in our sample
been completed on 22% of occasions. MIS send weekly exception reports to all lecturing staff which details the 
registers which have not been marked to provide 

Failure to complete registers
as there is no evidence of participation after the required date. 

The college should
attendance for all students. 

Risk rating: 2

Management response:  

To be actioned by: 

No later than

 

3. Withdrawal Process
As noted above under risk area 8, 
process will be completed which involves completing the 
then update U

A member of the MIS team then check the registers for this student and update the end date to be the last day 
of marked attendance. 
withdrawn despite not attending class 
student in error. 

The college should perform an exercise to assess
withdrawn, to ensure that 
which updates the 

Risk rating: 2
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Completion of Registers 
A key aspect of our subst

the college was
course. It was identified during our fieldwork that there were numerous occasions where registers had not been 

 

For one student in our sample
been completed on 22% of occasions. MIS send weekly exception reports to all lecturing staff which details the 
registers which have not been marked to provide 

Failure to complete registers
as there is no evidence of participation after the required date. 

should improve the 
attendance for all students. 

Risk rating: 2   

Management response:  

To be actioned by: Vice Principal, Curriculum & Planning

than:  Immediate

Withdrawal Process
As noted above under risk area 8, 
process will be completed which involves completing the 

Unit-E.  

A member of the MIS team then check the registers for this student and update the end date to be the last day 
of marked attendance. However, during testing we identified an instance where a student had not been 
withdrawn despite not attending class 
student in error.  

The college should perform an exercise to assess
to ensure that 

which updates the end date to automatically pull through the last present attendance. 

ing: 2   
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Completion of Registers 
A key aspect of our substantive testing was to 

as able to evidence that the student had participated after the
course. It was identified during our fieldwork that there were numerous occasions where registers had not been 

For one student in our sample, 44% of registers 
been completed on 22% of occasions. MIS send weekly exception reports to all lecturing staff which details the 
registers which have not been marked to provide 

Failure to complete registers could result in the college being 
as there is no evidence of participation after the required date. 

improve the completion rate of re
attendance for all students.  

Management response:  Agreed.  To be taken forward through the Quality & Compliance Committee

Vice Principal, Curriculum & Planning

Immediate 

Withdrawal Process
As noted above under risk area 8, where students withdraw from 
process will be completed which involves completing the 

A member of the MIS team then check the registers for this student and update the end date to be the last day 
However, during testing we identified an instance where a student had not been 

withdrawn despite not attending class 

The college should perform an exercise to assess
to ensure that credits are not claimed in error. The college could consider developing processes 

end date to automatically pull through the last present attendance. 

2017/18 Credits Return 

Completion of Registers  
antive testing was to ensure that,
able to evidence that the student had participated after the

course. It was identified during our fieldwork that there were numerous occasions where registers had not been 

44% of registers showed a ‘no mark’ and for another student registers had not 
been completed on 22% of occasions. MIS send weekly exception reports to all lecturing staff which details the 
registers which have not been marked to provide 

could result in the college being 
as there is no evidence of participation after the required date. 

completion rate of re

Agreed.  To be taken forward through the Quality & Compliance Committee

Vice Principal, Curriculum & Planning

Withdrawal Process 
where students withdraw from 

process will be completed which involves completing the 

A member of the MIS team then check the registers for this student and update the end date to be the last day 
However, during testing we identified an instance where a student had not been 

withdrawn despite not attending class since September 2017. This meant that six credits were claimed for this 

The college should perform an exercise to assess
credits are not claimed in error. The college could consider developing processes 

end date to automatically pull through the last present attendance. 

 

 
ensure that, where credits had been claimed for specific 

able to evidence that the student had participated after the
course. It was identified during our fieldwork that there were numerous occasions where registers had not been 

showed a ‘no mark’ and for another student registers had not 
been completed on 22% of occasions. MIS send weekly exception reports to all lecturing staff which details the 
registers which have not been marked to provide a reminder to the lecturers to compl

could result in the college being 
as there is no evidence of participation after the required date. 

completion rate of registers to ensure 

Agreed.  To be taken forward through the Quality & Compliance Committee

Vice Principal, Curriculum & Planning 

where students withdraw from 
process will be completed which involves completing the leaver’s memo and informing the MIS department who 

A member of the MIS team then check the registers for this student and update the end date to be the last day 
However, during testing we identified an instance where a student had not been 

since September 2017. This meant that six credits were claimed for this 

The college should perform an exercise to assess if students have not attended but not been formally 
credits are not claimed in error. The college could consider developing processes 

end date to automatically pull through the last present attendance. 

 

where credits had been claimed for specific 
able to evidence that the student had participated after the

course. It was identified during our fieldwork that there were numerous occasions where registers had not been 

showed a ‘no mark’ and for another student registers had not 
been completed on 22% of occasions. MIS send weekly exception reports to all lecturing staff which details the 

to the lecturers to compl

could result in the college being unable to support the credits claimed for students 
as there is no evidence of participation after the required date.  

gisters to ensure it keeps

Agreed.  To be taken forward through the Quality & Compliance Committee

where students withdraw from a course they are enrolled 
leaver’s memo and informing the MIS department who 

A member of the MIS team then check the registers for this student and update the end date to be the last day 
However, during testing we identified an instance where a student had not been 

since September 2017. This meant that six credits were claimed for this 

if students have not attended but not been formally 
credits are not claimed in error. The college could consider developing processes 

end date to automatically pull through the last present attendance. 

 

where credits had been claimed for specific 
able to evidence that the student had participated after the required date for that 

course. It was identified during our fieldwork that there were numerous occasions where registers had not been 

showed a ‘no mark’ and for another student registers had not 
been completed on 22% of occasions. MIS send weekly exception reports to all lecturing staff which details the 

to the lecturers to complete these registers. 

support the credits claimed for students 

it keeps an accurate 

Agreed.  To be taken forward through the Quality & Compliance Committee

course they are enrolled 
leaver’s memo and informing the MIS department who 

A member of the MIS team then check the registers for this student and update the end date to be the last day 
However, during testing we identified an instance where a student had not been 

since September 2017. This meant that six credits were claimed for this 

if students have not attended but not been formally 
credits are not claimed in error. The college could consider developing processes 

end date to automatically pull through the last present attendance.  

 

where credits had been claimed for specific 
required date for that 

course. It was identified during our fieldwork that there were numerous occasions where registers had not been 

showed a ‘no mark’ and for another student registers had not 
been completed on 22% of occasions. MIS send weekly exception reports to all lecturing staff which details the 

ete these registers. 

support the credits claimed for students 

an accurate record of 

Agreed.  To be taken forward through the Quality & Compliance Committee

course they are enrolled on, a withdrawal 
leaver’s memo and informing the MIS department who 

A member of the MIS team then check the registers for this student and update the end date to be the last day 
However, during testing we identified an instance where a student had not been 

since September 2017. This meant that six credits were claimed for this 

if students have not attended but not been formally 
credits are not claimed in error. The college could consider developing processes 
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where credits had been claimed for specific 
required date for that 

course. It was identified during our fieldwork that there were numerous occasions where registers had not been 

showed a ‘no mark’ and for another student registers had not 
been completed on 22% of occasions. MIS send weekly exception reports to all lecturing staff which details the 

ete these registers.  

support the credits claimed for students 

record of 

Agreed.  To be taken forward through the Quality & Compliance Committee. 

a withdrawal 
leaver’s memo and informing the MIS department who 

A member of the MIS team then check the registers for this student and update the end date to be the last day 
However, during testing we identified an instance where a student had not been 

since September 2017. This meant that six credits were claimed for this 

if students have not attended but not been formally 
credits are not claimed in error. The college could consider developing processes 
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course. It was identified during our fieldwork that there were numerous occasions where registers had not been 

been completed on 22% of occasions. MIS send weekly exception reports to all lecturing staff which details the 

support the credits claimed for students 

leaver’s memo and informing the MIS department who 

A member of the MIS team then check the registers for this student and update the end date to be the last day 

since September 2017. This meant that six credits were claimed for this 
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Management response:  

To be actioned by: 

No later than

 

4. 
As noted above, the college monitors the credits claimed for ‘one plus’ activity in relation to 
exceed the maximum set by the SFC. In addition, where it is planned that courses will exceed the maximum 
credits the college will have clear ratio

However, it was noted that the college does not perform any analysis of ‘one plus’ activity as a result of multiple 
enrolments. 
should track the credits claimed for students on multiple enrolments to ensure that total ‘one plus’ activity does 
not exceed the maximum

Risk rating: 2

Management response:  

To be actioned by: 

No later than
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Management response:  

To be actioned by: 

No later than

 

4. One-
As noted above, the college monitors the credits claimed for ‘one plus’ activity in relation to 
exceed the maximum set by the SFC. In addition, where it is planned that courses will exceed the maximum 
credits the college will have clear ratio

However, it was noted that the college does not perform any analysis of ‘one plus’ activity as a result of multiple 
enrolments. This still contributes towards the 2.5% threshold se
should track the credits claimed for students on multiple enrolments to ensure that total ‘one plus’ activity does 
not exceed the maximum

Risk rating: 2

Management response:  

To be actioned by: 

No later than
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Management response:  

To be actioned by: Student Systems Manager

No later than:  November 2018

-Plus Activity for Multiple Enrolments 
As noted above, the college monitors the credits claimed for ‘one plus’ activity in relation to 
exceed the maximum set by the SFC. In addition, where it is planned that courses will exceed the maximum 
credits the college will have clear ratio

However, it was noted that the college does not perform any analysis of ‘one plus’ activity as a result of multiple 
This still contributes towards the 2.5% threshold se

should track the credits claimed for students on multiple enrolments to ensure that total ‘one plus’ activity does 
not exceed the maximum

Risk rating: 2   

Management response:  

To be actioned by: Student Systems Manager

No later than:  November 2018

 

Management response:  A review of options will be undertaken

Student Systems Manager

November 2018 

Plus Activity for Multiple Enrolments 
As noted above, the college monitors the credits claimed for ‘one plus’ activity in relation to 
exceed the maximum set by the SFC. In addition, where it is planned that courses will exceed the maximum 
credits the college will have clear ratio

However, it was noted that the college does not perform any analysis of ‘one plus’ activity as a result of multiple 
This still contributes towards the 2.5% threshold se

should track the credits claimed for students on multiple enrolments to ensure that total ‘one plus’ activity does 
not exceed the maximum for courses and multiple enrolments. 

Management response:  The analys
developed

Student Systems Manager

November 2018 

 

A review of options will be undertaken

Student Systems Manager 

Plus Activity for Multiple Enrolments 
As noted above, the college monitors the credits claimed for ‘one plus’ activity in relation to 
exceed the maximum set by the SFC. In addition, where it is planned that courses will exceed the maximum 
credits the college will have clear rationale as to why they feel it is appropriate to include these extra credits. 

However, it was noted that the college does not perform any analysis of ‘one plus’ activity as a result of multiple 
This still contributes towards the 2.5% threshold se

should track the credits claimed for students on multiple enrolments to ensure that total ‘one plus’ activity does 
for courses and multiple enrolments. 

The analysis was undertaken in 2017/18.  An
developed.  

Student Systems Manager 

 

A review of options will be undertaken

Plus Activity for Multiple Enrolments 
As noted above, the college monitors the credits claimed for ‘one plus’ activity in relation to 
exceed the maximum set by the SFC. In addition, where it is planned that courses will exceed the maximum 

nale as to why they feel it is appropriate to include these extra credits. 

However, it was noted that the college does not perform any analysis of ‘one plus’ activity as a result of multiple 
This still contributes towards the 2.5% threshold se

should track the credits claimed for students on multiple enrolments to ensure that total ‘one plus’ activity does 
for courses and multiple enrolments. 

is was undertaken in 2017/18.  An
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A review of options will be undertaken. 

Plus Activity for Multiple Enrolments 
As noted above, the college monitors the credits claimed for ‘one plus’ activity in relation to 
exceed the maximum set by the SFC. In addition, where it is planned that courses will exceed the maximum 

nale as to why they feel it is appropriate to include these extra credits. 

However, it was noted that the college does not perform any analysis of ‘one plus’ activity as a result of multiple 
This still contributes towards the 2.5% threshold set by the SFC for additional credits. The college 

should track the credits claimed for students on multiple enrolments to ensure that total ‘one plus’ activity does 
for courses and multiple enrolments.  

is was undertaken in 2017/18.  An in

West Lothian College Review of the

Plus Activity for Multiple Enrolments  
As noted above, the college monitors the credits claimed for ‘one plus’ activity in relation to 
exceed the maximum set by the SFC. In addition, where it is planned that courses will exceed the maximum 

nale as to why they feel it is appropriate to include these extra credits. 

However, it was noted that the college does not perform any analysis of ‘one plus’ activity as a result of multiple 
t by the SFC for additional credits. The college 

should track the credits claimed for students on multiple enrolments to ensure that total ‘one plus’ activity does 

in-year 1+ monitoring report will be 

Review of the 2017/18 Credits Return

As noted above, the college monitors the credits claimed for ‘one plus’ activity in relation to courses which 
exceed the maximum set by the SFC. In addition, where it is planned that courses will exceed the maximum 

nale as to why they feel it is appropriate to include these extra credits. 

However, it was noted that the college does not perform any analysis of ‘one plus’ activity as a result of multiple 
t by the SFC for additional credits. The college 

should track the credits claimed for students on multiple enrolments to ensure that total ‘one plus’ activity does 

year 1+ monitoring report will be 

2017/18 Credits Return 

courses which 
exceed the maximum set by the SFC. In addition, where it is planned that courses will exceed the maximum 

nale as to why they feel it is appropriate to include these extra credits.  

However, it was noted that the college does not perform any analysis of ‘one plus’ activity as a result of multiple 
t by the SFC for additional credits. The college 

should track the credits claimed for students on multiple enrolments to ensure that total ‘one plus’ activity does 

year 1+ monitoring report will be 
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However, it was noted that the college does not perform any analysis of ‘one plus’ activity as a result of multiple 
t by the SFC for additional credits. The college 

should track the credits claimed for students on multiple enrolments to ensure that total ‘one plus’ activity does 
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Adjustments
The errors in the FES submission have all been detailed above, these relate to a withdrawn student who had 
not been removed, error in the end date on unit
marked as attending after the withdr

 

 

Unadjusted
As noted
weekends. The MIS manager stated that this would not be re
this late stage but analysis confirmed WLC over
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Adjustments
The errors in the FES submission have all been detailed above, these relate to a withdrawn student who had 
not been removed, error in the end date on unit
marked as attending after the withdr

Description

Withdrawn Student
removed  

Error in End Date

Attendance After 
Withdrawn Date

Infill Students 

Total 

 

 

Unadjusted
As noted under 
weekends. The MIS manager stated that this would not be re
this late stage but analysis confirmed WLC over

Interpretation of Required 
Dates 
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Adjustments
The errors in the FES submission have all been detailed above, these relate to a withdrawn student who had 
not been removed, error in the end date on unit
marked as attending after the withdr

Description 

Withdrawn Student not 

Error in End Date 

Attendance After 
Withdrawn Date 

Infill Students  

Unadjusted
under risk area 7, we identified that WLC have interpreted the required date to exclude holidays and 

weekends. The MIS manager stated that this would not be re
this late stage but analysis confirmed WLC over

Interpretation of Required 

Review of the 2017/18 Credits Return

Adjustments 
The errors in the FES submission have all been detailed above, these relate to a withdrawn student who had 
not been removed, error in the end date on unit
marked as attending after the withdrawn date and a lack of evidence of attendance for infill students. 

Adjustment to number 
of Credits claimed

Unadjusted errors
risk area 7, we identified that WLC have interpreted the required date to exclude holidays and 

weekends. The MIS manager stated that this would not be re
this late stage but analysis confirmed WLC over

Interpretation of Required 

2017/18 Credits Return 

The errors in the FES submission have all been detailed above, these relate to a withdrawn student who had 
not been removed, error in the end date on unit-E which lead to credits not being claimed, a student incorrectly 

awn date and a lack of evidence of attendance for infill students. 

Adjustment to number 
of Credits claimed

6 

(2) 

1 

5 

10 

errors 
risk area 7, we identified that WLC have interpreted the required date to exclude holidays and 

weekends. The MIS manager stated that this would not be re
this late stage but analysis confirmed WLC over cla

15.5 

 

The errors in the FES submission have all been detailed above, these relate to a withdrawn student who had 
E which lead to credits not being claimed, a student incorrectly 

awn date and a lack of evidence of attendance for infill students. 
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of these controls in ensuring the accuracy of the data. 
evidence relevant to the figures recorded in the student data returns. 
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In our opinion: 
 The student data returns have been compiled in accordance with all relevant guidance. 
 Adequate procedures are in place to ensure the accurate collection and recording of the data. 
 On the basis of our testing [subject to the exceptions given below] we can provide reasonable assurance 

that the FES return contains no material misstatement. 
 

 

Signature  

Date  

Name of audit firm 

Contact name 

Contact telephone number 

Date FES returned 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

moncrieff.com 

Annex A 
Audit Report  
Auditor’s report to the members of the Board of Management of 

We have audited the FES return which has been prepared by 
Guidance issued 10 May 2017
college’s Principal in her 
guidance contained in the 
procedures and controls relevant to the collection and recording of student data.
of these controls in ensuring the accuracy of the data. 
evidence relevant to the figures recorded in the student data returns. 
us reasonable assurance that the returns are free from material misstatement. 

In our opinion:  
The student data returns have been compiled in accordance with all relevant guidance. 
Adequate procedures are in place to ensure the accurate collection and recording of the data. 
On the basis of our testing [subject to the exceptions given below] we can provide reasonable assurance 
that the FES return contains no material misstatement. 
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Auditor’s report to the members of the Board of Management of West Lothian College

We have audited the FES return which has been prepared by West Lothian College
and which has been confirmed as being free from material misstatement by the 
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Audit Committee 
 
Annual Internal Audit Report 2017-18 

The Annual Internal Audit Report for 2017-18 is attached to this paper.   

In the internal auditor’s opinion, the College has a framework of internal 
controls in place that provides reasonable assurance regarding the 
organisation’s governance, risk management, achievement of objectives and 
value for money. 
 
Action 
 
The Committee is asked to review and discuss the findings within the Report. 
 
 
 
 
Jennifer McLaren 
Vice Principal, Finance & Curriculum Support  
29 November 2018 
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Introduction 
Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) state that: 

“The Chief Audit Executive must deliver an annual internal audit opinion and report that can be used by the 

organisation to inform its governance statement.” 

“The annual internal audit opinion must conclude on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the organisation’s 

framework of governance, risk management and control.” 

To meet the above requirements, this Annual Report summarises our conclusions and key findings from the 

internal audit work undertaken at West Lothian College during the year ended 31 July 2018, including our overall 

opinion on West Lothian College’s internal control system. 

Acknowledgement 

We would like to take this opportunity to thank all members of management and staff for the help, courtesy and co-

operation extended to us during the year. 
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Overall internal audit opinion 

Basis of opinion 

As the Internal Auditor of West Lothian College, we are required by PSIAS to provide the audit committee with 

assurance on the whole system of internal control.  In giving our opinion it should be noted that assurance can 

never be absolute.  The most that the internal audit service can provide is reasonable assurance that there are no 

major weaknesses in the whole system of internal control. 

In assessing the level of assurance to be given, we have taken into account: 

 All reviews undertaken as part of the 2017/18 internal audit plan; 

 Any scope limitations imposed by management; 

 Matters arising from previous reviews and the extent of follow-up action taken including in year audits; 

 Expectations of senior management, the audit committee and other stakeholders; 

 The extent to which internal controls address the client’s risk management /control framework; 

 The effect of any significant changes in West Lothian College’s objectives or systems; and  

 The internal audit coverage achieved to date.  

In my professional judgement as Chief Audit Executive, sufficient and appropriate audit procedures have been 

conducted and evidence gathered to support the basis and the accuracy of the conclusions reached and contained 

in this report.  The conclusions were based on a comparison of the situations as they existed at the time against 

the audit criteria.  The conclusions are only applicable for the entity examined.  The evidence gathered meets 

professional audit standards and is sufficient to provide senior management with proof of the conclusions derived 

from the internal audit work. 

 

Internal Audit Opinion 

In our opinion, West Lothian College has a framework of internal controls in place that provides reasonable 

assurance regarding the organisation’s governance, risk management, achievement of objectives and value for 

money. 

 

 

Scott-Moncrieff 

October 2018 



 

scott-moncrieff.com West Lothian College Internal Audit Annual Report 2017/18 3 

Internal audit work performed 

Scope and responsibilities 

Management 

It is management’s responsibility to establish a sound internal control system.  The internal control system 

comprises the whole network of systems and processes established to provide reasonable assurance that 

organisational objectives will be achieved, with particular reference to: 

 risk management; 

 the effectiveness of operations; 

 the economic and efficient use of resources; 

 compliance with applicable policies, procedures, laws and regulations; 

 safeguards against losses, including those arising from fraud, irregularity or corruption; and 

 the integrity and reliability of information and data. 

Internal auditor 

The Internal Auditor assists management by examining, evaluating and reporting on the controls in order to provide 

an independent assessment of the adequacy of the internal control system.  To achieve this, the Internal Auditor 

should: 

 analyse the internal control system and establish a review programme; 

 identify and evaluate the controls which are established to achieve objectives in the most economic and 

efficient manner; 

 report findings and conclusions and, where appropriate, make recommendations for improvement; 

 provide an opinion on the reliability of the controls in the system under review; and 

 provide an assurance based on the evaluation of the internal control system within the organisation as a whole. 

Planning process 

In order that we can provide an annual assurance statement supporting the Governance Statement, we include all 

of West Lothian College’s activities and systems within the scope of our internal audit reviews. 

Our strategic and annual internal audit plans are designed to provide the Audit Committee with assurance that 

West Lothian College’s internal control system is effective in managing the key risks and best value is being 

achieved.  The plans are therefore informed by the College’s risk management system and linked to the Corporate 

Risk Register. 

The Strategic Internal Audit Plan was agreed in consultation with senior management and both discussed and 

formally approved by the Audit Committee.   

The Plan is subject to revision throughout the year to reflect changes in West Lothian College’s risk profile. 
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We have planned our work so that we have a reasonable expectation of detecting significant control weaknesses.  

However, internal audit can never guarantee to detect all fraud or other irregularities and cannot be held 

responsible for internal control failures. 

Cover achieved 

Our Internal Audit Plan comprises 49 days for the year 2017/18.  This includes time for certification work in relation 

to SFC and SAAS funding returns.  Our plan was delivered in full, with the exception of one day of contingency that 

was not required during the period.  A comparison of actual coverage against the 2017/18 plan is attached at 

Appendix 1. 

We confirm that there were no resource limitations that impinged on our ability to meet the full audit needs of West 

Lothian College and no restrictions were placed on our work by management. 

We did not rely on the work performed by a third party during the period. 

Reports 

We have prepared a report for each of the internal audit reviews completed and presented these reports to the 

Audit Committee. 

Where relevant, all reports contained action plans detailing responsible officers and implementation dates.  The 

reports were fully discussed and agreed with management prior to submission to the Audit Committee.   

We made no significant recommendations that were not accepted by management. 
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Summary of reports by control objective and action grade 

Internal audit reports completed during 2017/18 are as summarised in the table below.  

Review Control objective 
assessment 

 No. of issues per grading 

  5 4 3 2 1 

A.4 Core Financial Systems 

 

 

- - - 2 1 

C.1 Health and Safety 

 

 

- 

 
- - 3 - 

C.4 Student Marketing, 
applications and Admissions 

 

 

- - - 4 1 

C.5 Student Enrolment and 
Induction 

 

 

- - - 1 - 

D.2 ICT Review N/A* - - - - - 

Credits, Student Funds and EMA N/A** 
 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

* We provided consultancy support to the College in implementing required changes to comply with GDPR. 

** Different reporting style with no assessed control objectives, in line with funding body requirements. 

 
Control objective assessment definitions 

  

  

Critical: fundamental absence or failure of key controls

High: control objective not achieved - controls are inadequate or 
ineffective

Moderate: Control objective achieved - no major weaknesses but 
scope for improvement

Low: Control objective achieved - controls are adequate, effective and 
efficient

R 

 A 

Y 

G 
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Management action prioritisation definitions  
 

 
 

Progress in implementing internal audit actions  

Overall, management has made good progress in relation to agreed audit actions.  We reviewed management’s 

progress in implementing 32 outstanding actions and obtained sufficient evidence to close 20 actions (63%). We 

also confirmed one action (3%) as “no longer applicable” (which was originally graded as a low risk finding).  Of the 

11 remaining outstanding actions, one action (3%) is complete (pending validation of evidence), three actions (9%) 

are partially complete, and seven actions (22%) are not yet due for completion. 

 

Key Themes 

We did not identify any significant findings within the audits completed during the period.  Through our reviews, we 

confirmed the College had robust controls in place across these areas and noted only minor improvements to 

strengthen the existing control frameworks.   

Overall, management have also made good progress in implementing previously-agreed recommendations. 

Independence 

PSIAS require us to communicate on a timely basis all facts and matters that may have a bearing on our 

independence.  We can confirm that the staff members involved in each 2017/18 internal audit review were 

independent of West Lothian College and their objectivity was not compromised in any way. 

•Very high risk exposure - major concerns requiring immediate senior 
management attention. 

4

•High risk exposure - absence / failure of key controls3

•Moderate risk exposure - controls not working effectively and efficiently.2

•Limited risk exposure - controls are working effectively, but could be 
strengthened.  1

20
1

1
3

7

Status of recommendations

Complete

No longer applicable

Complete pending validation

Partially complete

Not yet due



 

scott-moncrieff.com West Lothian College Internal Audit Annual Report 2017/18 7 

Conformance with Public Sector Internal Audit Standards 

We confirm that our internal audit service conforms to the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards, which are based 

on the International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing.  This is confirmed through our 

quality assurance and improvement programme, which includes cyclical internal and external assessments of our 

methodology and practice, against the standards.  

A summary of the results of our most recent assessments are provided at Appendix 2. 
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Appendix 1 – Planned v actual days 2017/18 

Ref and Name of report Planned 
Days 

Actual          
Days 

A. Key Financial systems reviews   

A.4 Income (Non SFC)  3 3 

A.5 Receivables and Debt Management 1.5 1.5 

A.7 Treasury and Cash Management 2 2 

B. Key Strategic reviews   

C.     Key Operational reviews   

C.1 Health and Safety 4 4 

C.4 Student marketing, applications and admissions 6 6 

C.5 Student Enrolment and Induction  6 6 

D. Information Systems Review   

D.2 ICT Review 4 4 

E.     Other Reviews    

E.1 Follow Up of Prior Recommendations 2 2 

E.2 Credits, Student Funds and EMA 14 14 

F.     Internal Audit Management   

Audit Management 1.5 1.5 

Audit Planning and Annual Reporting 2 2 

Audit Committee (Attendance and Preparation) 2 2 

Management Support/Contingency Days 1  

Total 49 48 

 

The plan set out above was agreed with management and progress/any updates reported to the Audit Committee 

during the year. 
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Appendix 2 – Summary of Internal Quality 
Assurance Assessment 
We are pleased to disclose the outcome of our regular internal and external quality assessments with our clients.  

We believe it is important to provide you with assurance that the service you receive is of a high quality and fully 

compliant with internal audit standards. 

Outlined below are extracts from our most recent external quality assessment undertaken in July 2018. 

External Quality Assessment summary 

Executive Summary 
 

We are pleased to report that Scott-Moncrieff may state in their internal audit reports that the work “has been 

performed in accordance with the IPPF”. The team similarly conform to the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards 

(PSIAS).  

The Internal Audit team fully meet the vast majority of the Standards, as well as the Definition, Core 

Principles and the Code of Ethics, which form the mandatory elements of the Institute of Internal Auditors’ 

International Professional Practices Framework (IPPF), the globally recognised standard for quality in Internal 

Auditing. The Institute describe this as “Generally Conforms”.  

This is an excellent result and is based on an extensive external quality assessment (EQA) covering the team’s 

approach, methodology, processes and a sample of files by an experienced external assessor who is a serving 

Head of Assurance and Audit Committee Chair. 

Overview of the External Quality Assessment Process 
 

We undertook extensive background research covering the team’s methodology and processes, before 

undertaking an intensive onsite visit over 25-28 June 2018, in which we interviewed a small number of team 

members and reviewed a sample of working files covering a representative range of the team’s clients and sectors. 

After the onsite visit we finalised our evaluation, assessment and reporting.  

The EQA involved comparison of working practices against the Institute of Internal Auditors’ global International 

Professional Practices Framework1 (the IPPF) and the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS). 

During this external assessment we have followed this process: 

 Examined and reflected upon the requirements of the Definition of Internal Auditing, the Code of Ethics 

and each International Standard. We have used the relevant Interpretation within the Standards to build 

our understanding. 

 Considered the key conformance criteria needed to demonstrate compliance.  

 Recorded the full range and extent of the evidence that exists within the team and that demonstrates 

conformance with the Standard. We have undertaken this through interviews with team members as well 

as reviewing files and engagement reports.  

                                                      
1 The global IPPF is followed by more than 180,000 internal auditors in 190 countries around the world. 
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 Compared the evidence to the key conformance criteria and assessed the degree of conformance. We 

have used the standard IIA definitions that are provided below on page 13 to guide our evaluation.  

 
Conformance to the Standards: The International Professional Practice Framework (IPPF) 
 

Our objective of this External Quality Assurance (EQA) review was to undertake an independent, objective external 

quality assessment of the Scott-Moncrieff Internal Audit team against the IPPF and PSIAS. This included 

considering the team’s conformance to both the IPPF and PSIAS and informally benchmarking the function’s 

activities against best practice.  

The Institute of Internal Audit’s (IIA’s) International Professional Practice Framework (IPPF) includes the Definition 

of Internal Auditing, Core Principles, Code of Ethics and International Standards. There are 64 fundamental 

principles to achieve with 118 points of recommended practice. 

We include a summary of the Internal Audit Service’s conformance to both the IPPF and the core principles below. 

Overall, we believe that the Internal Audit Service has achieved an excellent performance given the breadth of the 

IPPF and the diverse organisational contexts and sectors that the team operate across.   

 
Summary of IIA 
Conformance 

Standards N/A Does not 
Conform 

Partially 
Conforms 

Generally 
Conforms 

Total 

Definition of IA and Code of 
Ethics 

Rules of 
conduct 

0 0 0 12 12 

Purpose 1000 - 1130 0 0 0 8 8 

Proficiency and Due 
Professional Care  

1200 - 1230 0 0 0 4 4 

Quality Assurance and 
Improvement Programme 

1300 - 1322 2 0 1 4 7 

Managing the Internal Audit 
Activity 

2000 - 2130 0 0 1 11 12 

Engagement Planning and 
Delivery 

2200 - 2600 1 0 0 20 21 

Total  3 0 2 59 64 

 

The overall assessment resulting from the EQA is that the Scott-Moncrieff Internal Audit team “generally 

conforms to the IIA’s professional standards”.   

The Scott-Moncrieff Internal Audit team are able to say in reports and other literature that it “conforms to the IIA’s 

professional standards” and that its work has been performed “in accordance with the IPPF.” 

This EQA was conducted as a full external quality assessment using methods recommended by the Chartered 

Institute of Internal Auditors.  
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Key Achievements 
 

We believe that the team perform particularly well in a number of areas. We were most impressed by the following 

points: 

 The Scott-Moncrieff Internal Audit team delivers an effective, efficient and economic independent and 

objective assurance service across a range of client organisations primarily in the government, education, 

health and social housing sectors.  

 The team develop an Audit Charter, Audit Needs Assessment, strategic and annual plans with each client. 

The team take account of the client’s risk maturity. 

 Annual planning is comprehensive and is a participative process involving clients and stakeholders at 

appropriate stages. Progress against the annual plans are documented and reported on regularly to 

respective audit committees and senior managers.  

 The team have developed an appropriate methodology for auditing key objectives, risks and controls 

across client organisations at a high level. The operational internal audit processes are fit for purpose, 

documented in a professional audit manual and supported by use of Pentana an effective Audit 

Management Software application.  

 The team are beginning to make use of IDEA, an effective file interrogation software package since its 

adoption earlier this year. This has the potential to help make the team’s internal audit process even more 

efficient, while enhancing the quality of assurance provided to client organisations. 

 The team’s standard internal audit engagement report template is professional, useful and represents 

good practice. The approach is concise. The reports we reviewed were jargon-free and (on the whole) 

reader friendly. 

 Our file reviews demonstrated appropriate compliance with the methodology and sufficient evidence of 

appropriate supervision and review.  

 The team’s internal audit delivery is very efficient, with tightly focused engagements resulting in short 

durations and (usually) minimal elapsed time from start to finish.  

 Follow up of outstanding recommendations occurs at least annually. 

 Continuous Personal Development (CPD) is encouraged, knowledge sharing occurs across the team 

through quarterly development days (and other initiatives) and expertise from elsewhere across Scott-

Moncrieff can be accessed (if required) for more specialist engagements. 

 Client feedback is actively sought following the internal audit engagements and reported to the Audit, Risk 

and Governance Committee. 

 
Opportunities for Further Development  
 

We believe that the Scott-Moncrieff Internal Audit team fall slightly short against just two Standards, both of which 

we assess as “partially conforms”. 

The first of these is Attribute Standard 1312, External Assessments. This Standard states, “External assessments 

must be conducted at least once every five years by a qualified, independent assessor or assessment team from 

outside the organisation...” We understand that a CHEIA peer review was the only previous, formal external 
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assessment of elements of the Scott-Moncrieff Internal Audit team. Our current review represents the first formal 

external assessment and so the team have not fully conformed to this Standard to date. 

The second is Performance Standard 2050, Coordination. The Standard states, “The chief audit executive should 

share information, coordinate activities and consider relying upon the work of other internal and external assurance 

and consulting service providers to ensure proper coverage and minimise duplication of efforts”. The need to 

consider how best to rely on and coordinate with other assurance providers is an emerging area of internal audit 

practice. It depends as much on the client and their other assurance providers as it does internal audit. However, 

we believe that it is something that could be explored more fully as governance, risk management and control 

maturity increases across larger client organisations.  

We also make a small number of additional suggestions for further development to enhance these – and other – 

areas of the team’s service delivery.  

We are happy to provide audit committee members with the full report, if required. 

Our response 

We welcome the findings of the most recent external assessment; a detailed action plan has been put in place to 

address the areas for further development to further enhance our internal audit practices. 
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Audit Committee 
 
College Audit Rolling Action Plan 

The College Audit Action Plan shows progress in implementing previously 
agreed Internal Audit recommendations.  The attached table shows the 
position as at November 2018. 
 
There are a number of recommendations where an extension to the deadline 
has been requested.  The paragraphs below outline the reasons for the delay 
in implementing the recommendations. 
 
Commercial and Corporate Engagement Strategy (Action 1) 
 
Feedback on the draft strategy has been received from college managers on 
the Corporate Engagement Committee and the strategy is scheduled to be 
discussed by the Senior Team on 4 December 2018.  A number of themes 
contained in the strategy are already being developed and are contributing to 
achieving the current commercial income targets and informing curriculum 
development.    
 
Student Marketing, Applications and Admissions (Actions 4, 5 and 6) 
 
These three actions are interrelated. The recommendations from the review 
undertaken by the Admissions Committee were reviewed by the Curriculum 
Strategy Committee on 21 November and there were no immediate objections 
raised, but some members wanted more time to reflect on some of the 
specific recommendations. Final consideration of the recommendations will 
take place at the meeting of 20 December 2018.  
 
The final agreed recommendations will then be reflected in the final revisions 
made to the Admissions and Enrolment Policy. The intention is for all the 
agreed changes to be in place by the end of January 2019 which is when 
interviews will commence for the 2019-20 academic year. In the meantime the 
current interview procedures will be used for recruitment onto January 2019 
starts. 
 
Student Marketing, Applications and Admissions Revised Marketing & 
Communication Strategy (Action 2) 
 
Given the fundamental role the new Outcome Agreement will have in shaping 
the revised Marketing and Communication strategy, it was thought best that 
the timelines for the production of both are brought together. In the meantime 
the new web site and the launch and promotion of the 2019-20 curriculum are 
all underpinned by the findings of the brand articulation project which will also 
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be the foundation of the revised strategy. Therefore no projects or activities 
are being held back by the strategy being delayed.  
 
Action 
 
The Committee is asked to note progress against plan. 
 
 
 
 
Jennifer McLaren 
Vice Principal, Finance & Curriculum Services 
29 November 2018 
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2017-18 – 1 August 2017 – 31 July 2018 
 
Status November 2017 November 2018 
 Grade     

4-5 
Grade     

3 
Grade  

1-2 
Grade 

4-5 
Grade  

3 
Grade 

1-2 
Completed recommendations by original 
deadline (subject to Internal Audit Review) 
 

- - - - - - 

Completed recommendations by extended 
deadline (subject to Internal Audit Review) 
 

- - - - - - 

Outstanding recommendations on target  
 

- - - - - 2 

Outstanding recommendations past agreed 
deadline 
 

- - - - - 5 

Total 
 

- - - - - 7 
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2017-18 

  No Audit Report Topic  Report 
Date 

Background Recommendation College Response Responsibility  Deadline 
 

Status Update/ 
Comments 

Revised 
Deadline 
 

1 Core Financial Systems – 
The College has a strategy in 
place for non SFC income 
which includes both short 
term and long term 
objectives for achieving set 
targets of income from 
various sources – Non SFC 
Income 

Feb 
2018 

The College may not maximise its 
opportunities for income growth, 
given the lack of a strategy with 
clear objectives and targets for 
developing new and existing 
income streams.  This could impair 
the funding available to deliver the 
College’s services, particularly 
given public sector funding 
pressures.  

Develop a strategy for income 
generation including:- 
Identification and appraisal of both new 
and existing income streams available 
to the College; 
Clear targets for each income stream, 
with sufficient back up to demonstrate 
the targets are achievable and have 
been risk assessed and 
Short-term and long term objectives for 
achieving the targets set, which are 
SMART and supported by a detailed 
action plan. 
 
Grade 2 

Agreed.  Need for strategy 
as part of 2017-18 objective 
setting.  As the document 
will be in public domain, 
given the commercial 
sensitivity of some of the 
targets and proposed 
actions, these will be 
included within the 
associated annual action 
plan which will not be 
published. 

Vice Principal, 
Curriculum & 
Enterprise 

31 July ‘18 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
31 Aug ‘18 

  
June ’18 update 
on target 
 
 
 
September ’18 update 
 
The Commercial and 
Corporate Engagement 
Strategy not yet finalised 
 
November ’18 update 
 
Strategy has been drafted 
and is in internal circulation 
for comment and 
finalisation. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
31 Aug 
‘18 
 
 
End Feb 
‘19 
 

2 Student Marketing, 
Applications and 
Admissions (1.1 Revised 
Marketing & 
Communication Strategy) – 
There is a robust and 
approved recruitment and 
communications strategy in 
place, to inform and attract 
potential learners in line with 
the College’s overarching 
strategy and regional 
outcome agreement. 

May 
2018 

The contents of the strategy may 
not reflect internal governance and 
process changes.  If the strategy 
does not reflect these changes, this 
could impact on its effective 
delivery in line with the College’s 
wider strategies and policies. 

The College should ensure that the 
revised strategy aligns to recent 
governance and process changes with 
the College.  This includes the updated 
Admissions and Enrolment Policy and 
the creation of the Admissions 
Committee. 
 
Grade 1 

Agreed. Vice Principal, 
Curriculum & 
Enterprise 

Nov ‘18 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
November ’18 update 
 
The recommendations from 
the brand articulation 
project will inform the 
strategy, as will the revised 
Admissions and Enrolment 
Policy. Given the role of the 
marketing strategy to help 
deliver the new ROA the 
recommendation is to delay 
its final revision to align it 
with the publication of the 
new ROA in Spring 2019. 
 
 

 
End Feb 
‘19 
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  No Audit Report Topic  Report 
Date 

Background Recommendation College Response Responsibility  Deadline 
 

Status Update/ 
Comments 

Revised 
Deadline 
 

3 Student Marketing, 
Applications and 
Admissions (3.1 Enrolling 
for part-time courses) – 
There is clear and 
comprehensive application 
documentation to facilitate 
understanding and minimise 
time spend on responding to 
standard enquiries for both 
internal and external 
stakeholders. 

May 
2018 

Potential applicants may be 
deterred by the lack of an electronic 
option for enrolment.  This may 
impact groups from SIMD 
postcodes who are known as being 
less easy to engage.  The current 
process also results in an inefficient 
use of staff resources through 
unnecessary data entry and 
introduces the risk of human error 
in the information entered onto the 
system. 

Full automation of the process for p-t 
students may not be possible however 
the college should investigate whether 
an online enrolment process could be 
rolled out to reduce the need for 
additional, manual steps, such as 
attending enrolment events in person 
and manual input by staff into 
Columbus. 
 
Grade 2 

On-line enrolment is being 
taken forward in 18-19 for 
full time and part time 
students and the College is 
planning to go live in 19-20. 

MIS Manager July ‘19   
November ’18 update 
 
On target, with the online 
pre enrolment task being 
built and tested early 
December ‘18 by CAPITA. 
 

 

4 Student Marketing, 
Applications and 
Admissions (3.2 Internal 
Guidance on Handling 
Queries)  

May 
2018 

Students may not apply to the 
College as their enquiries may not 
be answered on a timely basis, 
which could negatively impact on 
the College’s reputation and ability 
to attract students and deliver 
activity targets. 

The College should develop guidance 
that clearly sets out the roles and 
responsibilities of the relevant College 
teams in handling and responding to 
enquiries from potential applicants.  
This should include expected response 
times, including where further 
investigation is needed to answer 
queries received. 
 
Grade 2 
 

Agreed.  This will be 
included into the revised 
Admissions and Enrolment 
Policy. 
 

Vice Principal 
Curriculum & 
Enterprise 

End Sept ‘18   
November ’18 update 
 
This will be outlined in the 
new policy and reflected on 
the admissions section of 
the web site. 

 
31 Jan 
‘19 

5 Student Marketing, 
Applications and 
Admissions (4.1 Student 
Recruitment Process - There 
is a robust, efficient and 
effective process to assess 
and offer places to 
applicants, reflective of 
approved procedures)  

May 
2018 

The current student admission 
process may not be fit-for-purpose, 
as the process has not been 
formally reviewed since 2015.  Non-
compliance with the SOP may lead 
to delayed or inappropriate decision 
making and impair outcomes. 

We recommend that staff review the 
SOP and Interview Checklist for 
Student Recruitment to ensure it is fit-
for purpose in light of staff resources 
and aligned to the revised Admissions 
and Enrolment Policy.  The revised 
SOP should then be shared with staff 
and the policy updated to signpost staff 
to the SOP for further guidance. 
 
Grade 2 
 

Agreed. This will be 
reviewed by the 
Admissions Committee to 
inform the 2019-20 
Curriculum Plan. 

Vice Principal 
Curriculum & 
Enterprise 

End Nov ‘18   
November ’18 update 
 
The SOP and Interview 
Checklist will be finalised 
once the main 
recommendations from the 
review of interviews have 
been considered and 
agreed.  

 
31 Jan 
‘19 

6 Student Marketing, 
Applications and 
Admissions (4.2 Interview 
Process)  

May 
2018 

The College may not be achieving 
value for money from requiring 
such a significant level interviews.  
This also diverts resources from 
strategic or operational objectives 
in other areas. 

The College may not be achieving 
value for money from requiring such a 
significant level of interviews.  This 
also diverts resources from strategic or 
operational objectives in other areas. 
 
Grade 2 
 

Agreed.  This will be 
revised by the Admissions 
Committee to inform the 
2019-20 Curriculum Plan. 

Vice Principal 
Curriculum & 
Enterprise 

End Nov ‘18   
November ’18 update 
 
The recommendations from 
the review undertaken by 
the Admissions Committee 
will be reviewed by the 
Curriculum Strategy 
Committee on Nov 21st 
before approval by the 
Senior Team.  

 
31 Jan 
‘19 

 

  



College Audit Action Plan 

 

AC/060918/iShare 
 

4 
 

  No Audit Report Topic  Report 
Date 

Background Recommendation College Response Responsibility  Deadline 
 

Status Update/ 
Comments 

Revised 
Deadline 
 

7 Student Enrolment & 
Induction - There is a 
feedback process in place, to 
support student feedback 
and to inform continuous 
improvements across all key 
aspects of enrolment and 
induction. 

August 
2018 

There is a risk that centralised 
delivery of the induction programme 
does not address all areas of 
student concern, as specific 
improvement actions to address 
these points have not been agreed.  
The College may miss the 
opportunity to improve the student 
experience and enhance its 
reputation for attracting future 
students. 

Following the enrolment and induction 
process for session 2018-19, the 
College should compare feedback 
from students and staff against the 
prior year to assess the success of the 
centralised student induction process. 
This includes whether the revised 
process has addressed the specific 
concerns raised about the 2017/18 
process, such as the inclusion of 
information on the complaints process. 
Going forward, where areas for 
improvement are identified from 
student feedback, the College should 
identify formal actions to address key 
areas of concern to ensure 
improvements are achieved in these 
areas. Actions should be SMART 
(specific, measurable, achievable, 
relevant and timely) and assigned an 
owner and timescale for 
implementation, with progress 
monitored through to completion. 
Where an overarching action is 
identified to address multiple concerns 
raised by students, staff should satisfy 
themselves that the action will 
address those concerns collectively 
and also on an individual basis. 
 
Grade 2 

We will undertake a full 
evaluation of the 2018-19 
induction process. 

Vice Principal, 
Curriculum & 
Planning 

Dec ‘18   
November ’18 update 
 
On target. Data and 
feedback being collected in 
the course of November. 
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Audit Committee 
 
Audit Committee’s Annual Report to the Board of Governors 

The Financial Memorandum between the College and the Scottish Funding 
Council states that the Audit Committee must produce an annual report for the 
Board of Governors. 

 A draft report is attached to this paper. 
 
Action 
 
The Committee is invited to discuss and approve the draft report for the year 
ended 31 July 2018. 
 
 
 
 
Jennifer McLaren 
Vice Principal, Finance & Curriculum Services 
29 November 2018 
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Audit Committee  
 
Audit Committee Report to the Board of Governors  
 
Period: Year ended 31 July 2018 
 
1 Introduction 
 
 In complying with the duties of the Audit Committee, as expressed in its 

Terms of Reference, the Committee has met over the year, to consider 
the annual financial statements, health & safety reports, review the 
financial and other control systems and strategic risk register and to 
consider significant relevant reports from the Scottish Funding Council 
and other bodies. 

 
 What follows is a summary for the year, and the committee’s opinion 

thereof in respect of:- 
 

i) Audit Committee Administrative Matters 
ii) Internal Audit 
iii) External Audit 
iv) Other Relevant Matters 

 
2 Audit Committee Administrative Matters 
 
 The previous Audit Committee Report to the Board of Governors was 

submitted in 2017 and covered the year 1 August 2016 to 31 July 2017. 
 
 During the period, membership of the Audit Committee was as follows:- 
 

Graham Hope Chair 1/8/17 – 31/7/18 
Simon Ashpool Member 1/8/17 – 31/7/18 
Sue Cook Member 1/8/17 – 31/7/18 
Colin Millar Member 1/8/17 – 31/7/18 
Norman Ross Member 1/8/17 – 31/7/18 

 
 The Principal also attended meetings, although not a member. 
 
 The Secretary to the Board also attended meetings.    
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3 Internal Audit 
 

3.1 The College’s internal audit service was provided by Scott 
Moncrieff.  Scott Moncrieff was re-appointed in March 2018 for a 
three year period. 
 

 The fees for the internal audit work contained in the Accounts was 
£21,000. 

 
 3.2 During the period August 2017-July 2018 the following areas were 

reviewed: 
 

(1) Core Financial Systems 
(2)     Health & Safety 
(3)     Student Marketing, Applications & Admissions 
(4)     Student Enrolment & Induction 

 
 3.3 The reports identified areas for improvement and a rolling action 

plan has been produced by the College to ensure that these 
improvements are made. 

   
3.4 Summary of Grades 
 

The table below provides a summary of grades over the last 3 
years.   
 
Grade* 5 4 3 2 1 Total 
2017-18 0 0 0 10 2 12 
2016-17 0 1 7 15 1 24 
2015-16 0 2 8 7 4 21 
 
*Grade Definition 
5 -  Very high risk exposure – Major concerns requiring immediate   

Board attention. 
4 -  High risk exposure – Absence/failure of significant key  

controls. 
3 -  Moderate risk exposure – Not all key control procedures are 

working effectively. 
2 -  Limited risk exposure – Minor control procedures are not in 

place/not working effectively. 
1 -  Efficiency/housekeeping point 
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4 External Audit 
 

4.1 The college’s external audit service is provided by Mazars, as 
appointed by Audit Scotland, for a five year period commencing 
2017. This is the second year of the external audit service being 
provided by Mazars.   

  
  Although the College does not appoint Mazars, the Audit 

Committee will however continue to monitor the scope and quality 
of their work.   

 
4.2   The fees for the period, as contained in the Accounts, were 

£14,000. 
 
4.3 The College generated a deficit before other gains and losses in 

the year of £939,000 (2017 - deficit of £277,000), with total 
comprehensive income surplus of £1,712,000 (2017 – surplus of 
£2,868,000).  The total comprehensive income in 2017 included an 
unrealised surplus on revaluation of assets of £2,221,000.  The 
total comprehensive income in 2018 recorded an actuarial gain in 
respect of pension funds of £2,651,000 (2017 – gain of £924,000).  
After transfer of £299,000 from the revaluation reserve, the 
cumulative deficit on the Income and Expenditure account 
decreased by £2,011,000 from £11,273,000 deficit to £9,262,000 
deficit. 

  
The cumulative deficit at the year-end comprised £153,000 for 
holiday pay accrual, £2,527,000 for voluntary agreed PFI 
termination loan, £3,688,000 for early retirement provisions, 
£2,783,000 for defined benefit pension obligations and £111,000 
for trading activities. 

 
The College is reporting net total liabilities of £3,121,000 in its 
balance sheet which is due to the reclassification of deferred 
Government Grant as deferred income within creditors and 
allocated between creditors due within one year and due after more 
than one year as appropriate. 
 

4.4       Mazars will provide an unqualified Audit Report. 
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5 Risk Management 
 
 The College is required to implement policies and procedures 

concerning risk management.  During 2017-18 the Committee received 
regular Risk Management Reports. 

 
 
6 Health & Safety 
 
 The committee received and reviewed regular H&S reports as part of its 

remit to provide assurance to the Board of Governors that the College 
has in place appropriate policies and procedures to promote and 
safeguard the health and safety of staff, students and all stakeholders 
and satisfies current legislation. 

 
 
7      Annual Report on Performance Indicators – Internal and External     

Audit year ended 31 July 2018 
 

Internal Audit 

 Actual 
 

Budget 
 

Notes 

 
Cost 
Number of days 
Average cost per day 
Completion of agreed operational plan 

 
£18,060 

35 
£516 

100% 

 
£18,060 

35 
£516 

100% 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
External Audit 

 Actual 
 

Budget 
 

Notes 

 
Cost 
Number of days 
Average cost per day 
 

 
£14,484 

32 
£453 

 
£14,484 

32 
£453 
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Reporting 

 Actual 
 

Deadline 
 

Notes 

Statutory Accounts  
Management Letter 

31 Dec 18 
31 Dec 18 

31 Dec 18 
31 Dec 18 

(1) 

 
  
 
Notes 
 

(1) This assumes that the Board of Governors approve the accounts. 
 
 
8 Value for Money 
 

The college has a Value for Money Policy and the Audit Committee is 
satisfied that arrangements have been put in place to promote economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness. 

 
 
9 Conclusion 
 
 On the basis of the above the Audit Committee is satisfied that the 

College’s risk management, control and governance systems are 
effective. 

 
The Board is asked to note this report of activities. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Graham Hope 
Chair Audit Committee 
29 November 2018 
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Audit Committee 
 
Strategic Risk Register November 2018 update 
 
Introduction   
 
The Strategic Risk Register for 2018-19 is set in the context of the 2018-19 Outcome 
Agreement, which takes account of government policy drivers such as Developing 
the Young Workforce and the 15-24 Learner Journey Review and was reviewed by 
the Audit Committee in September 2018.   
 
Strategic Risks 2018-19 
 
The Committee agreed the following eight key risks for the college: 
 
1 Failure to develop a demand-led curriculum portfolio due to a lack of engagement 

with key stakeholders or lack of focus on government objectives; 
 

2 Not providing a high quality learning experience due to poor alignment of 
resources, and/or poor quality of teaching; 

 
3 Not delivering on SDS apprenticeship contracts, SFC educational contracts and 

commercial contracts due to inability to bid successfully, insufficient resources 
and ineffective performance monitoring; 

 
4 Failing to attract, retain and develop appropriate staff with the skills required to 

meet the current and future needs due to insufficient workforce and succession 
planning;  

 
5 Unable to invest fully in the estate due to reduced SFC capital funding and 

investment funds; 
 

6 External funding pressures adversely impacting on future college sustainability 
and the delivery of the curriculum; 

 
7 Failing to achieve the SFC activity target because of low students numbers or 

inadequate curriculum planning; and 
 

8 Failing to provide a safe and fit for purpose IT infrastructure. 
 

Risk Appetite and Tolerance 
 
The Board of Governors has set the appetite for risk as being open to taking 
measured risks in relation to our planning, widening access strategies and learning 
innovation with confidence in the decision-making delegated to the Senior Team. 
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The Board however remains more cautious in the approaches to legal risks which 
expose the college to claims and litigation and to those risks which could have a 
major financial impact. 
 
November 2018 Update 
 
 
Strategic Risk 1 Failure to develop a demand-led curriculum portfolio due 

to a lack of engagement with key stakeholders or lack of 
focus on government objectives 

 
 Risk maintained as high 
 
Operationally there is a process of curriculum planning and the process for 2019-20 
is underway.  However, a more strategic approach to curriculum planning is being 
taken forward which will be informed by feedback from employers, schools, the local 
authority and community planning partners.    
 
The number of full time course applications declined in 2018-19 which has resulted 
in a shortfall in credits.  A full analysis of the underpinning reasons for the shortfall in 
demand for places is being undertaken with a deep dive analysis of recruitment 
trends currently being prepared for Learning & Teaching Committee.   
 
In light of the work currently underway the risk is maintained as high. 
 
 
Strategic Risk 2 Not providing a high quality learning experience due to 

poor alignment of resources, and/or poor quality of 
teaching 

 
 Risk maintained as high 
 
Our Evaluative Report for 2017-18 was submitted to Education Scotland and the 
Scottish Funding Council on 31 October.  It shows that in terms of success and 
learner attainment for 2017-18: 
 
• FE Full Time success improved by 3.2% to 65.1% 
• HE Part Time success improved by 6% to 80.6% 
 
However HE Full Time success declined by 2.6% and FE Part Time declined 
marginally by 0.2%.  
 
Work to reverse this decline is being taken forward in 2018-19. For the first time, 
curriculum centres have been asked to provide targets for improvement.  This 
intelligence will allow us to scrutinise attainment at a much earlier stage and put in 
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place mitigating measures.  Classroom observations will continue and a report is to 
be produced at the end of 2018-19 assessing the impact that these are having on 
driving up attainment and student success.   
 
In light of the early stage in the year and not being able yet to assess the impact of 
measures put in place the risk is maintained as high. 
 
 
Strategic Risk 3 Not delivering on SDS apprenticeship contracts, Scottish 

Funding Council (SFC) educational contracts and 
commercial contracts due to inability to bid successfully, 
insufficient resources and ineffective performance 
monitoring 

 
 Risk reduced to medium 
 
The college was successful in securing a further three year training contract with the 
CHS, and the Commercial and Workforce Development teams are predicting that 
they will achieve their financial targets.   
 
Lessons have been learned in relation to administration of the Flexible Workforce 
Development Fund and the team is more confident that it will fully utilise the fund in 
2018-19. 
 
The risk has been reduced to medium to reflect an early confidence that this area will 
achieve its targets. 
 
 
Strategic Risk 4 Failing to attract, retain and develop appropriate staff with 

the skills required to meet the current and future needs 
due to insufficient workforce and succession planning 

    
Risk maintained as high 

 
The college continues to attract applications for posts advertised.  For the quarter 
ended 30 September 2018, the applicant to vacancy ratio for lecturing posts was 9:1 
(an increase from previous quarter which was 7:1) and for support posts was 16:1 (a 
slight decrease from the previous quarter which was 19:1). 
 
In response to feedback from the Staff Survey and the series of “Town Hall” 
meetings that took place during 2017-18 a Staff Experience Group was established 
at the start of 2018-19.  This Group will look at addressing concerns about work 
related stress and improving the staff experience.  The Group is chaired by the 
Senior HR Partner and made up of a cross section of staff.  
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In terms of industrial relations, the EIS has rejected the three year pay offer put 
forward and is to ballot for industrial action.  In light of the potential negative impact 
of industrial action this risk is maintained as high.   
 
 
Strategic Risk 5 Unable to invest fully in the estate due to reduced SFC 

capital funding and investment funds 
    

Risk maintained as high 
 
Whilst the college has been maintaining the fabric of the building to keep it wind and 
water tight, there has been no reconfiguration of the estate since the college opened 
in 2001 due to funding constraints.  This is now having a negative impact on the 
student experience. 
 
To understand what infrastructure changes are needed consultation took place with 
staff, the management team and student association.  Suggestions were gathered 
and prioritised.  Some smaller suggestions put forward can be implemented at 
minimum cost and these are being taken forward.  However, there are a number of 
bigger projects to reconfigure curriculum and support areas which will require SFC 
funding.  Of these larger-scale projects, the priority is a complete reconfiguration of 
the Street Building to improve the front facing facilities which are offered to students. 
 
The Principal and Vice Principal Finance and Curriculum Services have met with the 
SFC to make the case for funding to make the estate fit for purpose.   A business 
case is being worked on and will be submitted to SFC. 
 
However given that the college does not have any guarantee of being funded the risk 
is maintained as high. 
 
 
Strategic Risk 6 External funding pressures adversely impacting on future 

college sustainability and the delivery of the curriculum 
    

Risk increased to very high 
 
The college had a successful year in 2017-18 with a good financial outturn which 
allowed us to invest in two areas of the curriculum and refurbish the staff room.  All 
deadlines were met and the college was successful in bidding for additional student 
funds. 
 
2018-19 budgets have been agreed with managers and budget meetings held to go 
over key assumptions in the budget.  However, there will be additional areas of 
spend required in the estate and IT (to ensure the security of the network and to 
enhance the expertise required for the area) and the college is absorbing additional 
costs to make up the shortfall in credits.  Additionally, whilst a 2.5 year pay deal was 
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agreed with support staff, there has still not been any pay award agreed with 
lecturing staff from 2017 onwards.   
 
SFC requested colleges to produce 5-year financial forecasts based on static growth 
in credits and a 2.9% decrease in year 5 when there will be a move back to a volume 
x price methodology.  Applying this model, the college would be in a deficit position 
from 2021.  Scenario planning is currently underway to ensure that the college 
maintains financial sustainability.  
 
Given the pressures on the 2018-19 budget, financial uncertainties around the EIS 
pay settlement and the move away from being directly funded for pay harmonisation 
and job evaluation the risk is increased to very high. 
 
 
Strategic Risk 7 Failing to achieve the SFC activity target because of low 

students numbers or inadequate curriculum planning 
    

Risk maintained as high 
 
In 2017-18 the college delivered 45,326 credits against a target of 43,988, over 
target by 1,338 credits and over target for the fourth consecutive year. 
 
This year recruitment has been good in most areas but not all and a shortfall in 
credits is predicted.  A plan has been put in place to address this shortfall which 
includes running a number of additional January start programmes.  An analysis of 
the reasons for the shortfall in credits and the actions being taken is being prepared 
for the Learning & Teaching Committee.   
 
The launch of the new website has taken place and this will make it easier for 
potential students to find out information about courses and to apply to the college. 
 
Additional measures have been put in place to improve early and further withdrawals 
with early intervention by Learning Support and proactive following up of absences.   
 
In light of the potential shortfall the risk is maintained as high. 
 
 
Strategic Risk 8 Failing to provide a safe and fit for purpose IT 

infrastructure 
    

Risk increased to very high 
 
Edinburgh Napier University has concluded its review of the IT service and the 
review has identified weaknesses in particular around the security of the network 
which need to be addressed.  Following a meeting with the SFC we are hoping that 
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the cost of doing the work will be partly funded by the college with the remainder 
being subject of a bid to SFC. 
 
The college is also exploring how Edinburgh Napier could work collaboratively with 
the college to provide expertise not available within the IT team.  Pending a decision 
as to the future structure of the IT service an additional resource has been added to 
the IT team. 
 
Given the recommendations in the Edinburgh Napier report and funding from SFC 
not a certainty this risk is increased to very high. 
 
Action 
 
The Committee is invited to discuss the Strategic Risk update and to consider the 
appropriateness of current mitigating actions being taken to reduce or manage risks. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Jennifer McLaren 
Vice Principal, Finance & Curriculum Services 
29 November 2018 
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The 2018-19 Strategic Risk Register is set in the context of our 2018-21 Regional Outcome Agreement. In summary, the strategic 
risks for 2018-19 are: 

1 There is a risk that the college fails to develop a demand-led curriculum portfolio, due to a lack of engagement with key 
stakeholders or lack of focus on government objectives, resulting in not meeting the needs of the people, communities 
and economy of West Lothian 
 

2 There is a risk that the college does not provide a high quality learning experience due to poor alignment of resources, 
and/or poor quality of teaching, resulting in reduced retention, attainment and progression for students 
 

3 There is a risk that the college does not deliver on its SDS apprenticeship contracts, SFC educational contracts and 
commercial contracts due to inability to bid successfully, insufficient resources and ineffective performance monitoring, 
resulting in a loss of income and learning opportunities 
 

4 There is a risk that, due to insufficient workforce and succession planning, the college fails to attract, retain and develop 
appropriate staff with the skills required to meet the current and future needs resulting in a poorer experience for 
students 
 

5 There is a risk that the college is unable to invest fully in its estate due to reduced SFC capital funding and investment 
funds, resulting in the failure to provide a high quality estate and a negative impact on the learning experience 
 

6 There is a risk that external funding pressures adversely impact on future college sustainability and the delivery of the curriculum 
 

7 There is a risk that the college fails to achieve its SFC activity target because of low students numbers or inadequate 
curriculum planning, which could result in claw back of funding and reputational damage 
 

8 There is a risk that the college fails to provide a safe and fit for purpose IT infrastructure which negatively impacts on the 
student experience and staff productivity 
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RISK ASSESSMENT AND EVALUATION  
 
Risk Classification Matrix 
 

Impact    Likelihood   
1 Insignificant Less than £50k  1 Very unlikely Less than 10% chance 
2 Minor £50-100k  2 Unlikely 10-40% chance 
3 Significant £100-300k  3 Fairly likely 40-65% chance 
4 Major £300-500k  4 Likely 65-90% chance 
5 Catastrophic More than £500k  5 Very likely More than 90% chance 

 
Evaluation of Risk 
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STRATEGIC RISK 1  
Outcome Agreement theme: Accessible and diverse learning | Well prepared and skilled students 
Lead Board Committee: Learning and Teaching     Lead College Committee: Curriculum 
Risk Owner: Vice Principal for Curriculum and Planning    Lead Manager: Not applicable 

Risk  L I Risk 
Rating 

Risk Mitigation  Update November 
2018 

L I Risk 
Rating 

There is a risk that the college fails to 
develop a demand-led curriculum 
portfolio due to a lack of engagement 
with key stakeholders or lack of focus 
on government objectives, resulting in 
not meeting the needs of the people, 
communities and economy of West 
Lothian.  
 
 
 
 
 

3 4 12 
 
 
 

Annual curriculum review 
process takes account of labour 
market demand, Edinburgh and 
South East Scotland City 
Region Deal skills planning, and 
course performance  
 
Annual school/college delivery 
plan incorporates DYW senior 
phase vocational pathway 
ambitions, including Foundation 
Apprenticeships and focus on 
STEM 
 
Workforce development plan 
and commercial strategy based 
on employer need, demand for 
up-skilling and re-skilling 
 
Curriculum plan informed by 
regional labour market 
information, regional partners 
and SFC priorities 
 

Shortfall in applications for 
2018/19 indicates that the 
portfolio insufficiently 
reflects demand.  
 
Applications for 2018/19 are 
being analysed.  
 
 
Portfolio review on going 
(informed by LMI) and 
programmes adapted to 
demand in response to 
applications 
 
Data being processed 
however 2018/19 
recruitment broadly in line 
with ROA, planned in 
keeping with national 
priorities. 
 
80 FAs recruited (target 
120). Improved 
collaboration with local 
authority on recruitment.  
Good planning in place with 

3 4 12 
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DYW and College well 
represented on  planning 
groups and CPP 
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STRATEGIC RISK 2 
Outcome Agreement theme: Outstanding system of learning 
Lead Board Committee: Learning and Teaching     Lead College Committee: Quality and Compliance 
Risk Owner: Vice Principal for Curriculum and Planning    Lead Manager: Head of Quality and Learner Services 

Risk  L I Risk 
Rating 

Risk Mitigation Update November 2018 L I Risk 
Rating 

There is a risk that the college 
does not provide a high quality 
learning experience due to poor 
alignment of resources and/or 
poor quality of teaching, resulting 
in reduced retention, attainment 
and progression opportunities for 
students 
 

3 4 12 
 
 

Self-evaluation drives quality 
improvement 
 
Regional Outcome Agreement 
outlines how the college will support 
the recommendations in the 15-24 
Learner Journey Review 
 
Focus on raising attainment 
 
Develop progression and articulation 
routes into further study at college or 
university, apprenticeships and 
employment 
 
Ensure that students have 
opportunities to gain experience of 
the workplace 
 
CPD focuses on high quality 
teaching practice 
 

Self-evaluation work and EREP 
in place.   
 
Targets set for PI improvement 
 
Education Scotland supported 
self-evaluation 
 
Timetables reviewed to focus on 
attainment and reduction in 
partial success 
 
Progression/advanced standing 
in place across HE provision. 
 
Learners have access to 
realistic workplace experience 
on almost all courses 
 
CPD in place for all teaching 
staff.  Classroom observations 
being planned based on 
2017/18 experience. 
 
Revised pattern of course team 
meeting in place to monitor 
quality and ensure student 

3 4 12 
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feedback is addressed.  
Student Association actively 
involved in quality processes 
 
External verification being 
planned with SQA   
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STRATEGIC RISK 3  
Outcome Agreement theme: Well prepared and skilled students 
Lead Board Committee: Learning and Teaching     Lead College Committee: Curriculum 
Risk Owner: Vice Principal for Curriculum and Enterprise    Risk Manager: Head of Commercial and International 

Risk  L I Risk 
Rating 

Risk Mitigation Update November 2018 L I Risk 
Rating 

There is a risk that the college 
does not deliver on its SDS 
apprenticeship contracts, SFC 
educational contracts and 
commercial contracts due to 
inability to bid successfully, 
insufficient resources and 
ineffective performance 
monitoring, resulting in a loss of 
income and learning opportunities 
 
 
 
 
 

4 3 12 
 
 

Commercial strategy and annual 
income targets report to F&GP 
Committee 
 
Successful delivery of the Flexible 
Workforce Development Fund 
(FWDF) 
 
Specialist high-performing 
Children’s Hearings Scotland 
(CHS) delivery team  
 
Workforce Development growth 
plan developed. 
 
Contract management and delivery 
team in place for modern and 
foundation apprenticeships 
 
 

Draft Corporate Engagement 
and Commercial Strategy will be 
tabled at the F&GP Committee 
on Nov 22nd 
 
Commercial is on target to meet 
financial targets but credits are 
below target for Commercial 
Planning is underway to make 
this up with additional and new 
courses from January 2019. 
 
The College was successful in 
securing a further three year 
training contract with CHS. The 
new contract introduces a suite 
of new external monitoring and 
performance measures.  This 
will ensure early identification of 
resource of performance issues 
 
FWDF 18/19 has been launched 
and applications are being 
processed – aim to have all 
applications approved by the 
end of 2018. 
 

3 3 9 
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SFC credits are on target for 
Workforce Development and are 
confident that the SDS spend is 
achievable and on target. 
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STRATEGIC RISK 4  
Outcome Agreement theme: High-performing, sustainable institution 
Lead Board Committee: Finance and General Purposes    Lead College Committee: Corporate Engagement 
Risk Owner: Vice Principal for Finance and Curriculum Resources   Risk Manager: Senior HR Business Partner 

Risk  L I Risk 
Rating 

Risk Mitigation Update November 2018 L I Risk 
Rating 

There is a risk that, due to 
insufficient workforce and 
succession planning, the college 
fails to attract, retain and develop 
appropriate staff with the skills 
required to meet current and 
future needs resulting in a poorer 
experience for students  
 
 

3 4 12 
 
 

The People Strategy was published 
in June 
 
Proactive induction of new staff  
 
Effective absence management  
 
Complete learning and 
development plans for all staff, and 
a Workforce Plan and skills matrix 
for future workforce planning 
 
Establish staff forum to address 
concerns raised in the  
staff satisfaction survey and 
suggestions from the town hall 
meetings 
 

Staff Experience Group 
established- first meeting held 
October. 
 
Training planned for November 
in regards to “Managing Stress, 
Promoting Wellbeing” 
 
Senior HR Business Partner 
taken part in WLC procurement 
exercise for new HR system.  
Once implemented the Learning 
& Development Module will be 
utilised 
 
Current Policy pro-actively 
followed.  New Policy being 
drafted to allow more and earlier 
intervention in relation to staff 
absence.  Bank of staff 
established to mitigate against 
staff absence. 
 
Latest pay offer has been 
rejected by EIS and ballot for 
industrial action is likely 

3 4 12 
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STRATEGIC RISK 5  
Outcome Agreement theme: High-performing, sustainable institution 
Lead Board Committee: Finance and General Purposes Lead College Committee: Infrastructure  
Risk Owner: Vice Principal for Finance and Curriculum Resources Risk Manager: Facilities Manager 

Risk  L I Risk 
Rating 

Risk Mitigation Update November 2018 L I Risk 
Rating 

There is a risk that the college is 
unable to invest fully in its estate 
due to reduced SFC capital 
funding and investment funds, 
resulting in the failure to provide a 
high quality estate and a negative 
impact on the learning experience 
 
 
 
 
 

4 3 12 
 
 
 
 

Develop an Infrastructure Strategy 
focused on the needs of our future 
curriculum portfolio 
 
Ten year estates lifecycle 
maintenance plan and annual 
investment in estate from income 
generation contribution and SFC 
funding 
 
Carbon Reduction Plan monitored 
through Infrastructure Committee 
 
Business continuity plans and 
annual tests 
 

Infrastructure Strategy drafted.   
 
Meetings took place with 
Curriculum & Support Managers 
to gather intelligence about 
infrastructure needs    
 
Intelligence also gathered from 
Principal drop-in sessions 
 
Bid for funding to be submitted 
to SFC to address priority areas   
 
College not sufficiently funded in 
2018-19  with a 46% decrease 
in grant therefore not able to 
make adequate investment   
 
Staff representative recruited to 
the Infrastructure Committee to 
work with Curriculum/Support 
areas on carbon 
reduction/sustainability 
initiatives 
 

4 3 12 
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STRATEGIC RISK 6  
Outcome Agreement theme: High-performing, sustainable institution 
Lead Board Committee: Finance and General Purposes    Lead College Committee: 
Risk Owner: Vice Principal for Finance and Curriculum Resources   Risk Manager: Finance Manager 

Risk  L I Risk 
Rating 

Risk Mitigation Update November 2018 L I Risk 
Rating 

There is a risk that external 
funding pressures adversely 
impact on future college 
sustainability and the delivery of 
the curriculum 
 
 
 

4 4 16 
 
 
 
 

Annual budget process, monthly 
management accounts and quarterly 
resource returns 
 
Internal audit programme  
 
Prompt income collection and 
accurate cash flow forecasts 
 
Proactive engagement with the 
Employers’ Association (EA) in 
agreeing and implementing actions 
through national bargaining 
 
Monitoring of college funds and 
participation in in-year distribution of 
sector funds 
 
ESF evidence collated and retained 
 

Guidance from SFC is that 
colleges will move from being 
fully funded for pay 
harmonisation/job evaluation 
costs to price*volume based 
model in 2022-23. Full impact 
not yet known 
 
5-year financial projections 
indicate that the College will 
require growth in credits to 
remain on a sustainable 
trajectory from 2020-21 
 
College has been awarded the 
3-year contract for delivery of 
training to Children’s Panel 
members 
 
Shortfall in HEFT Target may 
have impact on fees target for 
2018-19.  Mitigating actions 
being planned. 
 
Budget meetings held with all 
managers for 2018-19 
 

5 4 20 
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In-year meetings arranged for 
January 2019 
 
EIS pay increase has not been 
settled for 2017-18 and 2018-
19. Current offer rejected.  
Support Staff have accepted a 
2.5 year pay deal. 
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STRATEGIC RISK 7  
Outcome Agreement theme: Accessible and diverse learning | Well prepared and skilled students 
Lead Board Committee: Learning and Teaching Committee    Lead College Committee: Curriculum 
Risk Owner: Vice Principal for Curriculum and Planning    Risk Manager: Not applicable 

Risk  L I Risk 
Rating 

Risk Mitigation Update November 2018 L I Risk 
Rating 

There is a risk that the college 
fails to achieve its SFC activity 
target due to low students 
numbers or inadequate 
curriculum planning, which could 
result in claw back of funding and 
reputational damage 
 
 
 
 
 

3 4 12 
 
 
 
 

Proactive marketing campaigns and 
events 
 
Curriculum portfolio is relevant to the 
region’s economy, responds to 
demand and is attractive to students 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Effective learning and teaching, 
retention strategies and student 
support to minimise early withdrawal 
 
 

System showing shortfall of 
1046 credits (based on 
assumption of withdrawal level 
of 2017/18.  
Additional activity is being 
planned to address shortfall. 
This will include additional 
courses and additional activity 
with existing students.   
 
Curriculum adapted to meet 
demand/applications 
 
Rebranding work being 
undertaken and website under 
redesign 
 
 
Learning support and guidance 
staff actively involved in 
engaging students at NC level 
 
Attendance monitoring system 
reporting absences to Centre 
Heads re at risk courses  to 

3 4 12 
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ensure absences are followed 
up on promptly. 
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STRATEGIC RISK 8  
Outcome Agreement theme: High-performing, sustainable institution 
Lead Board Committee: Finance and General Purposes Lead College Committee: Infrastructure  
Risk Owner: Vice Principal for Finance and Curriculum Resources Risk Manager: Facilities Manager 

Risk  L I Risk 
Rating 

Risk Mitigation Update November 2018 L I Risk 
Rating 

There is a risk that the college 
fails to provide and safe and fit for 
purpose IT infrastructure which 
negatively impacts on the student 
experience and staff productivity 
 
 
 
 
 

4 4 16 
 
 
 
 

Develop a new model for digital 
services to meet existing and future 
needs  
 
Develop a Cyber Essentials Action 
Plan 
 
 
Annual investment in digital 
resources for students and staff  
 
Shared services agreement covering 
servers and security 
 
Third party support contracts in 
place 
 

Review of IT by Napier 
University concluded.  
Significant weaknesses in 
security and current IT service 
identified 
 
Edinburgh Napier currently 
costing models for digital 
services to be agreed and 
implemented during 2018-19 
 
Bid to SFC for funding to be 
made to address 
recommendations in the Napier 
report and for an upgrade of IT 
estate 
 
Temporary additional technician 
post agreed to address issues 
within classrooms 
 
 
 

5 4 20 
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Health and Safety Data Analysis Report July-September 2018 

 
Accidents, Incidents and Near Misses.   
 
Introduction 
 
The monitoring, recording and reporting of accidents, incidents and near misses are a 
legal requirement which the College actively promotes across the campus.    As well as 
meeting our legal obligation it allows us to identify where and how risks arise, as each 
report is fully investigated by the College Health and Safety Officer.  Appendix 1 shows 
details of all investigations for this timeframe.   
 
During this reporting period there have been thirty HSF1 forms completed relating to 
accidents/incidents and near misses.   Certain work-related injuries, cases of disease 
and near misses must be reported to the Health and Safety Executive (HSE), there 
were no reportable cases recorded.   
 
In the same period in 2017 there were thirty two HSF1 completed by first aiders.   The 
information gathered allows us to categorise and consider any possible trends.   The 
following graphs detail the type of accidents recorded to date for 2018 compared to 
previous five years.   Pre-existing conditions as well as accidents such as burns and 
cuts form the main issues first aid staff are dealing with.   Pre-existing conditions have 
spiked to an all-time high this period.   As this is something out with our control we offer 
first aid treatment until the person can seek further medical help if required.   In 
previous reports we have acknowledged that accidents with ‘trade tools’ can happen 
until students gain confidence in handling items such as saws in joiner or knives in 
hospitality.   

 
 

 
Breakdown by type of accident 2018 
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Trend analysis 2013-2018 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
Health and Safety Management  

 
The College has the following arrangements in place to control health and safety risks 
in order to meet the legal requirements and show commitment to all stakeholders: 
  
Health, Safety and Environment Committee  
Last HS&E Committee meeting was held on 12 September 2018 
Minutes from meeting have been posted on   
iShare 

Yes 

Action points against H&S Officer currently 
outstanding 

None 

Next meeting scheduled for 6 December 2018 
Employer’s Liability Insurance  
Zurich Employers Liability Insurance   Expires on August 2021 
Interventions  
HSE Inspections in the last 12 months 0 
Improvement Notices issued in last 12 months 0 
Prohibition Notices issued in last 12 months 0 
Improvements issued by Fire Service in last 12 
months 

0 

Risk assessments All available on ishare 
Number of risk assessments due for review 0 all risk assessments will now be 

stored on ishare and will be 
reviewed as part of the H&S Audit.   

Number of risk assessments to be rewritten  0 
Number of generic risk assessments due for 
review 

All reviewed summer 2018 
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Fire Risk Assessment  
Fire Risk Assessment in place Yes 
Review Date September 2019 
Health and Safety Policy  
Policy Statement approved by Jackie Galbraith 
Next Review date May 2019 
Responsibilities currently unassigned 0 
Health and safety Procedures Review Date  
Accident / Incident reporting June 2021 
Lone Working May 2021 
Inspection and Auditing July 2021 
Emergency Evacuation  July 2021 
Work Placement August 2019 
Excursions  June 2021 
COSHH  April 2021 
First Aid  June 2021 
Lock out / Tag out June 2021 
Noise at Work June 2021 
Fire Safety Actions  
Outstanding actions related to fire inspection 0 
Overdue actions related to fire inspection 0 
Last emergency evacuation drill (daytime) September 2018 
Last emergency evacuation drill (evening) September 2018 
Next emergency evacuation drill (daytime) February 2019 
Next emergency evacuation drill (evening) February 2019 

 

Scheduled events and Training 

Six Health and Safety Committee meetings were scheduled on an annual basis and all 
took place.   Six emergency evacuation drills have taken place in the last twelve 
months.   Three were scheduled to take place during office hours and three in the 
evening during the academic year.   During this period day and evening evacuations 
have taken place, a few issues were highlighted as needing to be addressed.   
 
A planned Health and Safety Audit was carried out in Hospitality section of Terrace 3, 
as was a Health and Safety walk round in Terrace 1.   Following these events a detailed 
action plan was issued to the Centre Heads and the Facilities Manager.   Full details of 
the actions highlighted can be seen in Appendix 2.   The department risk assessments 
were also reviewed for both these areas as a part of this process.   
 
The Head of Quality and Learner Services has scheduled meetings with all Centre 
Heads and Support Managers to discuss the training needs of the individual teams.   To 
date Lone Working is the one Health and Safety related request which has been 
highlight by three teams.   The College has Lone Working training packages on Moodle 
which these staff can access and tool box talks will also be delivered to these teams.   
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Changes to Legislation/Guidance 
 
There have been no significant changes to health and safety-related legislation in the 
UK in the reporting period.    
 
 
Consultations 
  
There are currently no health and safety-related public consultations which relate to the 
work of the College.   
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Appendix 1 – Health and Safety Officers Investigation Findings 
 
 

No. Date Accident/Incident/ 
near miss 

HSF1 Detail Investigation 

1 22-Aug accident Visitor was walking into the 
campus and tripped over a raised 
drain in the square.  She grazed 
her nose that was bleeding and 
swollen. First aider attended and 
applied an ice pack. 

Facilities have reviewed 
the surface levels on the 
square and some of the 
slabs had dropped.  A 
contractor has been 
instructed to repair 
areas. Now completed 

2 28-Aug first aid Student who has a pre-existing 
condition took an epileptic fit, 
which lasted 15 minutes.  First 
aider attended along with 
lecturer and an ambulance was 
called, student was taken to 
hospital. 

Student has attended 
college on another 
course, a care plan was 
in place but was to be 
reviewed by new 
department on his first 
week,  took ill before 
that was carried out.  
Staff were familiar with 
students case.  Care 
plan and risk 
assessment now 
updated and in place.   

3 28-Aug accident Student was using a chisel in 
joinery when it slipped and cut 
hand.  First aider attended and 
cleaned wound and applied a 
plaster. 

Student was using the 
chisel on a piece of 
wood and it slipped, 
they had been trained 
on how to use correctly. 

4 29-Aug first aid Member of staff was using a 
peeler in canteen and cut finger.  
First aider attended and applied 
finger dressing. 

The staff member 
realise the blade was 
attached the wrong way 
and tried to change 
position cutting her 
finger in the process. 

5 29-Aug first aid Student complaining of chest 
pain, first aider attended and 
student informed he had   
previously been to doctors and 
A+E and told he suffers panic 
attacks.  First aider advised to go 
back to A + E. 

No further action 
required. 

6 03-Sep first aid Student experienced a seizure in 
class, first aider was called and 
when attended student was 
already in recovery position.  
Started to respond but then had 
another seizure. An ambulance 
was called and she was taken to 
hospital. 

Student does not have a 
care plan as not aware 
of any health condition. 
See points 9 and 17. 
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7 04-Sep first aid Student was struggling to breath 
due to having asthma. First aider 
was called and was asked to take 
inhaler but did not have it with 
them.  Parent brought to college 
and once taken felt better. 

No further action 
required. 

8 04-Sep first aid Student was having chest pains, a 
first aider attended.  Parent was 
called to collect and taken to get 
checked at A&E. 

No further action 
required. 

9 04-Sep first aid Student collapsed with pains in 
stomach.  First aider attended 
and they called for an ambulance 
and was taken to hospital.  The 
student had been taken to 
hospital the previous day for 
same symptoms. 

Same student no 6. 

10 05-Sep first aid Student has a condition in both 
knees.  She was walking across 
the campus and her knee 
dislocated. Student sitting when 
first aider arrived, first aider went 
to collect wheelchair and when 
returned knee had returned to its 
normal position. 

No further action 
required. 

11 05-Sep first aid Student came to reception to ask 
for a first aider.  He was 
complaining of chest pains, sat in 
the library with first aider, no first 
aid required.  Went home with a 
friend, he was advised to go to 
doctors. 

No further action 
required. 

12 06-Sep first aid Lecturer called first aider as 
student was becoming 
increasingly unwell throughout 
the morning.  The student was 
Type 1 diabetic. First aider took 
student to first aid room and gave 
him sweet bar as thought he was 
taking a hypo. 

Student was a 
vulnerable adult and 
was awaiting call about 
accommodation that 
evening so asked to stay 
in first aid room, First 
aider though he was 
feeling better so 
checked on him every 
30 mins then sent him 
over to student support 
for monetary help and 
advice. 
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13 06-Sep first aid Student left the first aid room to 
make way to the street building 
but was found by another 
member of staff in square, 
another first aider was called.  
First aider got him to test his 
levels where they were extremely 
high, student had not taken any 
insulin, was taken back to the 
first aid room where an 
ambulance was called and he was 
taken to hospital. 

Student is now under 
student support and 
external bodies.  The 
case was discussed at  
first aid meeting, if 
presented with a 
diabetic get them to 
test levels   hypo and 
hyper have similar 
symptoms. 

14* 07-Sep first aid Student reported to reception 
they had a pain in calf muscle.  A 
first aider was called and advised 
rest, pain relief and to visit GP 

 
 

 
 

 
15 07-Sep accident Student was working with a 

fellow student to fix a conduit 
box to the ceiling when is slipped 
from his hand and hit student on 
the nose.  No first aid was 
required student received a 
minor graze. 

No further action 
required. 

16 12-Sep first aid Student had self-harmed and 
came into college.  Cuts irritated 
by clothes, First aider called, 
cleaned, and dressed wounds. 

Student referred to 
student support to 
discuss mental health 
issues. 

17 13-Sep accident Student scalded hand with hot 
water from drink; first aider 
attended and ran hand under 
cold water.   

Same student as no 6 
and 9.  Referred to 
student support.  

18 13-Sep accident Lecturer struck hand against table 
then started to feel dizzy.  First 
aider attended and dressed 
finger, which was bleeding. Sat 
down and made comfortable 
until able to travel home and 
arrange doctor’s appointment. 

No further action 
required. 

19 17-Sep first aid Student had not been well before 
college but felt worse once on 
campus.  Student is asthmatic 
and had forgotten her inhaler. 
First aider attended and called an 
ambulance as student felt dizzy,  
ambulance took student to 
hospital. 

No further action 
required. 
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20 20-Sep accident Student was out of college at an 
excite venue with class and 
lecturer.  She had been exercising 
and was standing when she fell 
forward onto the running track 
causing a bleeding nose and chin.  
The lecturer and xcite staff 
provided first aid and student 
was placed in the recovery 
position until ambulance arrived. 

Student had not eaten 
all day and had felt 
dizzy.  The lecturer 
accompanied the 
student to the hospital 
until a parent arrived.  
The student had broken 
their jaw in two places. 

21 20-Sep first aid Student who was diabetic was 
taking a hypo, the first aider was 
called, the student had taken 
medicine and sat until felt better 
to return to class. 

Informed Schools officer 
as student is 16 or 
under 

22 20-Sep first aid Student was found outside sitting 
on the ground by the first aider.  
Student was feeling dizzy as had 
not eaten anything, First aider 
gave her food and drink, she was 
also complaining of mild back 
pain.  Care assistant attended and 
aided student back to class. 

Student is in assisted 
programmes and had a 
care assistant assigned. 

23 21-Sep first aid The student has epilepsy and a 
comprehensive care plane is in 
place, all first aiders are aware of 
his condition.  The first aider 
attended and called for an 
ambulance.  The student came 
round but did not want to go to 
hospital.  Parent came to collect 
student and take home. 

No further action 
required. 

24 24-Sep first aid Student was having an asthma 
attack and was short of breath, 
first aider was called and student 
asked to take inhaler.  An 
ambulance was called and she 
was taken to hospital. 

The parent called the 
college and asked to 
inform all first aiders of 
her condition and what 
to do in future. 

25 24-Sep first aid Student was on a break and 
started to feel unwell, she went 
to reception to ask for a first 
aider, a first aider attended she 
then took a seizure which lasted a 
few minutes, student went home 
in a taxi once she felt better.   

Same student as 6/9/17 
Department are 
creating a care plan for 
this student. 

26 24-Sep first aid Student was on a break and 
walking when felt a pain in the 
back and sat down, first aider was 
called and student placed in a 
wheel chair and taken home in a 
taxi. 

Was not doing any 
activity  in class that 
would result in back 
pain. No further action 
required. 
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27 25-Sep accident Student was using a hacksaw 
when cut the top of her hand, a 
first aider was called, pressure 
and a dressing placed on hand. 
Student was able to continue 
with class. 

Student had been show 
how to use hand tools 
correctly and retold 
during class by 
technician.  The 
technician was asked to 
cover class, he had to 
leave room, and he 
asked another lecturer 
in workshop to keep an 
eye on class.  When he 
returned the student 
had cut hand.  Informed 
Schools officer as was 
16 or under. 

28 26-Sep sports injury Student was doing circuits and 
felt a pain in his knee. The first 
aider was called and the leg was 
already elevated.  An ice pack 
was applied and student felt well 
enough to continue with class 
that was course work and not 
physical. 

Informed Schools officer 
as student was 16 or 
under. 

29 27-Sep accident Student grabbed a hammer from 
another student and expected 
some resistance, and as a result 
hit her nose. Nose was bleeding 
and lecturer applied a plaster to 
the cut, was able to return to 
class. 

Students shown how to 
use tools correctly and 
advised about 
tomfoolery, informed 
schools officer of 
incident  as student was 
16 or under. 

30 27-Sep first aid Student had hurt arm/shoulder in 
the morning before coming to 
college; a first aider was called as 
she couldn’t move it.  Arm was 
placed in a sling and advised to go 
to A+E if didn’t  get any better 

No further action 
required. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

*Redacted under s.33 Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 
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Appendix 2   College Audit 

The following department has been audited and results and actions are noted below: 

Hospitality and Communities results of audit 
 

Topic Actions Detail 
Safe Place of work    actions • Update risk assessments store centrally  

• No record of Training   
Safe systems of work actions • Safe working procedures to be displayed 

• Disposal of gas canister 
Work Equipment action • Drip trays missing from extractors 

• Outstanding action from RA for fridge   
Accident reporting and 
investigation 

actions • Separate accident book being keep- all to be 
centrally with H&S officer only 

• First aid boxes have items out of date 
Health and Welfare 
COSHH 

actions • COSHH assessment overdue for review 
• Label flammable store 
• Chemicals stored not belonging to department 
• Dermatitis to be  included in COSHH from 

catering activities 
Information, instruction 
and training 

action • All training on equipment to be recorded 

PPE actions • Records of PPE issue to be kept 
 

Corrective Actions of Health and Safety Walk Around 

 

 

 

  

Issues identified 26

completed 20

Not completed 6

Outstanding  
Responsibility C&MV 6

Facilitties 0

T1 Construction and MV Additional information
Outstanding-  4 items have been ordered and awaiting 
fitting.  2 items work in progress to be completed by 
December.
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Audit Committee 
 
Key Performance Indicators 2017-18 
 
The attached tables show the College’s Key Financial and Non-Financial 
Performance Indicators for the period 2015-16 to 2017-18.   
 
Non-Financial KPIs 
 
The 2017-18 KPIs are the final figures which have been audited and 
submitted to the Scottish Funding Council.   The 2015-16 and 2016-17 KPIs 
have been updated to reflect SFC published figures for those two years. 
 
There has been improvement over three years in all four indicators. In FEFT 
courses, this was a result of reducing partial success by 1.8% and improving 
retention by 1.4%. In FEPT, withdrawals reduced from 8.9% to 7.4%. For 
HEPT students, partial success reduced from 16.1% to 8.2% over the year. 
Conversely, the contributory factors in declining successful outcomes for 
HEFT students were increases over the year in partial success and 
withdrawals. 
 
The college-wide focus on improving FEFT attainment over the year led to an 
increase of 3.2%. Based on 2016-17 sector figures, it is likely that the college 
will be close to or just above the sector average for FEFT.  
 
While there has been good improvement in HEFT over three years (up by 
3.8%) there was a decline over the year of -2.6%. It is likely, based on sector 
figures for each of the last six years that the college might be below the sector 
average for HEFT.   
 
Success for part time FE and HE students increased over the year, despite 
significant increases in the volume of students - from 2,657 to 2,900 FEPT 
enrolments; and from 781 to 1,212 HEPT enrolments. FEPT success 
improved by 7.1% over three years and HEPT success increased by 15.1% 
over three years.  
 
41% of all students were aged 16-24 and had an overall success rate of 70%, 
an increase of 3% on the previous year. Successful outcomes for full time FE 
students aged 16-19 rose from 54% to 72% over the year.  
 
In 2017-18, the college had a focus on improving the success of young male 
students. Successful outcomes for FEFT 16-19 year old male students 
increased by 9% over the year.  
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There were 62 declared care experienced students in 2017-18. Successful 
outcomes for this group of students were 80% for FEFT and 66% for HEFT 
(just 3 students were enrolled on HEFT courses). Given that the SFC National 
Ambition targets for care experienced students by 2018-19 are 66% success 
for FEFT and 71% success for HEFT, the college is making good progress on 
successful outcomes for this group of students.  
 
The college delivered 8.1% of credits to students living in SIMD10 areas, 
exceeding our target of 6%. Successful outcomes for these students were 
considerably higher than the college average for FEFT, FEPT and HEPT. 
Most SIMD10 students were enrolled on FTFE courses and 80% achieved 
success, significantly higher than the college average of 65.1%. Success on 
HEFT courses, which had the smallest number of enrolments from SIMD10 
students, was 66%. 
 
Financial KPIs 
 
The Financial KPIs reflect an improved financial outturn for the College 
resulting in an increased level of investment (£150k against a budgeted 
investment of £78k).  Explanations for variances from target are provided in 
the attached table.  In addition, and for benchmarking purposes, Financial 
KPIs have been obtained from Borders College, Dumfries & Galloway College 
and Forth Valley College. 
 
Action 
 
For information 
 
 
 
 
Jennifer McLaren 
Vice Principal, Finance & Curriculum Services 
29 November 2018 
 
 
 



West Lothian College -Key Financial Performance Indicators 2017-18

Target Actual Actual Actual Comments Actions

2017-18

For the year 
ended 31 July 

2018

For the year 
ended 31 July 

2017**

For the year 
ended 31 July 

2016

College Surplus (£'000) 61 16 453 41
Below target as a result of additional investment resulting from 
the improved trading surplus from Commercial activities and 
underspend on supplies budget.

None

Operating Surplus (£'000) (699) 1,712 647 (1,891) Above budget largely as a result of revised pension forecasts 
following the actuarial report for the 2017-18 .  None

Non SFC Income as % of total income 30% 29% 30% 31%
Slightly below as SFC Income has increased as a result of 
receiving additional childcare funds and the grant for the 
Carbon Efficiency Energy  Pathfinder Project (CEEP)

None

Trading Surplus on commercial activities as % of income from 
commercial activities*** 

27% 32% 35.0% 28.0% Actual exceeded budgeted budgeted trading surplus largely as 
a result of Flexible Workforce Development Fund None

Staff costs as % of total income (excludes exceptional costs) 67% 67% 65% 67% On target None

Ratio of Current Assets to Current Liabilities* 0.8 :1 0.7:1 0.8:1 0.5 :1 None

Days Cash to Total Expenditure* 17 15 35 14 None

Borders Forth Valley West Lothian
Dumfries & 
Galloway Borders Forth Valley West Lothian

Dumfries 
& 

Galloway

Non SFC Income as % of total income 27% 32% 30% 19% Non SFC Income as % of total income 26% 31% 31% 20%

Staff costs as % of total income (excludes exceptional costs) 70% 68% 65% 65% Staff costs as % of total income (excludes exceptional costs) 68% 70% 67% 64%

Ratio of Current Assets to Current Liabilities 1.23:1 0.76:1 0.7:1 0.73:1 Ratio of Current Assets to Current Liabilities 1.5:1 0.65:1 0.5:1 0.82:1

Days Cash to Total Expenditure 76 29 35 49 Days Cash to Total Expenditure 76 11 14 59

*as per Financial Strategy 2015-2018
**Total income excludes £1.9m release of Deferred Grant on revaluation and total expenditure excludes exceptional impairment loss of £1.9m
***Target as per Regional Plan & Outcome Agreement 

2015-162016-17



KPIs 2018-19 Final Position

Credits

SFC Target Actual % Target

2015-16 43,499 44,669 103%
2016-17 43,499 44,085 101%
2017-18 43,988 45,326 103%

Full-time FE 

Withdrawal Partial 
Success

Completed 
successfully

2015-16 26.40% 9.40% 64.10%
2016-17 26.40% 11.70% 61.90%
2017-18 25.00% 9.90% 65.10%

Full-time HE

Withdrawal Partial 
Success

Completed 
successfully

2015-16 16.60% 17.10% 66.30%
2016-17 16.20% 11.30% 72.50%
2017-18 17.30% 12.60% 70.10%

Part time FE

Withdrawal Partial 
Success

Completed 
successfully

2015-16 5.80% 23.60% 70.60%
2016-17 8.90% 13.40% 77.70%
2017-18 7.40% 15.10% 77.50%

Part time HE

Withdrawal Partial 
Success

Completed 
successfully

2015-16 6.60% 27.80% 65.50%
2016-17 9.30% 16.10% 74.60%
2017-18 11.20% 8.20% 80.60%
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Audit Committee 
 
Review of IT Service 
 
Introduction 
 
At the June 2018 meeting the Committee was informed that, in light of 
vulnerabilities within the IT service brought to light following the ransomware 
attack, Edinburgh Napier University had agreed to undertake a review of the 
service.  The Committee is reminded that the areas covered by the review 
are: 
 
• the current infrastructure and application service 
• third party service providers 
• key documentation including 

 
− Business Continuity and Disaster Recovery Plans 
− User and service policies 
− IT strategy 
− Service design documents 
− Service/Maintenance agreements 
− Partnership agreements 

 
The review has now been concluded and Edinburgh Napier presented the 
findings to the Senior Team in September 2018.  In total there are 40 
recommendations (attached to this paper).  These include 10 high priority 
recommendations relating to the security of the network.    
 
Edinburgh Napier proposed three options as to how the IT Service could be 
strengthened in order to implement the recommendations and support the 
College going forward.   One of the options being considered is working more 
collaboratively with the University.  Edinburgh Napier is costing these options 
for the College to consider the best way forward.   
 
In addition the University is also assisting the college by costing 
implementation of the recommendations which relate to the security of the 
network and improving the Wi-Fi connectivity.   This information will form the 
basis of a funding bid to the Scottish Funding Council (SFC). 
 
The Principal and Vice Principal Finance and Curriculum Services have also 
met with the SFC to highlight the IT issues facing the college and discuss how 
SFC could provide financial support.   Running alongside this the 2018-19 
budget is being reviewed to identify where we can divert resources to 
undertake the essential security work. 
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A further update will be provided at the March meeting of the Audit Committee 
 
On-Line Application Process 
 
The Committee will be aware that one consequence of the ransomware attack 
was that the on-line application system was unavailable from early December 
2017 until mid- January 2018.  This has had a detrimental impact on the 
number of applications received in 2018-19. 
 
In light of this a contingency plan is in place for 2019-20.  In the event that the 
college is unable to go-live in early December a paper copy of the application 
form has been produced so that prospective students can manually complete 
the form at drop-in sessions which will be well publicised and run at specific 
times of the day and week throughout any significant downtime period. 
 
Action 
 
The Committee is asked to note the position with regard to the Edinburgh 
Napier review and contingency planning arrangements for the on-line 
application process. 
 
 
 
 
Jennifer McLaren 
Vice Principal, Finance & Curriculum Services 
29 November 2018 
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1. Summary conclusions 
 
WLC’s infrastructure, applications, systems and services have grown organically over 
a lengthy period. In response to tightening budgets, the ever changing IT landscape 
and emerging threats. Pragmatic decisions have been made to adopt a hybrid 
approach to Infrastructure, described as on premise networking with some 
applications and external hosted data centre capacity. These services are 
underpinned by vendor maintenance and support contracts and hosting SLA’s with 
West Lothian Council. This hybrid approach is not uncommon and represents a cost 
effective route to service delivery with the potential to help support and protect WLC’s 
key digital assets and services. 
 
However, critical to these decisions are the careful selection of hosting partners to 
ensure compatibility of understanding of the key priorities and service effectiveness 
required by WLC. Further, support and maintenance relies on positive, holistic and 
proactive contract management to ensure vendors are sufficiently engaged in 
managing and securing the applications. However, it critical these services and 
contracts are controlled by someone with oversight sufficient to ensure gaps and 
vulnerabilities between vendors and service providers. Critically, WLC requires an IT 
and digital strategy designed to inform clearly the business need and how IT can 
realise business ambitions. And equally critical to success will be the policy 
framework, procedures, tools & testing that ensure success is realised. 
 
 
2. All recommendations and priority order 
 
 
No Recommendation Risk Priority Reason 
Infrastructure    
1 A more formal, managed approach to security patches 

and updates need to be introduced. At the moment 
server patching is performed on the 25th of the month 
however critical patches and hot-fixes need to be 
applied no longer than 14 days after release. 

 1 Security 

2 A more formal and managed approach for administration 
of administrator access and privileges For WLC staff, but 
council and any 3rd party support organisations who 
have access to systems, needs to be addressed too. 
These are particularly pertinent for achieving Cyber 
Essentials 

 1 Security 

3 DHCP is currently dynamic for all subnets. This should 
be changed to use reservations to limit the possibility of 
a rogue device being connected to the network gaining 
an IP address without much effort.  The downside is the 
maintenance of leases, this could be simplified using 
scripts depending on the technology in use for DHCP 
and DNS 

 2 Security 

4 Confirm with Provista if port switch port security features 
are in place such as: 
DHCP snooping  
IP source guard  

 1 Security 

5 Explore the use of 802.1x or equivalent on the switch 
ports to authenticate access to the network and 
implement role based access. 
 

 2 Security 
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6 Map (access points) and review current wifi coverage 
and current levels of access control and security for staff 
and implement a safe and secure guest network 

 2 Security 

7 Develop a student WiFi service and increase access 
points significantly to support on campus working 

 4 User 
experience 

8 Implement eduroam as a service which will benefit staff, 
students and academic visitors. 

 4 User 
experience 

9 URL filtering has already been purchased and licences 
installed on the newly installed Cisco ASA5516-X NG 
Firewall, this should be implemented instead of Bloxx. 

 1 Security 

10 Review the effectiveness and identify necessary policy 
updates 

 2 Security 

11 access control measures are put in place for all comms 
rooms to have an historic record of all access. 

 1 Security 

12 An up to date contract is currently unavailable to identify 
what the SLAs or support agreement are in place for 
proactive/reactive nature of service and support. It is 
therefore important to trace the original agreement 
assess its fitness for purpose and renegotiate where 
necessary 

 3 Efficiency & 
effectiveness 

13 With only 3 members of staff covering all areas of the 
services no time is available for continual improvement 
of network services or more importantly the operational 
running of security systems such as the IPS. The 
options are either to negotiate an improved support and 
maintenance contract or increase the staff compliment to 
ensure this critical service is proactively monitored, 
improved and remains secure. 

 3 Efficiency & 
effectiveness 

 
Desktop applications 

   

14 Develop and implement a ‘patch management solution’.  1 Security 
15 Develop and implement an image deployment method 

and introduce centralised control and remote 
management 

 3 Efficiency & 
effectiveness 

16 Develop and implement a form of mobile device 
management to assist with the security of these devices 
on the network. 

 2 Security 

17 Due to the risks associated with mobile devices it will be 
important to develop appropriate use policies and make 
full disk encryption is mandatory for these devices.    

 1 Security 

18 Design and implement a centralised management 
solution for Apple devices to mitigate the risks and 
automate many of the tasks associated with 
maintenance and security. Example:  A product like 
Casper is ideal for this. 

 2 Security 

19 It is critical for future efficiencies, user experience 
improvements and security that endpoint devices 
become part of a more formal refresh programme so 
that the specifications are keeping pace with the 
applications required to run on them. Failure to do this 
will mean performance from the devices will be 
degraded maybe even to the point where applications 
run very slow or not at all. 

 3 Efficiency & 
effectiveness 

20 A log and sign off should be kept for anyone granted 
administration rights and this should be checked 
periodically against Active Directory to ensure there are 
no rogues. The risk is that malware can be executed 
when someone has administration rights that can then 
spread through the entire network. 

 1 Security 
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21 Change control and configuration management should 
be implemented to record, monitor and evidence 
changes for both audit purposes and to review should 
issues or failures occur that may be related to recent 
upgrades or changes. 

 1 Security 

22 Develop a strategy for client services and device 
management that brings coherence and road map of 
investment to ensure services meet the needs of all 
customers and stakeholders and are designed with 
future proofing, maintenance & security at their core. 

 3 Efficiency & 
effectiveness 

 
Applications  

   

23 Develop a clear applications strategy and roadmap for 
current applications and services highlighting the roles 
and responsibilities in this cross boundary-operating 
model. Ensure support is purchased for any older 
systems and procured with new systems, confirm 
backups retentions, termination clauses and data 
retrieval back to base from all contracts 

 3 Organisational 
development 

24 Conduct a review of all software vendor contracts 
utilising Edinburgh Napier, Gartner, UCISA and WLC 
lawyers to ensure legislative compliance and fitness for 
purpose. 

 3 Organisational 
development 

25 Develop a project to deliver Moodle accounts 
automation – this could range from simple provisioning 
of accounts through to automated provisioning of 
accounts, courses and enrolments. 

 3 Efficiency & 
effectiveness 

26 Audit, test and log all disaster recovery (DR) processes  1 Security 
27 Update the current FIMS service to MIMS for integration 

of all account systems. 
 3 Efficiency & 

effectiveness 
28 Supply and support training to internal staff, so they can 

expand the account management lifecycle tools 
internally (FIMS/MIMS). Clean-up of accounts within the 
AD service and remove all accounts not required. 

 2 Organisational 
development 

29 Review and audit GDPR requirements for personal data 
within systems. 

 1 Compliance & 
Legislation 

30 Train staff and embed an ITIL type framework to 
manage any incident processes. 

 3 Organisational 
development 

31 Make use of a traffic/duty manager to farm out the calls 
over their BAU items so that they are responsible for 
managing the flow of work to staff within the team. 

 4 Efficiency & 
effectiveness 

32 Enhance the team with application development role/s to 
progress developments within the college. 

 4 Organisational 
development 

33 Allow time for staff to develop their skills with Training 
and other opportunities. Progress a skills audit for the 
current team members 

 4 Organisational 
development 

34 Validate any Policy's created and the process developed 
are tested with a record of the outcome. 

 2 Compliance & 
Legislation 

35 Develop a Project management methodology for use in 
the development of new and upgraded services. 

 4 Organisational 
development 

36 Create a new application strategy or at the very least an 
operational plan for longer and short-term developments 

 2 Organisational 
development 

37 Design, develop and implement a number of SLA’s for 
business and academic systems to ensure the service 
can be measured with effectively 

 4 Efficiency & 
effectiveness 

38 Develop ITIL change/INCD management and Log all 
calls with one support desk system. Developed the 
process for managing all IT projects within Formal 

 3 Organisational 
development 
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business case to ensure that agreement is made up 
front on, Cost, scope and accountability 

39 Check and confirm PCI-DSS requirements and ensure 
compliance with current legislation 

 1 Compliance & 
Legislation 

40 Expand the process documentation to cover all current 
system critical processes   

 3 Organisational 
development 

 
 

 
 
 
 

Dr David Telford 
Director of Information Services 
Edinburgh Napier University 
E: D.telford@napier.ac.uk 
T: 0131-455-42902 

mailto:D.telford@napier.ac.uk
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Development Plan 2019 

June 2018 – May 2019 

 

Membership 

No current issues 

 

Remit 

Annual review of remit – last reviewed June 2018, next review June 2019 

 

Visits to Parts of the Campus 

Campus visit and/or Partnership Centre (see development issue below) 

 

Opportunities for Strategic Discussion 

No current issues  

 

Development Issues Identified in Meetings 

Provide an opportunity for members to visit / have a meeting in a Partnership Centre 
(all Board)  

 

Self-Evaluation 

Annual self-evaluation of Committee – scheduled for March 2019 

 

Update 3: November 2018 
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